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Company Profile
NI LBy

We are a leading dental services group and have established a
nationwide footprint in China, operating both “Arrail Dental”, a
leading premium dental services brand, and “Rytime Dental”, a
middle-end dental services brand.

Our mission is to give each of our patients a healthy and confident
smile. Our vision is to become a world-leading dental group.

We have been providing dental services since we opened our
first Arrail Dental clinic in 1999. We offer a diverse range of
professional, personalized dental services spanning (i) general
dentistry; (ii) orthodontics; and (iii) implantology. Through decades
of commitment and endeavors in the dental healthcare industry,
we have earned the trust of our patients.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

ARRAIL fiiisi

TO GIVE EACH OF
OUR PATIENTS A HEALTHY
AND CONFIDENT SMILE

REBNBETRRE -  BEHMEK

Dear Shareholders,

Thank you for your attention and support in the development
of Arrail. | hereby take this opportunity to report to you the
information on our operations for the year ended March 31, 2023
and the outlook for the business development for the year ending
March 31, 2024.

PERFORMANCE REPORT

The 2022/2023 financial year is the Company’s first full financial
year after the Listing. During the financial year, although the
Company’s business experienced significant impact twice from
the COVID-19 pandemic, it still achieved satisfactory operating
results throughout the year. For the financial year, the Company
recorded a revenue of RMB1.47 billion, representing a slight
year-on-year decrease of 9.2%. The Company optimized its cost
and expense structure through operational measures, and finally
recorded an Adjusted Net Loss of RMB29.2 million.
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The Company firmly promoted the development strategy of
steady expansion during the financial year. We newly added 14
stores through construction and acquisitions in the year, with
a net addition of 228 dental chairs, increasing by 18.8% as
compared with last year. As of March 31, 2023, the Company has
established 9 dental hospitals and 114 dental clinics in 15 cities,
with annual patient visits amounting to 1.5 million.

OPERATIONS REVIEW
Steady expansion

During the pandemic, the Company continued to adhere to the
development strategy of steady expansion and achieved good
results.

During the financial year, the Company constructed four dental
clinics and a dental hospital, which are located in Beijing,
Guangzhou and Chongging respectively. Among which, the
“Samsung Tower” store in Beijing is the flagship store of the
“Arrail Plus (3mF%32)” brand and is the first store to promote the
membership model. The target consumer group is family-based
customers, which is an effective complement to the existing
business model.

In August 2022, we acquired Wuxi Tongshan Dental Hospital Co.,
Ltd. (E$HTEEOREERERAR) (‘Tongshan Dental’), a well-
known dental chain enterprise located in Wuxi, which comprises
one dental hospital and 9 dental clinics, thereby the Company
also officially entered the Wuxi dental market in Eastern parts of
China. After the acquisition, we have integrated and empowered
Tongshan Dental in terms of medical services, supply chain,
digital operations, branding, finance and other areas, thus
giving full play to economies of scale and improving operational
efficiency. During the financial year, Tongshan Dental contributed
a revenue of RMB47.7 million to the Group. As Wuxi is one of the
fastest growing cities in China, we believe that Tongshan Dental
will have a huge room for development in future.

Improving medical quality and ensuring medical safety

Adhering to the corporate mission of “giving each of our patients
a healthy and confident smile”, the Company is committed to
providing high-quality medical services and pleasant medical
experience. During the financial year, the Company continued
to implement a series of medical quality control measures such
as medical red line management, complex case consultation
and multidisciplinary specialist cooperation, specialized case
classification and dentist classification, so as to fully guarantee
medical quality and provide patients with professional medical
services.

R FARRRBREHHEERBSIEROEBER - K
FRBHBEMBEIILPE 145K - FIEFRIG228
iR FRUGERE K 18.8% ° # 1H202343 A31
B RNAGEISERTMHDTIORABEERMI14K
O AT - B2 EE1508 AKX °

LEmpEE
RIER

EREHE  ARREERFRIBRROBRE
B - BUS T REFHIRCR ©

AMERARBERTHRABELHAM—KAOREE
Bt - DRI RAE R - BIMNREBE =@ - £F
URIERN=ZEXNEZHRHBEE ] REEE
5 BHEEHER  BRHEHEEURERE
UNEF  ERURNBEEEANEUMR

202268 A - IR TAINEH R MNE O gt
WESEGMBSOEERERAR ([BEOE])
BREIRXOBRERMIKOABEDHR - AQAFHER
EATEREGIRMS - WHENE  RMAYBES
AR Ers - fiEsE  HF(LEE R UKS
ZRMET T EAE R BIBERIERE - BAE
BIRE o A FBEOREAANEETHMBIAARE
47.7TEHBL c EHEPELERERRAMT 2
— BAEEEEORRREEERNERERE -

RABREER REBEZ2

ARBRATEBUBESTKER  BENME]
WAEERD  BAORERESD R BERSEMNR T
BERER AUFARREEERZERRAKRE
B EBHEHNEDNEEMERAE - BREHS
MMBENRF-RIBRLEEEEREE - BOR
[BREEE  RBERUIXBERS -



During the financial year, on the basis of the medical red line,
the Company has added a more stringent “medical quality
factor” inspection system which comprises preoperative,
medical and postoperative procedures, and the scoring of
inspection results is included in the assessment content of
dentists. Fully leveraging the advantages of chain enterprise,
we adhere to the 100% consultation system for complex cases
and organize multidisciplinary and multiregional discussions
and consultations. According to the different seniority levels of
dentists and the complexity of cases, the Company classifies the
cases and dentists of various specialties, and assigns dentists
of corresponding levels according to the complexity of different
classes of cases, so as to ensure the medical quality and safety.

Leading the development of the industry

As a leading medical service organization in China, the Company
is committed to the promotion and application of innovative
technologies throughout the industry, and constantly improves
industry standards to lead the development of the industry.

We extensively use digital technology in various fields of dental
clinic, including laser scanning and digital orthodontics, digital
guide plate and navigation technology for oral implantology, etc.
We actively participate in industry exchanges and seminars,
carry out online and offline public welfare live broadcasts and
other activities, with a view to promoting and applying innovative
technologies throughout the dental industry.

At the aspect of daily operation, the Company has independently
developed its operation SaaS system, which can help dentists
and employees handle daily operations and administrative
affairs, such as arranging customer appointments, purchasing
materials, monitoring inventory levels, filling out medical records
and maintaining customer relations, in a more easy and swift
manner. We have also completed the construction and launch of
the electronic medical records system. By setting the standard
template of the electronic medical records, we can improve the
standardization level of diagnosis and treatment. As such, we can
not only conveniently carry out quality control, but also greatly
improve the efficiency of online remote consultation.

Chairman’s Statement
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Actively responding to the pandemic

The Company’s business in the financial year experienced
significant impact twice from the COVID-19 pandemic. In April
and May 2022, we temporarily closed all clinics in Shanghai due
to the pandemic. From November 2022 to January 2023, almost all
clinics and hospitals in Beijing were temporarily closed due to the
pandemic. Clinics and hospitals in other cities also experienced
temporary closure during the financial year due to sporadic
outbreaks.

During the period of pandemic restriction and control, in order
to meet the timely medical needs of patients, our medical and
customer service teams always maintained active communication
with customers, striving to accurately and timely identify the
medical needs of patients. To the extent practicable under
the condition, we have overcome difficulties and seized every
opportunity to provide patients with high-quality healthcare
services.

Following the weakening of the pandemic, our performance has
been in a trend of strong rebound. As the vitality and potential of
the dental services market will be fully released in future, we are
full of confidence in the prospects of our future development.

Practicing social responsibility

As a pioneer in the domestic dental healthcare industry, the
Company has always engaged in its own development and social
welfare simultaneously.

For decades, we have joined hands with China Oral Health
Foundation to actively organize charitable fundraising activities
by leveraging our industry status and social influence, and have
participated in public welfare projects as volunteers. Since
2011, the Company and China Oral Health Foundation have
jointly launched the “Programme of Oral Disease Prevention
and Treatment for Orphans and Disabled Children”. By the
end of 2022, the project has covered 52 cities in 23 provinces,
benefiting more than 40,000 people. In 2023, we have launched
the “Healthy Teeth Card for Children(52ZK KL F )" with public
welfare attributes. We promise that for every Healthy Teeth Card
sold, RMB10 will be donated to China Oral Health Foundation for
utilization in the “Daisy in the Mountain” public welfare project to
care for children’s oral health.
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The Company will continue to actively participate in public welfare
by using our professional technology and services to benefit more
people, and continuously rising public awareness of dental health
and let more people have a healthy and confident smile.

Enhancing Shareholders’ value

This financial year is the Company’s first full financial year after
the Listing. The Company has actively taken various measures to
enhance Shareholders’ value.

In September 2022, the Company issued an announcement in
relation to adoption of the 2022 RSU Scheme to repurchase
Shares. The Company would repurchase the Shares for the 2022
RSU Scheme. It is expected that the 2022 RSU Scheme can better
improve the retention rate of excellent dentists and operation
managers, so that the Company and the core team can maintain
longer-term cooperation, which is conducive to enhancing the
cohesion and competitiveness of the Company. In the same
month, the Company was enlisted in the Hang Seng Composite
Index and officially admitted into the Hong Kong Stock Connect.
In November 2022, the Company was included in the constituent
stocks of MSCI Mingsheng China Small Cap Index, thus acquiring
capital inflows from index funds. The Company’s liquidity will be
continuously improved due to the above two milestones. In March
2023, the Company’s management voluntarily undertook to extend
the lock-up period for the vested restricted Shares, demonstrating
the confidence of the Company’s management in the long-term
development of the Company.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK
Centralized procurement of dental implants

With the improvement of living standards and the intensifying
of the extent of aging population, patients in China gradually
became aware that “oral implantology” is one of the most effective
treatments for missing teeth. During the year, the domestic oral
implantology policy was fully implemented, and more patients
will be benefited by affordable prices. Meanwhile, the policy will
also promote the private healthcare development environment
in China to continuously improve in a standardized, healthy and
sustainable manner.
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In this regard, we have adopted a series of targeted measures.
First of all, we have actively responded to the government’s
centralized procurement policy and lower our prices to benefit
more patients. We have formulated customized and exclusive
treatment plans for patients, and promoted the application of
dental digitalization projects, so as to enhance the digitalization
level and patient experience and increase the number of
patients receiving implant treatment. Arrail Group currently has
approximately 300 dentists who can engage in dental implants,
thus fully covering the growing demand for dental implants. We
anticipated that the impact of lower prices on revenues can be
offset by the increasing number of dental implants. In addition,
before providing oral implantology treatment, the dentist will
have a comprehensive assessment of the patient’s dental health,
judging whether the patient is suitable for treatment and enabling
the patient to complete the basic treatment required in the early
stage, which will in turn further increase patient visits for basic
treatments of general dental and periodontal ailments, thereby
increasing the revenue level of complex treatments such as
periodontal treatment and restoration.

As a leading dental chain enterprise in China, we will pay close
attention and actively respond to relevant national policies and
constantly adjust our business strategies, with a view to achieving
performance growth.

Rapid development in good condition

The Company adheres to the principle of steady operation,
pursuant to which the Company promotes store expansion in
an orderly manner while continuously improving the operational
efficiency of existing stores. In the past year, despite the impact of
the pandemic, we still added 14 stores through construction and
acquisitions. In future, we plan to continuously increase market
share through original site expansion and continuous intra-city
encryption. Meanwhile, we will also actively explore new markets
to maintain our business expansion opportunities.
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At present, nearly 60% of the Company’s stores have been
operating for more than 6 years, and nearly 30% of the stores
have been operating for more than 3 years. According to our
estimation, under the current aging structure of stores, the capital
flow generated by old stores can support the development of
new stores, and the dentist resources, customer resources and
management experience of old stores can help driving the rapid
operation of new stores, thus effectively promoting the healthy and
rapid growth of the Company. At the same time, as the number
of the Company’s stores continues to increase, our management
costs will be continuously diminished, hence the operational
efficiency will be released to a greater extent.

Improving efficiency

The Company continues to pay attention to the improvement
of operational efficiency and fully capitalize on the advantage
of its brand and chain enterprise, so as to improve operational
efficiency while achieving large-scale growth.

At the group level, we have set up four working groups for
complex case management, customer acquisition, customer
complaint evaluation and medical management. After refining and
summarizing the best management practices in 123 stores across
the country, we promoted and applied the practices in our stores,
which will in turn improve the rates of initial visits, follow-up visits
and the turnover of complex cases, thus improving the operation
and management efficiency of our stores. We continue to improve
operational efficiency through informatization construction, and
use digital platforms to summarize the operational indicators of
various stores and dentists in real time. Such measures can assist
our operational analysis and support our operational decision-
making.

Strengthening personnel training

The Company has a rich reserve of dentists, of which 914 dentists
are practicing full-time. The team of dentists have on average 11.2
years of experience in the industry, and over 46.4% of the dentists
have master’s degrees or above.
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We have a complete assessment, appraisal and coaching
mechanism in the professional training of various specialties,
providing each dentist with sufficient choices in different
specialties, so that those dentists who have potential and ambition
in specialized clinical technology can be timely identified and
cultivated. Meanwhile, we will continue to build a high-quality
talent team, and actively introduce dental and management talents
in the industry through campus recruitment, website recruitment
and other recruitment channels to reserve and cultivate new
forces. We have achieved great success in the lately concluded
campus recruitment for the 2023 graduation season. Our core
calibers went to the recruitment sites of various colleges and
universities and recruited more than 40 dental graduates with
postgraduate degrees or above, thus introducing new forces for
the development of the Group. We also have a sound training
and coaching mechanism to ensure that these new forces will
contribute to our future business development.

Becoming a leader in the application of digital technology
in the field of dental care

After 24 years of practice and experience, we have established a
relatively effective management system, independently developed
an operation and management platform, accumulated a large
number of excellent clinical cases, developed thousands of online
training courseware, and established an online supply chain
system. We plan to facilitate the digital upgrade of the dental
industry by means of output management via an open platform.
We have launched a digital and intelligent dental platform with
peer companies. The platform can help entrepreneurial dentists
solve the pain points and difficulties in the whole life cycle of
dental clinics by one-stop solutions to achieve high-quality
development.

We will continuously promote the application of dental digital
technology in the field of clinical stomatology, and publicize and
promote the technology through online and offline methods to lead
the development of the industry.

BRESEHMNEXRERETEETENER - B
MEBESH > RE—BEETRER TR LRMH
EOREE  ERLEEMERRNTLEEEN - B
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RE2023FEEFHREBEBIEP G T BURKL -
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BTAOBREZABT AN TEFNOREERYE
£ AREBEMERIATHENMR - LA
HRTMBINFMAEHES  BRELTEDNERR
REBNERPMIME -

BAOEBRARMFLRMERNELE

ﬁﬂmi%f&ﬂﬁ%'ﬁﬁLiT@%ﬁ@m%
HERX BXHETELERETE  BRTAEN

BAEERAREN - FHET ETRAKRLBIRME - 22
TREHEERER - RAFIBEARTE B

EEMHA  BOOEBRITENEFEAR - &K
PMEEFAQRHELETABRSEELLEREFE  ZF¥A
EprEEL—uXmARAOBRZ A2 EaAHNE
HHY EEREENEE-

ﬁﬁ%?ﬁ$%mﬁ£DW@$ﬁ?M&%EDE
RABSAHMNER  BBRLE RTOTAEE
HEE - Sl RTTRER -



2022/23 Annual Report FE#R & N@/

Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

In the wake of the pandemic, China's economy has resumed ZIE#B%E  PELEBRETDDER  OBEET
its vitality and the dental industry has also ushered in new W IERFHNERE - BIFHOKI) EHFEEAQF
development. Our successful listing on the Stock Exchange not UiE—FAEANFTE ¥ HRMIRETESHE
only enables the Company to emerge on a larger platform, but K o F R RIKIAFE24FF « [BLE B - T8t
also imposes more stringent requirements for us. This year marks 1+ : BE+& - WETE ] B FHOEERS
the 24th anniversary of the Company's establishment. There is a  %Bif © —2—MWEEAPIERE - HiamHEEL
proverb that embraces the meaning of “There is no way to reach  IEFFEIE/KYF - S EMH & AIEE KHEE |

a thousand miles without accumulating the journey step by step”.

We will further explore the dental sector, expand the scale of

stores step by step, adapt to the market changes and improve our

management level, so as to create greater value for Shareholders

and society!
ZOU Qifang BWHF
Chairman e

Arrail Group Limited ImBREEARAR
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Financial and Business Highlights

MBEREBRE

Number of stores largely increased, EBITDA turned from
loss to profit, embrace a new chapter of development

FIEBERZEM  EBITDAHE AR  EERFRE

@ Stable finance and moderate Net Adjusted Loss 123 14 stores increased, including
despite COIVD-19 5 Scale of store 12 clinics and 2 hospitals
BRETINEYE  WEER CRRFERTLE FIERR s 145 - BE1252 55
2.—\-.
Total revenues were RMB1 ,473.7 million, RER
gross profit was RMB247.1 million and Adjusted 9 914 31 dentists were added
Net Loss was RMB29.2 million <> Dentists #2331 g e
B AARE14.746E T EARCHEIEESD BEiya
BARB24T I EEARARK29.2EET
. 1,534 thousand repeat visit rates of 48%, with
TN > Reveq;“)‘iig;;f;zégi"i"” 15.3.4. fﬁk)ﬂ 24% of our new patients were
;’;;eztv‘j's'ts referred by our existing patients
. A2 NN 5 N
£ . Gross profit RMB 247.1 million o BozEA8%  #H24%HE
ERNARB24715ET Em\ASRED|E
e (BN \ Adjusted Net Loss RMB 29.2 million
E‘*ﬁ_”_ " mEBEERARM028MR
% The efficiency has been improved significantly, and
EBITDA turned from loss to profit in first year.
MEERFAMRAEE - EBITDARFEIE
RMB68.9 million
ARM6,888E T
E ;gg:;s covered A ;glgg;;\ics ;yt% rrg B;ospitals
RMB-420 million Provinces uncovered Rytime Clinics — = Area of key Operations
L] sumes O zay v o IEgEEs

AR#-4.208 T

Our revenue was RMB1,473.7 million for the year ended March
31, 2023, representing a 9.2% decrease as compared to the
revenue of RMB1,623.6 million for the year ended March 31, 2022,
which was primarily because COVID-19 impacted our capacity to
provide services. For the year ended March 31, 2023, our gross
profit was RMB247.1 million, our Adjusted Operating Profit (as
defined below) was RMB3.8 million and our Adjusted Net Loss (as
defined below) was RMB29.2 million.

RMEE2023F3A31BEFENRAAARE
1,473. 7B & T BEZE2022FE3831BILEEX
IWAAR®1,623.6EB8BILEL9.2%  TERHR
COVID- 19 & B K MR M REHEE S - B1E 2023
FIANBILFE RPN EMNAARE247188
T BRPIMEHABEEFB(EERTX) BARE
SBEBLEAEARIBEE (FERETX) AARKE
29.2HETT °



Financial and Business Highlights

Underpinned by our industrial experience and sufficient cash
position, we continued to expand our footprint nationwide. During
the Reporting Period, we acquired “Tongshan Dental”, a well-
known dental group with one dental hospital and eight dental
clinics in Wuxi and nearby areas, within Jiangsu province. We
opened four dental clinics and one dental hospital and upgraded
four clinics.

In addition, there were two clinics with a total of 31 dental
chairs and one hospital with a total of 35 dental chairs under
construction as of March 31, 2023. As of March 31, 2023, total
dental chairs of our Group reached 1,442, increased by 18.8%
compared to March 31, 2022. We believe these movements will
further strengthen our leadership as a national chain in China’s
dental market.

Note: Adjusted operating profit refers to operating loss adjusted by
adding back share-based compensation expenses. Adjusted
loss for the year refers to loss for the year adjusted by adding
back share-based compensation expenses. Adjusted EBITDA
refers to EBITDA adjusted by adding back share-based
compensation expenses.

NEWLY OPENED CLINICS

MBEREBRE

BREBMNTERREITRNBRDNKF  RAIER
BIEE AT ETTRSE - MEHMA - HAKBET &
EO0R] HA—RANEORBESEE - T 1H4E N
WEST A RES I RABRBREISRKORBRD
P BAIFR TAROBEDARAK ARSI
MT AR ©

AN - B ZE 202338310 - AMKR 2 (HA31
RIRE) R —RER (X B35RFRF) EEE
Erh o HE2023F3HA31H  AEBEMTFRIFAE
B A1,4425 - BIEE2022F3A31 A EEIE R
18.8% » BRMEEELREBE T INERKMIER
PEEHREEPEOREEENISNBEN -

Hirat - 45 5 B A 2 ) B 4R 4
) A8

MBEARZRER

Beijing Arrail Plus
It EHEmE

Beijing Guanshe Clinic
EtREEDR

Beijing Ciyun Temple Clinic
ERBEFDH

Chongging Ruihua Clinic

o e e 2
Guangzhou Yuexiu Rytime Dental Hospital EERZEOEMNDE
BEMHEEHROEER
() newly opened ® 4 clinics and one hospital were newly opened with 89 dental chairs added
(L] srzmpas « ARDHIMMRBREAME - FHEORTRIE )

2022/23 Annual Report £E#H% @5/
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW
Overview

We are a leading dental services provider in the premium private
dental service market in China. Founded in 1999, we have served
approximately 9.4 million patient visits in the past ten years, and
have been instrumental in raising public awareness and driving
consumer recognition of the importance of dental care and good
oral hygiene in China. Our network of dental clinics and hospitals
provides a wide array of dental healthcare services across China.
We adopt a dual-brand strategy through our “Arrail Dental” and
“Rytime Dental” brands to serve customers of different economic
and geographic backgrounds. Through decades of commitment
and service in the dental healthcare industry, we have earned
the trust of our patients, and have successfully established an
extensive presence in China, as we are continuing to expand our
footprint nationwide. As of March 31, 2023, we had 123 stores,
including 114 dental clinics and nine dental hospitals in 15 cities
across China, with 914 experienced dentists. Our mission is to
give each of our patients a healthy and confident smile, and our
vision is to become a world-leading dental group.

We expanded our business by opening more clinics and hospitals
in Tier-1 and Tier-2 cities across China. During the Reporting
Period, we opened four dental clinics and one dental hospital with
89 dental chairs. We expanded and upgraded four clinics with
50 dental chairs. In addition, there were two clinics with a total of
31 dental chairs and one hospital with a total of 35 dental chairs
under construction as of March 31, 2023. We continue to hire
competent dentists and enhance our dental professional team.
The number of our dentists increased by 3.5% from 883 as of
March 31, 2022, to 914 as of March 31, 2023.

E 3301
B

BRPRPESmELE N REEEREMISNELOE
BREIRAGIRMHE - B1999F KA - EBAET5F
g RAEEESREN4EEALR  BERS
MEEFREAREEEY OEERMR T OB
ENEZUHNEHRS A EHEEEEER - &
MHWOR2 R ERNGETREREEZANORE
BERG - BMEB [ HEER R mEOE] REHE
I REERE  URBATRGSENZEESNE
F-BBHETFREOBREBRTENRAMBRS
BRABRETEENGET  BEARBRMEEEZES
ERAREMORE @ ZMEKRDEFRELEZ
¥R - B2 2023F3A31H » HFIETE151EH
TMHEA128KFE > BIE114ROBEZLARIOR O
Bt UMRIARERTE - BMHNEDREEN
BETREE  BEONE  MERMANESERA
HRBEMOEEERGEE -

BPBBEZE——GETHIE L2 AT RER K
HEE - RBEHA - BMFHAZTERORBEZ
FTRARER » 8T 89RFRE + AL T
RZFT - W RE0RFBHE o Ibh - EE 202363 A
318 - HEBSIRTREHOMRZ T REESE 35
KRB —REREAEEERP -  RMEBEREE
EABRMITEVRABRMOOEEEZEBN - &
P T2 HEE 202243 431 8 #8834 N
3.5%ZEHE202343 A31HMI145 »



Management Discussion and Analysis

Our Services

Our clinics and hospitals offer a diverse range of professional and
customized dental services, consisting of (i) general dentistry; (ii)
orthodontics; and (iii) implantology.

General Dentistry

General dentistry largely refers to the preventive services that all
patients should receive on a regular basis, such as tooth cleaning,
checking soft tissue, and screening for oral diseases and other
potential problems, along with a range of basic restorative
treatments, including fillings, crowns, bridges, dentures and more.
Our general dentistry services include oral examination, treatment
planning, preventive and cosmetic dentistry, endodontics, oral
surgery, periodontal treatment, prosthodontics, pedodontics
services and patient education.

Orthodontics

Orthodontics is a branch of dentistry that treats malocclusions,
a condition in which the teeth are not correctly positioned when
the mouth is closed, which may be caused by dental irregularity
and disproportionate jaw relationships, among others. Our
orthodontists provide orthodontic treatment using a range of
medical dental devices, including fixed and/or removable braces,
headgear, aligners and other appliances.

Implantology

Oral implantology is the branch of dentistry that deals with the
permanent implantation of artificial teeth in the jaw when it is
determined that a natural tooth must be extracted. With their high
level of expertise, our implant dentists are able to treat complex
cases and provide customized solutions based on the health of
the jawbone and the specific needs of a patient.

B W DA

BB R

B2 TR ER RS AR E NI OREEE
RTG - BIEG)EBITR: ()EBR - R(i)EER -

BT

BRIMEIEEREBEREREREINEN RS -
lamest - SEBREREHE O RERREREWE
B AR —RINERBERE - BHFM@T - F
B BFE - RANEBRIMREERORE
mE AT 8 A RETITR - TRIFER
ORSMEL - P DR - BB R - RE O BEBIRS A
REEHE -

IERE 7Y

EBMEIAERATENTIROX  RATERER
FENERRERLOAHEERE MG O R
ERIFEREEEMLMNBER - HMNERBBE
AZEREORRFERHEERLE  BEEER,/
HRVBIE - FEB LS TEMEMEE -

BiEw

O ERER RS ki E AR KA i WM AR R
BXARBAEFEN T DX - BEERKFEH
HEME - ROBEET BREREAST IR
R BENEERIOBEE AR I AL IR AT RAR
JTEE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B W DA

Dual-Brand Operations

As of March 31, 2023, we operated a total of 123 clinics and
hospitals under the brand names of “Arrail Dental”
to provide dental services to different demographics
across geographic regions.

and “Rytime
Dental”,

Arrail Dental

ARRAILImim

Fabulous Smile . Confident You

We have been operating under the Arrail Dental brand since 1999,
to provide premium dental services primarily to affluent consumers
in Tier-1 and emerging Tier-1 cities in China. Arrail clinics are
able to charge premium pricing based on their excellent quality
of bespoke services and professionals. As of March 31, 2023, we
operated a total of 52 Arrail clinics in seven cities in China, namely
Beijing, Shanghai, Shenzhen, Guangzhou, Hangzhou, Tianjin and
Xiamen. Our Arrail clinics are mainly concentrated in metropolitan
areas and located at or in close proximity to prominent landmarks
and properties. We plan to further penetrate existing markets to
drive stronger monetization under the Arrail Dental brand.

Rytime Dental
bmZrL_IHT BENTAL

We launched our operations under the Rytime Dental brand in
2012, primarily aiming to provide treatments to middle class
customers in Tier-1 and key Tier-2 cities in the Northern, Eastern,
Southern and Western parts of China. Rytime Dental is positioned
to capture the greater middle-end dental services market by
offering high-quality dental services at attractive and relatively
lower prices. As of March 31, 2023, we operated a total of 71
stores, including nine hospitals and 62 Rytime clinics in 10 cities
in China. We are able to provide a greater variety of treatments
at our dental hospitals, such as giving general anesthesia and
performing more complicated oral surgery procedures. Our Rytime
Dental hospitals and clinics are typically located in the vicinity of
residential areas, giving our customers easy access to convenient
and high-quality dental care services. We plan to continue to
expand our Rytime Dental network by broadening our reach to
targeted regions and cities across China.

EmEgE

%23&2023¢3H31 B BAATEBRER K[ HER
o | mERAE e 123 R TR R - AZ MR
WHA%M%DHWE‘*THW

HEEH

ARRAILImim

Fabulous Smile . Confident You
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Our Hospitals and Clinics

As of March 31, 2023, we operated 123 stores, including (i) 114
clinics, of which 52 clinics were under the Arrail Dental brand
and 62 clinics were under the Rytime Dental brand; and (ii) nine
hospitals under the Rytime Dental brand, as illustrated in the map
below.

[l Provinces covered &4 15 \ \
Provinces uncovered XEEAB | O-

A Arralil Clinics B2 F7

@  Rytime Clinics &2

Rytime Hospitals #7526

11

7 Area of key Operations * B4 &R

B W DA

RANERRZ R

WA TH BT~ © 8 Z20239F3 8318 » HIKL
123KRFIE » B4R ZH (b BB ER M
S2RRIGFAEMIE62R) + K (i) AIhZ O Mg

REIORER ©

Iﬁl 123X

Dental Clinics and
Hospitals
H R P & BB

151

Cities Covered
BEHM

9144

Dentists
Eg
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Our total patient visits decreased from 1,558,947 for the year
ended March 31, 2022 to 1,534,162 for the year ended March 31,
2023, representing a decrease of 1.6%. The following table sets
forth the breakdown by brands in relation to our operating and
financial performance.

RFANEEDL ARHBEE2022F3A31HIEFER
1,658,947 AR AL E# E2023F3 A31HIEFE
#91,534,162 AX + FHE R 1.6% « TERHEIZ
MBI DB RS R B RIZAL -

For the year ended March 31,
BIZ3A31BLEE

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

Total patient visits BIED AR 1,534,162 1,558,947
Arrail Dental ImRER 480,623 560,981
Rytime Dental i pemp 1,053,539 997,966
Total number of dental chairs FRIBEE 1,442 1,214
Arrail Dental ImER et 517 482
Rytime Dental ImZs O 925 732
Visits per dental chair BRIBEHRDIRE 1,064 1,284
Arrail Dental ImREE 930 1,164
Rytime Dental WmEE O 1,139 1,363
Revenue per dental chair (RMB in thousands) #SRIMEHRA (ARETT) 1,022 1,311
Arrail Dental Iml e 1,384 1,691
Rytime Dental g O 820 1,061

Our repeat visit rates, defined as the percentage of patients
that revisited our clinics or hospitals beyond six months after
their initial visits, excluding follow-up consultations of the same
treatment, were 48.1% for the year ended March 31, 2023 (48.6%
for the year ended March 31, 2022). Approximately 24% of our
new patients were referred by our existing patients for the year
ended March 31, 2023.

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures
during the Reporting Period

On April 2, 2022, a subsidiary of the Company entered into an
investment agreement to acquire and subscribe for 14.1% equity
interest of Shenzhen Baocheng Dental Hospital (&I H O EeEE
Ft) (“Shenzhen Baocheng”) for a cash consideration of RMB25
million (the “Baocheng Investment’). The Baocheng Investment
does not constitute a connected transaction or a notifiable
transaction under the Listing Rules.

HZE2023F3A3TALEE  RANEHETLE
PR (MR R NERRBXRERMAND A
RERRLNEBEENE L TEER—2ENE
BERP) B48.1% (B E2022F3A31HILFE A
48.6%) ° H 202343 A31HILFEE » #I24%HIH
BERBEBBESIE -

BEMANEARE - EARBRHESEFAH
BERNRAREEDNT

N2022F 4828 » KRR —KFRAFELREW
FOURSHEBEBARBHEE L KRERRBE R
B AR ([FRINEH ) 14 1% 8% ([BEER
B]) EHKRETEKEMRATHEER SHA
FRANRS °



Management Discussion and Analysis

On July 8, 2022, a subsidiary of the Company entered into an
investment agreement to acquire 51% equity interest of Tongshan
Dental (the “Tongshan Investment’). Tongshan Dental had 90
dental chairs as of March 31, 2023 and contributed revenue of
RMB47.7 million for the Reporting Period since the acquisition
was completed on August 30, 2022. For further details on the
Tongshan Investment, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated July 8, 2022.

On November 3, 2022, the Group entered into a cooperation
agreement with Hangzhou Jarvis and Hangzhou Jinyaori, pursuant
to which the Group agreed to subscribe for 20% of the registered
capital of Hangzhou Jinyaori, a wholly owned subsidiary of
Hangzhou Jarvis, at the subscription amount of RMB30 million.
Upon completion of the subscription, Hangzhou Jinyaori will
be owned as to 20% and 80% by the Group and Hangzhou
Jarvis respectively. On the same day, the Group entered into a
licensing agreement with Hangzhou Jinyaori, pursuant to which
the Group shall license certain intellectual property rights to
Hangzhou Jinyaori for a term of three years. Please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated November 3, 2022 and
November 11, 2022 for details.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had no significant
investments, material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the Reporting Period.

Events after the Reporting Period

On September 28, 2022, the Company and Beier Holdings Limited
(“Beier”) entered into a loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Company provided a loan facility to Beier
in an aggregate principal amount of US$11,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB77,164,000) (the “Loan”). The Loan was drawn down by Beier
in full on September 30, 2022. The Loan was unsecured, interest
bearing at 4.5% per annum, and repayable in nine months from
the date of utilisation.

B W DA

R2022F7H8H * ARG —RFRAFMLIKEW
o UNEBEORS1%EE ([BERE]) - @A
D& £ 202343 A31 A XA 0RFEHE - 52022
F8HA30ATAWBLANR - RIMEEER THWAA
RE477EET - BHEBSRENE—FFE &
2R NRI B A2022F7 A8HIAE -

M2022F 11 A3 » AEBEMEXRE RN E
BRATYEERE Bt ZEBRERBEMNIMNE
BE (MMNEXRBNEETAR) M20%FMER
RESEAARBIOEETL - RRBEEZME -
MMNE R B ED R RAEERTMNERBESR20%
%80% A A « A% E /N <R H A
B AEEHFAMMNESRBFERE TMEE
- BEI=F - FEBA2MAAF A A2022F 11
A3BK2022FE 11 A1 EHHAE -

B EXHRBES  REREBRAREEETE
KEE EXMBREETAA  BEAARAE
27 -

BEWEEE

M2022F9H28H - ANARIEBeier Holdings
Limited ([Beier]) 5], Extr:s ([ BRWZE]) © &
It + AN ATFABeieri2 i A& 458 /511,000,0003
T(HEENRARKET77 164,000T) WEFRRE (T&
;) o 20229498300 EFXE HBeier2 iR
B BERAEER  BFNEL5%H B BARBA
HEARBET LB A WEE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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On June 27, 2023, the Company and Beier entered into an
amendment agreement to the Loan Agreement (the “Amendment
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company and Beier
conditionally agreed that, among others, (i) the term of the Loan
shall be extended for a period from 9 months to 18 months
commencing from the September 30, 2022, and (ii) the interest
rate of the Loan shall be revised from 4.5% to 5.5% per annum. In
addition, to cover the liabilities and obligations of Beier under the
Amendment Agreement, Beier pledged 9,920,675 ordinary shares
of the Company held by it in favour of the Company as security for
the extended Loan. Save for the above, all the material terms and
conditions of the Loan Agreement remain unchanged and in force
and effect.

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in this annual report,
there have been no other material events subsequent to the year
ended March 31, 2023 and up to the date of this annual report,
which require adjustment or disclosure in accordance with IFRSs.

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital Assets

The Group intends to utilize the net proceeds raised from the
Global Offering for business expansion, optimization of our IT
infrastructure and working capital in the manner set out in the
Prospectus and the section headed “Use of Proceeds from the
Global Offering” below. Save as these, the Group does not have
any concrete committed plans for material investments and capital
assets in 2023.

20236 F27H » ARG EBeierd] LEF BEM
el ((BRTHE]) - Bt - AAFHBeierE A
GHERE (EhaE) () EERNHRMA20229F9 A
30RTIEALERZ181EA R (i) BERFHEH
4.5%(ER] H5.5% ° LN BIREBeierE(E ] s
ETIHEERER  BeierD i HEE 19,920,675
RARNREBBEBTARR  (EAEHERNE
R o BREMEI - BERBBEHHE X BIERREM
T WAB+RERAIME -

br EXRAFHREME D RBEFEEIN - 1R20234F
SAB1HIEFERRBEAFTFRAY  WEEMRE
thEXFBAREERY SRS ELETAESE

%o

AREAREREFREGEE

REBFRBHERERE N T 2REEMSHER
@] —HET AR ERBEEMERNMEIRFHR
AREBHEE - BICHMNESRMERRERE
BES - Rtz AEBEX RN 2023FAHIES
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Employees and Remuneration

As of March 31, 2023, we had a total of 3,409 full-time employees,
all of whom were based in various cities in China. Our employees
reflect the geographic footprint we currently serve. The following

Management Discussion and Analysis

B W DA

BEERHH

HZE2023F3A318 » HMHEEE £3,409% &8
B8 o HEFEZERT IE - RANEER
R (P9 B ATFTAR IS A i 858 » TR EFIEH Z=2023

table sets forth our employees by positions as of March 31, 2023: FIAN ALBEEEHHES :
Number of
Function Employees %
i BE EEAH %
Dentists T8 914 26.8%
Nursing staff EIEAB 1,274 37.4%
Customer service staff ERAR 623 18.3%
General administrative staff —BITERABR 349 10.2%
Marketing team & S E X 249 7.3%
Total et 3,409 100.0%
Employees by Positions
ZHEES HES
Dentists Nursing staff Customer General
service staff administrative staff

TE EEAB ERAE —BRITBAE

9144 1,2744 6234 3494

26.8% 37.4% 18.3% 10.2%
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We offer our employees different remuneration packages
based on their positions. Generally, the remuneration structure
of our employees includes salary, benefits and bonuses. Our
compensation programs are designed to remunerate our
employees based on their performance, measured against
specified objective criteria. We maintain standard employee
benefit plans required by PRC laws and regulations, including
housing fund contributions, pension insurance, medical insurance,
workplace injury insurance, unemployment insurance, and
maternity insurance.

As of March 31, 2023, over 46.4% of our full-time dentists had
master’'s degree or above, and many held titles and qualifications
such as chief medical director or medical discipline leader. Our
team of dentists have on average 11.2 years of post-qualification
experience in the industry. The average monthly revenue
generated per dentist, who joined us in 2018, 2019 and 2020
during each calendar year, grew at a CAGR of 24%, 39% and
57% during their respective employment periods up to the end of
calender year 2022. Dentists with more than five, ten and fifteen
years of experience with us accounted for 37.2%, 13.9% and 6.1%
of our total dentists, which indicates strong employee retention
rates.

PR ZE B OB A PR BT RO EE -
BEMS  EENFHRBEEHFES  BALE
T o BPINFHBEE EREEBNER (RIBRE
FEERELETHE) MERERBOHM - HAIEFHE
ARERRENELEEBENGE - EREFAR
EHR - BE2RR - BERR - TEHKRE - KX
R R EFRE o

HZE2023F3HA31H » HMHBiBE46.4% 028 T 5
HEBELTHRALEN  WAHFZTERBIAERM
o B BB RS A S AT ER - BRI T BB
WMEEKRETFHEAI2FNTELER - 12018
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Employee Retention Rates of our dentists of the Company

BT BEARQANEER

EARAR IERIBSFE

EARQA B TEBB10E

EARDAB TEEB15E

We have also set up a platform in the BVI to hold incentive
shares for a total amount of 119,972,600 shares, representing
approximately 20.6% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as of March 31, 20283, for the participants under
the RSU Scheme. As of March 31, 2023, an aggregate of 573
employees were approved by the Board to be the grantees with
a total of 88,770,062 underlying shares pursuant to the RSU
Scheme. We further adopted the 2022 RSU Scheme on September
3, 2022, pursuant to which the underlying Shares will be satisfied
by the existing Shares to be acquired by the trustee on the market
based on the trading price of the market. As of March 31, 2023,
no employees were approved by the Board to be the grantees
pursuant to the 2022 RSU Scheme.

Serviced at the Company for over 5 years

Serviced at the Company for over 10 years

Serviced at the Company for over 15 years

BTN EBEBRHERITE UREZR
B BRI A2 HEERESE 119,972,600
BB D - (RE 2= 2023F3 A31 BAR A B E#IT
NAEEEH20.6% ° B E2023F3 8310 ' REXR
FIRRDELIFTE - AHST3REERESSHAR
BER A o A ERA 88,770,062 % AR o F
1172202249 A 3 B # — RN 2022 F X R HI i 17
BAEFE - Bt ABEROBIAZEART S LR
BHMERFEBENREAGRMDIA - HE20234F3
A31H ' RIE2022F ZRHIK M BT E] - BHEE
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During the Reporting Period, the Group did not experience any
significant problems with its employees due to labour disputes nor
did it experience any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of
staff.

Industry Outlook

The development of the dental services market in China is
mainly driven by economic development, an ageing population,
digitalization, rising public awareness of dental health and other
related factors. According to Frost & Sullivan Report, the market
size of dental services in China reached RMB145.0 billion in 2021,
maintaining an average annual growth rate of 20%. It is expected
to reach RMB300.0 billion by 2025. Based on the experience of
overseas developed markets, a chained operation is generally
considered to have greater advantages than an individual
operation in terms of speed of development.

Although the COVID-19 pandemic has had certain impacts on
the industry in the past three years, the entire industry has still
shown strong resilience and signs of rebound. At the same time,
we have also observed the gradual enhancement of industry
penetration and concentration of leading institutions. Following the
complete easing of the pandemic control restrictions, the vitality
and potential of the dental services market will be fully released,
hence we are full of confidence in the prospects of our future
development.

With the full implementation of the domestic oral implantology
policy and the nearly-two-years publicity and popularization of
such policy in the market, patients in China gradually became
aware that “oral implantology”
treatments for missing teeth; thus the dental health awareness of

is one of the most effective

the public has been raised and more patients will be benefited by
affordable prices. Before providing oral implantology treatment,
the dentist will have a comprehensive assessment of the patient’s
dental health, judging whether the patient is suitable for treatment
and enabling the patient to complete the basic treatment required
in the early stage, which will in turn further increase patient visits
in dental institutions, especially for basic treatments of general
dental and periodontal ailments. At the policy aspect, guided by
a number of policies issued by the state and local governments
in China, the private healthcare development environment in
China will continue to be improved in a standardized, healthy
and sustainable manner. As the largest premium dental chain
group in China which covers the four core regions, namely North
China, East China, South China and West China, comprising 15
Tier-1 and Tier-2 cities, the Company will further benefit from the
core advantages of “Talent, Brand, System” and seize the huge
opportunities arising from the development of the dental market.

B W DA
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Future Prospects

7)

2)

Efficiency improvement and steady operation

We focus on improving efficiency and operating steadily,
aiming to ensure quality and sustainable growth. Faced
with the recurring impact of the pandemic in the past three
years, the industry needs to reorganize and recuperate.
Therefore, we will continuously focus on existing resources,
fortifying our foundation, while maintaining a development
strategy of active expansion. We will continue to increase
market share and operational efficiency through original
site expansion and continuous intra-city encryption.
Meanwhile, we will also actively explore new markets to
maintain our business expansion opportunities. In order to
enhance efficiency and effectiveness, we will launch the
“5A Arrail Way” to improve customer management with
refined operations.

Relying on the medical-oriented principle and practice
medicine with respect

Ensuring medical quality is the essence of the
development of the healthcare industry, and the dental
industry is no exception. We adopt a number of systems
including medical red line management, specialized case
classification, dentist classification, complex medical
condition discussion and multidisciplinary consultation to
ensure medical quality and safety and provide customers
with professional dental services. In recent years, more
and more expert dentists have joined the Group, which
also proves that we have been recognized and respected
in the field of dental services. In future, we will adhere to
the medical-oriented principle, and always regard medical
quality management as a crucial standard for enterprise
development.

KRBT
1) KEEIET R

2)
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3)

4)

Management Discussion and Analysis

Leveraging brand influence to strengthen the system of
‘recruitment, training and retention”

We will further strengthen the system of “recruitment,
training and retention” of talents by leveraging our
brand influence. The Company has been adhering to the
principle of “empowerment and support” and is committed
to providing employees with effective platforms and
development opportunities. In terms of medical services,
we not only insist on campus recruitment, but also increase
the recruitment of specialist dentists and senior dentists
to ensure that our medical service level is always at the
leading position in the industry. In terms of operation, we
will gradually strengthen the construction of the echelon
of core management personnel, and focus on selecting
high-caliber management personnel with strong self-
motivation, learning ability and development potential, so
as to lay a sound organizational structure foundation for
the Company’s long-term development.

Enhancing corporate culture

Corporate culture endows the Company with a unique
working atmosphere, which will in turn regulate and
affect everyone’s behavior and way of doing things. As
the corporate culture and core competitive edge of the
Company, “integrity, professionalism and being a good
person” is vital for the Company to achieve cross-regional
development and off-site replication, thus becoming a
national chain dental institution. It is one of the “moats”
of the Company. In future, the Company will unswervingly
promote and maintain the construction of its corporate
culture.

3)

4)

B W DA
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5) Risk management and sustainable development

The Group will continue to strengthen its risk management
system to ensure the stability and sustainability of business
operations. At the same time, we will also build a market-
leading financial management system to maintain our
financial well-being, as well as formulate reasonable
financial goals and strategic planning. In addition, we
will also pay attention to our environmental, social and
governance responsibilities, continue to improve and
strengthen corporate governance and the standardized
management of listed companies, optimize the governance
structure and continue to focus on charity and public
welfare. Meanwhile, we will also further strengthen our
communication with regulatory authorities such as the
Stock Exchange as well as Shareholders so as to keep
information transparent, with a view to creating more value
for Shareholders.

Impact of COVID-19

To contain the spread of COVID-19, the local governments
imposed various restrictions on business and social activities,
including travel restrictions and mandated temporary shutdowns
of business operations across certain regions. During the
Reporting Period, we have undergone temporary closures of
clinics and hospitals we operated, particularly from April to June
2022 and from November 2022 to January 2023. In April and May
2022, all the clinics in Shanghai were closed. In May and June
2022, 19 clinics and hospitals in Beijing were closed for averagely
two weeks, while from November 2022 to January 2023, almost all
the clinics and hospitals were temporarily closed for one week to
one month.

Although COVID-19 has had an adverse effect on our country,
we noticed strong business rebounce after the pandemic. For
example, patient visits decreased by 20.2% in April to June 2022
and increased by 9.7% from July to September compared to same
period last year; patient visits decreased by 39.4% in November
2022 to January 2023 and increased by 42.2% in February 2023
compared to same period last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Overview

The following discussion is based on, and should be read in
conjunction with, the financial information and the notes included
elsewhere in this annual report.

Revenue

During the Reporting Period, we primarily generated revenues
from operating dental clinics and hospitals across the PRC. Our
revenues decreased by 9.2% from RMB1,623.6 million for the year
ended March 31, 2022, to RMB1,473.7 million for the year ended
March 31, 2023. This was primarily because COVID-19 impacted
our capacity to provide services.

Revenues by Dental Service Offerings

We offer a diverse range of professional and customized dental
services, covering mainly three dental sectors (i) general
dentistry; (ii) orthodontics; and (iii) implantology. The following
table sets forth a breakdown of our revenues by types of dental
services, both in absolute amount and as a percentage of our
total revenues, for the periods indicated.

B W DA
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BAE - W MEER T — GBI

L'ON
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Fr & BRI « BRI A BB ZE2022F3 A
STAEILFEMNARY1623.6EBTLHL92%EE
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For the year ended March 31,
BE3ASIBLEE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB % RMB %
AR % ARK %
(RMB in thousands, except for percentages)
(AREETFIT - BRLLBRIN
General dentistry T@ R 790,353 53.6% 872,586 53.7%
Orthodontics IERE R 328,238 22.3% 366,264 22.6%
Implantology fEEE 318,330 21.6% 353,079 21.7%
Others™ E o 36,820 2.5% 31,624 2.0%
Total @it 1,473,741 100.0% 1,623,553 100.0%
Note: Wizt -
(1) Primarily include revenues generated from sale of dental (1) FTERERBEESBEFAHESERME L
materials in our ordinary course of business and the operation BERBIAEREEEHBA -

of our denture manufacturing plants.
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Rk

Orthodontics
IERG R

e 'mplantology
ELERS

e Others
Hitb

Note: For the year ended March 31
Wit - BE3ABNBLFE

Revenues generated from (i) general dentistry decreased by
9.4% from RMB872.6 million for the year ended March 31, 2022
to RMB790.4 million for the year ended March 31, 2023; (ii)
orthodontics decreased by 10.4% from RMB366.3 million for the
year ended March 31, 2022 to RMB328.2 million for the year
ended March 31, 2023; and (iii) implantology decreased by 9.8%
from RMB353.1 million for the year ended March 31, 2022 to
RMB318.3 million for the year ended March 31, 2023.

General Dentistry

B EBEFREENWRABREZ2022F3A31H
IEFEMNARKES72.6 BB 9.4% E8£2023
FI3A3TALFENARKT04EET : (i) ERHFE
EEMBRABREE2022F3A31HILFEHARE
366.3EE LM 10.4% EE E2023%F3 3181k
FEMARKEI28.28E T » R(ii)EEREEMIK
ABHZE2022F3A31AILFEMAREKIS31H
B 9.8%EEH ZE2023F3A31HIEFEMAR
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Revenues by Brand

We adopt a dual-brand strategy through our Arrail Dental and
Rytime Dental brands to provide differentiated dental services to
different target markets. As of March 31, 2023, we operated 52
dental clinics in Tier-1 cities under the Arrail Dental brand, and
operated 62 dental clinics and nine dental hospitals primarily
in Tier-1 and key Tier-2 cities under the Rytime Dental brand.
The following table sets forth a breakdown of our revenues by
brands, both in absolute amount and as a percentage of our total
revenues, for the periods indicated.

B W DA

K 1) 77 BIHA

BMEBAHMBEERNEERTOEREENE 78
B mAREBEmSREEECORERRS - &
£2023F3A31H BB IEE — &5
TELS2RK AL WAREORAMEETEE—
BREZL THEETEL2RAORZSHMIRARE
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For the year ended March 31,
BE3A3MBLEE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB % RMB %
AR® % AR %
(RMB in thousands, except for percentages)
(ARETFIT - BHLLBRIN
Arrail Dental MR 715,299 48.5% 831,550 51.2%
Rytime Dental B 758,442 51.5% 792,003 48.8%
Total #st 1,473,741 100.0% 1,623,553 100.0%
Cost of Sales SHE R A

Our cost of sales primarily consists of (i) employee benefits
expenses; (ii) depreciation and amortization; and (iii) dental
materials used. Employee benefits expenses primarily consist of
salaries, benefits and bonuses, including social security costs
and housing benefits. Depreciation and amortization expenses
primarily consist of depreciation of our medical equipment, office
equipment and furniture, leasehold improvements, and right-
of-use assets, representing the leases of dental clinics and
hospitals. Dental material used primarily consist of purchase
costs of raw materials and consumables mainly comprising
customized dentures, dental braces, implant and dental crowns
for implantology, orthodontics and restorations.

BANHERAEZRE()VEEENFAX - (INTE
N R(i)mAERTE - BERIAXIES
EHe  WAREL BRLtEREXAREER
o FERBERXTIECREERRE HARE
REA - HEMRREREREEE (DRELHARE
BeVEE) WATE - TAERM B ZZRERME R
B (T2EREMN  ERREECANITRRE
o FEEFRIFE)EREEA
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The following table sets forth a breakdown of our cost of sales T~ &5l T 95 BT /s HA R 4% 1 & £ 9 #9456 A AN AR
by nature, both in absolute amounts and as a percentage of total ~ #1 » LAB¥ & 58 MG IR ER AN A D IR ©
cost of sales, for the periods indicated.

For the year ended March 31,
BZ3A31BLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224

RMB % RMB %

AR % AREE %

(RMB in thousands, except for percentages)

(ARETT - ALK

Employee benefits expenses EERBAMAZ 622,426 50.7% 670,580 52.1%
Depreciation and amortization TE REE 242,177 19.7% 227,725 17.7%
Dental materials used Pt A e R R 241,757 19.7% 253,254 19.7%
Consulting fees EAEIE ¢ 33,434 2.7% 43,139 3.4%
Office and property management MARYEEERZ 57,550 4.7% 45,962 3.5%
expenses

Others™ E o 29,313 2.5% 46,336 3.6%
Total et 1,226,657 100.0% 1,286,996 100.0%
Note: Miat -

(1) Primarily include rental expenses, travelling expenses, training (1)
expenses and utility expenses.

1,286,996 @

1,226,657

FERIERSMAY - ZRAS - FIIFAZ kK
&

ES
=
)

Cost of Sales by nature (RMB in thousands)
HERAPHA(ARETT)

670,580

246 —— Employee benefits expenses EEEFB X

| Depreciation and amortization & & #iH

Dental materials used FrFAEERI#TE

e Office and property management expenses i AR ¥£EEFH X
_ Consulting fees #:HE
Others™ H ™

2022 2023

Note: For the year ended March 31
B - HEIANHIEFE
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Our cost of sales decreased by 4.7% from RMB1,287.0 million
for the year ended March 31, 2022 to RMB1,226.7 million for the
year ended March 31, 2023, primarily due to the decrease of
labor cost, dental materials used and consulting fees in line with
revenue decrease.

Gross Profit

Our gross profit decreased by 26.6% from RMB336.6 million for
the year ended March 31, 2022 to RMB247.1 million for the year
ended March 31, 2023, primarily due to the decrease of revenue.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses primarily consist of (i)
employee benefits expenses for our sales and marketing staff;
(ii) advertising and marketing expenses; and (iii) consulting
fees. The following table sets forth a breakdown of our selling
and distribution expenses, both in absolute amounts and as a
percentage of total cost of revenues, for the periods indicated.

B W DA

HPIMEERANRE E2022F3 831 B IEFEEHA
R¥E1 287068 TR 4.7%EEE2023F3 A31
BIEFEEMARKE12267AETL TERENAL
A~ FTRERIM B RERABESBARLD - BIA
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E7

RPN EFNBEEE2022F3A31BIEFEMNARE
336.6 EEITH A 26.6% EE E2023%E3A31H 1
FEMNARE2471BET  TERARWARD -
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For the year ended March 31,
BE3A3MBLEE

2023 2022
2023 % 20224

RMB % RMB %

AR¥ % AR %

(RMB in thousands, except for percentages)

(ARBTT - BRI

Employee benefits expenses EERAMZ 47,717 51.2% 40,029 50.3%
Advertising and marketing expenses B k&Y 37,591 40.3% 33,588 42.2%
Consulting fees BAE 4,727 5.1% 2,816 3.5%
Others™ Hbo 3,238 3.4% 3,192 4.0%
Total Fa 93,273 100.0% 79,625 100.0%
Note: Hiat

(1) Primarily include travelling expenses, training expenses and (1) FEREEZRAY  HFlFAZ RBERS -

recruitment expenses.
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Our selling and distribution expenses increased by 17.2% from
RMB79.6 million for the year ended March 31, 2022 to RMB93.3
million for the year ended March 31, 2023, primarily because we
expanded marketing team and carried out more marketing and
promotion activities.

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses primarily consist of (i) share-based
compensation expenses; (ii) employee benefits expenses for
our directors, senior management and other administrative staff;
(i) listing expenses; (iv) consulting fees; and (v) depreciation
and amortization. The following table sets forth a breakdown of
our administrative expenses, both in absolute amounts and as a
percentage, for the periods indicated.

BPIEE RAEHATHEZE2022F3A31 B IEF
EMARKET7ICEETIENI7T.2%EHZE20235F3
A31HLFEMARKIZIIFEL  EEZHNEM
EREHEKWHARE 2 HEERTBAME -

ITHRAX

HAMTHAXEZFB()ROMESHAX : (iHE
= EREEEBMEMITRAENEERAMX
(i) LR : (iV)ERE - R(vITEREHE - TX
P HFIR AR ITRAAE - NBE
NFTiE A D IR

For the year ended March 31,
BZE3ASIBLEE

2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB % RMB %
AR % AR %
(RMB in thousands, except for percentages)
(AR¥TT - 8oLk
Share-based compensation &R BN 5 52 194,118 56.3% 95,021 34.4%
expenses
Employee benefits expenses EERAMXZ 87,672 25.4% 83,401 30.2%
Listing expenses Baiilcib-a - - 42,501 15.4%
Consulting fees BB 18,536 5.4% 15,234 5.5%
Depreciation and amortization TE R E 17,062 4.9% 16,659 6.0%
Office and property management MARYEEEREZ 5,482 1.6% 4,903 1.8%
expenses
Auditor’s remuneration B ot b ET I 4,500 1.3% 3,500 1.3%
Others™ Ebo 17,388 5.1% 14,874 5.4%
Total @et 344,758 100.0% 276,093 100.0%
Note: Wit

(1) Primarily include travelling expenses, training expenses and
recruitment expenses.

Our administrative expenses increased by 24.9% from RMB276.1
million for the year ended March 31, 2022 to RMB344.8 million
for the year ended March 31, 2023, primarily due to (i) increased
share-based compensation expenses in connection with RSUs

M TERREERMAS  HIIFEERBERY

RANITHBEZHEZE2022F3A31BIEFEMA
REE276 1B ETILIN24.9% EH F 20234 3 A31
HIEFEMARKI448EE T TBE2HEAI)E
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granted to our employees in October 2021; and (ii) increased
recurring professional and legal fees as the Company's been
listed on the Stock Exchange and offset by the reduction of one-
off listing expenses incurred during the Company'’s first public
offering.

Research and Development Expenses

Our research and development expenses primarily consist of (i)
employee benefits expenses for our research and development
staff; and (ii) consulting fees. The following table sets forth a
breakdown of our research and development expenses, both in
absolute amounts and as a percentage, for the periods indicated.

B W DA

AR REIR2021F10 AREE BN ZRHIIKGD B
BB BN & B S A0 ¢ Ko (i) R AN A B FEBsE X Fr |
W EEMEERAZERGM  EPREAQRSE
TERAABEHESD — XM LETRARD AR

e

HAWMEREX T 28E0)HEABNEERNF
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For the year ended March 31,
BEZ3A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB % RMB %
AR % AR %
(RMB in thousands, except for percentages)
(AR¥TT - BOLRIN

Employee benefits expenses EERAMAZ 10,293 55.5% 26,633 80.9%
Consulting fees BB 6,085 32.8% 4,323 13.1%
Depreciation and amortization Y& KMot 1,836 9.9% 1,596 4.8%
Others™ Emo 328 1.8% 366 1.2%
Total @t 18,542 100.0% 32,918 100.0%
Note: Hiat -
(1) Primarily include travelling expenses, property management (1) FTEBREERMY - MEBRFAIIKEE -

expenses and utility expenses.

Our research and development expenses decreased by 43.7%
from RMB32.9 million for the year ended March 31, 2022 to
RMB18.5 million for the year ended March 31, 2023, primarily
because the decrease in employee benefits expenses reflecting
the decrease in the expenses of maintenance and follow-up
development of our self-developed information technology.
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(Impairment Loss)/Reversal of Impairment Loss on
Financial Assets — Net

(Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment loss on financial assets
— net on financial assets refer to impairment charges recorded
based on the difference between the cash flows contractually due
and all the cash flows that we expect to receive from trade and
other receivables. Our impairment loss on financial assets was
RMB2.9 million for the year ended March 31, 2023, compared
to net reversal of impairment loss on financial assets of RMB4.6
million for the year ended March 31, 2022, primarily due to the
increase in account receivables.

Operating Loss

For the year ended March 31, 2023, our operating loss was
RMB190.3 million, compared to an operating loss of RMB28.6
million for the year ended March 31, 2022, mainly due to revenue
decrease caused by COVID-19 and share-based compensation
expenses of RMB194.1 million in connection with RSUs granted
to our employees in October 2021, Excluding the share-based
compensation expenses, our adjusted operating profit was
RMB3.8 million for the year ended March 31, 2023.

Net Finance Costs

Our net finance costs decreased from RMB47.4 million for the
year ended March 31, 2022 to RMB25.3 million for the year ended
March 31, 2023, primarily due to the decrease of transaction costs
on issuance of Series-E convertible redeemable preferred shares
of RMB9.2 million incurred in the year ended March 31, 2022 and
the increase of interest income from bank deposits.

Fair Value Changes of Convertible Redeemable Preferred
Shares

As convertible redeemable preferred shares were converted to
ordinary shares upon the Listing, we did not record any fair value
change of convertible redeemable preferred shares for the year
ended March 31, 2023.

Loss for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, our loss for the year decreased from
RMB696.4 million for the year ended March 31, 2022 to RMB223.3
million for the year ended March 31, 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Property, Plant and Equipment

Our property, plant and equipment primarily consist of (i) medical
equipment; (ii) office equipment and furniture; (iii) motor vehicles;
and (iv) leasehold improvements. Our property, plant and
equipment increased from RMB297.8 million as of March 31, 2022
to RMB324.2 million as of March 31, 2023 primarily due to clinics
upgrades, opening and the acquisition of Tongshan Dental.

Right-of-use Assets

Our right-of-use assets represent leases of dental clinics,
hospitals, and office space in accordance with IFRS 16. Our right-
of-use assets decreased from RMB7083.5 million as of March 31,
2022 to RMB692.1 million as of March 31, 2023, primarily due to
the depreciation of the right-of-use assets, partially offset by the
additions.

Net Current Assets

We had net current assets of RMB802.6 million as of March 31,
2023, compared to net current assets of RMB884.4 million as of
March 31, 2022, primarily because of usage of cash and cash
equivalents for investments and acquisitions.

Trade Receivables

Trade receivables are primarily amounts due from customers
for dental materials sold and dental services performed in the
ordinary course of business. Trade receivables are classified as
current assets if they are expected to be collected in one year or
less. We typically charge our individual patients upon rendering
our services. In addition, for our corporate clients, we usually
grant them a credit period ranging from 10 to 60 days.

Our trade receivables increased from RMB71.3 million as of March
31, 2022 to RMB75.6 million as of March 31, 2023. Our trade
receivables turnover days were 20 days for the year ended March
31, 2022, and 23 days for the year ended March 31, 2023. The
increase in turnover days was mainly due to increase in account
receivables from commercial and governmental medical insurance
programs.

B W DA

W% BERRE

BMOME  BEREBEEERRE()EERE (i)
MR FAERIRE  (10))78 - R(iv)EEMEEE -
BPWYE - BEMEEREE2022F3A31HE
AR297 A BTG NEEE2023F3H31HK
ARMB24258TT  TERHARDIAR FEK
W B im e O -

EREEE

RIEE B S REEBE165  BRMNEREEE
BOBEZH  BREBRABIOEE - RIMNER
HEEAEMEE2022F3 A31BMARK703588
TRV EHE2023F3A31HMARKEI21EE
T FEHAEREEERE  HOoWAREAIRHE -

HZE2023F3A31H MWV FRBEEAARE
802.6 HETT MEZE2022F3A31BAlAFERE
BEANRKS844FETL TEEHNHABE LR
SZEYRERE RKEE -

B 5 R

BHRWHFEIERMAEEBBETHENER
MR R R Qe B R REEWE PR - WE
ZEWFIBRHN —FRUAARKD - D ERRE
BE - BMBEEREREEEAZERE - It
S MEEREPME - HABER TN FI0E60X
MEEH -

BN E S EUGEREZ2022F3A31HHAR
B713EBTENEEHE2023F3A31HHAR
75 6B ETT - HE2022F3 31 HILFERER
2023F3A31HILEFE  HMHWE ZEKGKIEEE
KEDRIB20KRK23K « HEREIEINEBRHRN
REEERBTERRBETEIMEUBERIE N -

2022/23 Annual Report & E 4 N@



Arrail Group Limited ¥FSEEBRA R

Management Discussion and Analysis

B W DA

Other Receivables

Our other receivables primarily consist of (i) loans to related
parties; (ii) rental and other deposits; and (iii) loans to employees,
net of loss allowance. Our other receivables included in current
assets increased by 706.6% from RMB25.6 million as of March
31, 2022 to RMB206.5 million as of March 31, 2023, primarily
due to (i) an increase of a loan to a related party, Beier Holdings
Limited, of RMB77.2 million; (ii) an increase of a receivable from
our RSU management agency of RMB36.5 million representing
cost and proceeds of RSUs exercise; (iii) Deposit placed in a
security broker of RMB34.7 million for the Company to repurchase
its shares from the market; and (iv) an increase of loans to
employees which will mature in less one year of RMB27.1 million,
which were recorded in non-current assets last year.

Trade Payables

Our trade payables primarily represent the amounts due to our
suppliers. Our suppliers typically granted us a credit period of 90
days.

Our trade payables increased by 14.6% from RMB74.2 million
as of March 31, 2022 to RMB85.0 million as of March 31, 2023,
primarily due to longer payment terms to some suppliers. Our
trade payables turnover days increased from 58 days for the year
ended March 31, 2022 to 59 days for the year ended March 31,
2023 accordingly.

Other Payables

Our other payables primarily consist of (i) employee benefits
payable; (ii) payables due to related parties and shareholders;
and (iii) taxes payables. Our other payables decreased by 37.4%
from RMB198.9 million as of March 31, 2022 to RMB124.5 million
as of March 31, 2023, mainly due to (i) the payment of RMB36.5
million to buy out share interest from a minority shareholder of a
subsidiary of the Group; (ii) the payment of listing fee of RMB24.5
million; and (iii) a decrease in employee benefits payable of
RMB22.0 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

Our financial assets at fair value through profit or loss primarily
represent our investments in wealth management products with
an aggregate principal amount of approximately RMB258.0 million
and unlisted debt instruments of RMB35.7 million and unlisted
equity instruments of RMB30 million. As of March 31, 2023, the
Company acquired the wealth management products from GF
Global Capital Limited of USD20 million (equivalent to RMB137.4
million) and Huatai International Financial Products Limited of
US$16.4 million (equivalent to RMB112.6 million).

The unlisted debt instruments represent 8.22% equity interest in
Hangzhou Jarvis and 20% equity interest in Hangzhou Jinyaori.

Prepayments

Our prepayments primarily consist of (i) prepayments for braces;
(ii) incremental cost of obtaining contracts, representing the
commissions to dentists; (iii) prepayments for inventories other
than braces; (iv) payment for equipments; and (v) short-term lease
prepayments. Our prepayments remained stable at RMB148.4
million as of March 31, 2022 and RMB142.2 million as of March
31, 2023.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

Since we operate mainly in the PRC with most of the transactions
settled in Renminbi, our management considers that our business
is not exposed to significant foreign exchange risk as there
are no significant assets or liabilities which are denominated in
the currencies other than our functional currency. During the
Reporting Period, the Company’s currency translation differences
mainly arise from the translation of the financial statements of our
Company from its functional currency in United States dollars to
the reporting currency in Renminbi.

Our Directors would from time to time review the analysis
prepared by our account department and assess whether there is
any material and adverse impact on our financial performance and
whether we should enter into any hedging or derivative financial
instruments to manage such foreign exchange risk exposures.
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Contingent Liabilities

As of March 31, 2023, we did not have any material contingent
liabilities, guarantees, or legal, arbitration or administrative
proceedings pending or threatened against us that we expect
would materially adversely affect our financial position or results
of operations.

Liquidity and Financial Resources and Capital Structure

During the Reporting Period, we financed our operations and
other capital expenditure requirements primarily through cash
generated from our operations and proceeds raised from the
Company’s series E round of financing and the Listing. As of
March 31, 2023, we had cash and cash equivalents of RMB621.9
million, as compared with RMB1,052.3 million as of March 31,
2022.

There is no material change in the capital structure of the
Company during the Reporting Period. The capital of the Company
comprises only ordinary shares.

Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures represent the purchase of property,
equipment and intangible assets. For the year ended March 31,
2023, we incurred capital expenditures of RMB126.8 million,
compared to RMB120.8 million for the year ended March 31, 2022,
primarily due to the expansion and renovation of dental clinics
and hospitals and the acquisition of Tongshan Dental. We intend
to fund our planned capital expenditures through a combination
of the net proceeds from the Global Offering, bank facilities and
other borrowings, as well as cash generated from operations.

Borrowings and Gearing Ratio

During the Reporting Period, we incurred borrowings which
were primarily denominated in Renminbi, to finance our capital
expenditure and working capital requirements. As of March 31,
2023, we had obtained undrawn bank loan facilities of RMB361.5
million.

As of March 31, 2023, the gearing ratio (calculated as total
borrowings divided by total equity and multiplied by 100%) is
13.0%.

Charge on Asset

As of March 31, 2023, we pledged US$22.5 million (equivalent
to RMB154.9 million) to a bank as the collateral for bank loans of
RMB96.3 million.
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. ZOU Qifang ($H¥), aged 69, is our founder, chairman of
the Board and chief executive officer. He has been the Director
since May 2001 and was re-designated as an executive Director
in June 2021. Mr. Zou founded the Group in April 1999. He is
responsible for overall strategic planning and business direction
planning, supervising and management of the Group’s business.
Prior to founding the Group, Mr. Zou served as an associate in
Bankers Trust Company, a commercial bank providing wholesale
financial services, from July 1994 to April 1995. He served as a
management consultant in A.T. Kearney (Hong Kong) Limited (%}
ME (F%8) AR A7), a global management consulting firm, from
June 1995 to September 1996. Mr. Zou served as a manager in
Tianjin Smith Kline & French Laboratories Ltd. (F1 3K )& sk 73 5
AR A7) from 1982 to August 1990.

Mr. Zou received a bachelor's degree in English from Tianjin
Foreign Studies University (KZINBEFEARZ) (formerly known
as Tianjin Foreign Studies College (REINEFEZFT)) in Tianjin,
the PRC in July 1982. Mr. Zou received a master’'s degree in
business administration from the Wharton School of University
of Pennsylvania, in Pennsylvania, the US in May 1994. Mr. Zou
has been a member of the board of advisors of School of Dental
Medicine of the University of Pennsylvania since October 2010
and a member of the executive board for Asia of the Wharton
School of the University of Pennsylvania from 2008 to 2018. Mr.
Zou is an advisor to the dean of School of Dental Medicine of
the Harvard University since 2019 and a director of the 2005
committee of WRSA Chamber of Commerce since 2005. Mr. Zou
has also been a member of CEO Organization since 2013 and
a Trustee of Center for Excellence in Education (CEE, a global
education foundation) since 2019. He received the Annual China
Entrepreneurship Award from the Wharton School of the University
of Pennsylvania in 2018.
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Ms. Qin Jessie XIN, aged 53, is the executive Director and chief
financial officer. Ms. Xin joined the Group in July 2015. She has
been the Director since August 2017 and was re-designated as an
executive Director in June 2021. She is responsible for supervising
accounting and financing of the Group. Prior to joining the Group,
Ms. Xin served as a deputy general manager of finance in iKang
Healthcare Group (EFEBE%E), the shares of which are listed
on the NASDAQ (stock code: KANG), from May 2011 to June
2015.

Ms. Xin received a bachelor's degree in commerce from McGill
University in Quebec, Canada in October 1997 and a master’s
degree in business administration from the California State
University in California, the US in March 2008. Ms. Xin has been a
public accountant certified by the State Board of Accountancy of
State of Delaware since October 2004.

Mr. ZHANG Jincai (E#87), aged 60, is the executive Director
and chief medical officer. He is responsible for overseeing
medical services of the Group and operations of our dental
hospitals and clinics. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in June 2019
and served as our executive president of medical affairs from
June 2019 to May 2020. He has served as the chief medical
officer of the Group and general manager of hospitals and clinics
since June 2020. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang served
as the chairman of the board of Zhejiang Tongce Dental Medical
Management Co., Ltd. (MT@BE N EEHRKEEREBEERLT), a
subsidiary of TC Medical (3B & kD B2 7]) which was listed
on Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code: 600763, from June
2015 to May 2019. He was a professor of oral medicine in the
West China Medical Center of Sichuan University (PO)I| K 5Epg8e
) (formerly known as the West China Medical University (%
FAERIKE)) from January 1989 to May 2001.
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Zhang obtained a physician’s practicing certificate from
the NHC in December 2001. He received a government special
allowance from the State Council of the PRC in March 1998.
He also received the 7th Chinese Physician Prize issued by the
Chinese Medical Doctor Association (B ERTI1#%E) in November
2010. He was the vice president of the 4th Council of the Chinese
Stomatological Association (FEAOREESENEIEEE) and the
chairman of the 4th Periodontology Professional Committee of the
Chinese Stomatological Association (/%M 822 550U E 7F FR
BEHEZET)

Mr. Zhang received a bachelor’'s degree in medicine from the
School of Medicine of the Zhejiang University (#IiTERIAZ)
(formerly known as Zhejiang Medical University (7T ERIAER))
in Zhejiang Province, the PRC in August 1983. He obtained a
master's degree in medicine in December 1986 and a doctoral
degree in clinical medicine in June 1989 from the West China
Medical Center of Sichuan University (PO)I|AE2ZEEPEEEH ],
(formerly known as the West China Medical University (ZFREFR]
KE)) in Sichuan Province, the PRC. Mr. Zhang completed the
postdoctoral training from the School of Dentistry of the University
of California, San Francisco in California, the US in December
1992.

Mr. ZOU Jianlong (##%I8€), aged 61, is the executive Director
and vice president. Mr. Zou joined the Group in April 1999. He has
been the Director since March 2020 and was re-designated as an
executive Director in June 2021. He is responsible for overseeing
procurement and supply, administration, compliance and other
departments of the Group. As one of our most senior employees,
Mr. Zou helped the Group in market development in Shenzhen
and Shanghai and served as head of operations. He took the lead
in the establishment and daily operation of various middle office
departments such as marketing, human resources, investment
development, engineering management and compliance, and has
made a significant contribution to the development of the Group
over the past 20 years. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zou served
as a manager of administration and human resources department
in Shenzhen Haibin Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (FII/EEREFRE A
al) from July 1995 to June 1998.
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Mr. Zou received a bachelor's degree in science from Jiangxi
Normal University (JLFAEI# AZ) (formerly known as Jiangxi
Normal College ((IFaEM#E£2fT)) in Jiangxi Province, the PRC in
July 1983. He obtained a master’s degree in engineering from the
University of Science and Technology Beijing (It REHZAE) in
Beijing, the PRC in January 1991.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. LIU Xiaomei Michelle, aged 55, is the independent non-
executive Director. She is responsible for providing independent
opinion and judgment to the Board.

From December 2003 to December 2010, she served as a
managing director at Beijing Lianban Investment Management
Co., Ltd. (It Bt EEEHBPRAF) and responsible for
investment and financing activities. Since December 2010, Ms.
Liu has served as the chief financial officer in Hexun Information
Technology Co., Ltd. (M&E BERHEERAF]), which focuses on
internet services and responsible for the financial management
and strategic investment and financing of the company.

Ms. Liu received her bachelor’'s degree in finance from the
University of International Business and Economics ($9MEEE 5
KE) (formerly known as the China Institute of Finance (1 E & &t
EB3)) in July 1991. She further received her master of business
administration degree (MBA) from the Wharton School of the
University of Pennsylvania in May 1997.

Mr. SUN Jian (%), aged 68, is the independent non-executive
Director. He is primarily responsible for providing independent
opinion and judgment to the Board. Mr. Sun currently serves as an
executive director of Brayn International Corporation Limited (18
BEBRRHBRAT]), a company principally engaged in business
consultancy services, since January 2020. He was appointed as a
partner emerita (&£ HBEEG% A) of AT. Kearney Inc. (RHREE
AT in April 2018. Mr. Sun served as a senior global partner
of A.T. Kearney (Hong Kong) Limited (BIffE (&%) AR A7) and
A.T. Kearney (Shanghai) Management Consulting Co., Ltd. (£tf
fE (&) LA A F]) from December 1994 to March 2018.
Prior to that, he served as a business analyst in Eastman Kodak
Company Medical Imaging Branch (flZ QG BEZE D A7) from
July 1994 to November 1994.

B ER1983F 7 AEBF BT AA I AAHE A2
(BIFB I PR eI 220y ) IR B4 2T o 19914
1 AESHEIL T RR R ASBN TREBBE LB -

BYFHTES

BIRMEL L 555 REMIFNITEFT - HAER
ExgRMBELE RMAE -

R2003F 12 AE2010F 12 A » =T 4t S %
EERERARNEZHLE AERMEED -8
201012 A » Bl T H/AMFE BRHEER A A
(ZRARFFREHMBRE) NEEVHE  BEZ
DNEIMPHEE R ERERE -

B2z +M 199167 ARG EIMEEE 5 K2 (Rl i+
BSRER) e BBt BT - 199745 A
—HEBSES AR T RBREEERN T EEIER
4 (MBA)ET o

BREBELE 685 ABVIENTEE MEIEEE
MESQREBLERTMHAE - HEEBH2020F1
RESEEBEEREROBRAR (—REEHRSE
REAZRARBNAAT) MBITES - 7 2018F 44
EETANBETEANARINKEZEEAEA -
B AEM19944F 12 AE2018F3 AEIRIABE (F
B)ERABIRMBE (LE) CEZXBERAFMN
BAREERABA c EWZA R 1994F 7 AE
1994 11 AEENERRBEELED RRNERKD
TR o



Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Sun received a bachelor's degree in engineering from the
East China University of Science and Technology (FERET
KE) (formerly known as the East China Institute of Chemical
Technology (22#{t T2F%)) in Shanghai, the PRC in May 1982. He
obtained a master’'s degree in economics through on job learning
from the Shanghai Academy of Social Sciences (/& &R Z0R)
in Shanghai, the PRC in August 1986. Mr. Sun received a master’s
degree in business administration (MBA) from the Simon Business
School at the University of Rochester in New York, the US in June
1994. He received a doctoral degree of arts from China Academy
of Art (FREIZEMTE2R) in Zhejiang Province, the PRC in June 2019.

Mr. ZHANG Bang (3R#E), aged 55, is the independent non-
executive Director. He is primarily responsible for providing
independent opinion and judgment to the Board.

Mr. Zhang is currently the chief corporate officer of Octave
(Shanghai) Enterprise Management Company Limited (&£ (_£)&)
EEEHRAF), having held that position since April 2018. Mr.
Zhang served as the chief financial officer of DG Group (Z:&(&
%% ®) from February 2016 to February 2018 and Golden Jaguar
Group (£ HEEEE) from November 2013 to November 2015.
He served as the senior vice president and chief financial officer
of Mai Wang Information Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (ZE#{=
BT (£8) BRAF]), a subsidiary of MecoxLane Co. Ltd. (2%
#EEE), a company previously listed on the NASDAQ with stock
code MCOX, from July 2009 to October 2013.

Mr. Zhang was an independent director of ChinaCache
International Holdings Limited, a company listed on NASDAQ with
stock code CCIH, from July 2017 to November 2020. Currently,
Mr. Zhang holds directorships in the following listed companies:
(i) independent director of Jupai, a company listed on NYSE with
stock code JP and since July 2015; and (ii) independent non-
executive director of E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Stock exchange with stock code 2048
since July 2018.

He received his master’'s degree in business administration
in June 2001 from Jinan University (Bf8AZ) in China. Mr.
Zhang is both a fellow of the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants and a chartered global management accountant of
the Association of International Certified Professional Accountants.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. ZOU Qifang (#H%), aged 69, also acts as the chief
executive officer of the Company. He is responsible for overall
strategic planning and business direction planning, supervising
and management of the Group’s business. Please see section
headed “Mr. ZOU Qifang — Executive Directors” above for details
of his biography.

Ms. Qin Jessie XIN, aged 53, also acts as the chief financial
officer of the Company. She is responsible for supervising
accounting and financing of the Group. Please see section
headed “Ms. Qin Jessie XIN - Executive Directors” above for
details of her biography.

Mr. ZHANG Jincai (E87), aged 60, also acts as the chief
medical officer and general manager of hospitals and clinics of
the Company. He is responsible for overseeing medical services
of the Group and operations of our dental hospitals and clinics.
Please see section headed “Mr. ZHANG Jincai - Executive
Directors” above for details of his biography.

Mr. ZOU Jianlong (8 %I8€), aged 61, is one of the vice presidents
of the Company. He is responsible for overseeing, procurement
and supply, administration, compliance and other departments
of the Group. Please see section headed “Mr. ZOU Jianlong —
Executive Directors” above for details of his biography.

Mr. QU Bo (H#i%h), aged 54, was appointed as the vice president
and chief operation officer of the Company in October 2020. He is
responsible for overseeing operations of the Group. Mr. Qu joined
the Group in May 2007.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Qu served as a lawyer at Liaoning
Fada Law Firm (BEEZEKXEMELFT) (formerly known as Dalian
Fada Law Firm (REAREZERIELFT)) from December 1992 to
June 1995. He served as a manager of mainland China business
in Van Yu Trading Company Limited (E58 K E 5 AR A7) from
June 1997 to January 2002.

Mr. Qu received his bachelor’s degree in law from the Law School
of the Jilin University (F#MAZ) in China in July 1990. He further
received his master’'s degree in international business from the
Ohio State University in the US in March 1998. He received his
master of business administration (MBA) degree from the York
University, Canada in June 2004 and recognized by the Chinese
Service Center for Scholarly Exchange of the Ministry of Education
in November 2006.
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Mr. ZHU Zhenghong (%RIEZ), aged 56, was appointed as the
vice president of the Group and general manager of Rytime in
December 2022. He is responsible for overall operation and
management of Rytime Dental in various geographic regions. Mr.
Zhu joined the Group in December 2020.

Before joining the Group, Mr. Zhu served as a deputy director
of the stomatology section of Beijing Tongren Hospital (1E5[E
{ZEBT) from September 2000 to February 2005, vice dean and
dean of Nanjing Tongren Hospital (FRE{Z%FT) from July 2007
to December 2010 and executive vice president of Hainan HNA
Health Management Co., Ltd. (BF/EMEREIZERAF]) from
March 2013 to July 2015. Mr. Zhu joined Taikang Life Insurance
Co., Ltd. (FERBEERKMHERALIEF) in July 2015 to serve as
general manager of its medicare development division and vice
president of TK Healthcare Investment Holdings Company Limited
(FEEEEEREERABEMRAR) (“Taikang”), and had served as
the chief executive officer of Taikang Bybo Medical Group Co.,
Lid. (REHEBEESEARAT) following Taikang's strategic
investment in Bybo Medical Group Co., Ltd. (BEBEEEEEGRA
A]) in April 2018.

Mr. Zhu holds a bachelor’'s degree from West China Medical
University, a master's degree and a doctoral degree from Peking
University School and Hospital of Stomatology and an EMBA
degree from China Europe International Business School.

Mr. HU Yunfan (#ZEM), aged 45, was appointed as the deputy
general manager of hospitals and clinics in October 2020. He is
responsible for overseeing the daily operations and management
of our dental hospitals and clinics. Mr. Hu joined the Group in
April 2009.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Hu served as the director in
charge of international liaison department of the National Olympic
Committee Liaison Office of the Beijing Organizing Committee for
the Games of the XXIX Olympic (3t R 29/EBMIC w BB & A4 %
) from June 2006 to April 2009. He was awarded the excellent
staff of 2007 and 2008 by the Beijing Organizing Committee for
the Games of the XXIX Olympic (Jt RE29/E BT @B e AL E

Bg)
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Mr. Hu received his bachelor’'s degree in science from the
University of Auckland in May 2004.

Mr. HU Xing (#£), aged 39, was appointed as the deputy
general manager of hospitals and clinics in December 2020. He
is responsible for overseeing the operations and management of
our dental hospitals and clinics in west China. Mr. Hu served as
a deputy general manager at Chongging Huaxi Dental Clinic Co.,
Ltd. (EEMERREFMZER AR, currently known as Chongging
Ruisheng) from April 2009 to December 2014 and Chongging
Jiuyue from December 2014 to January 2016. Upon completion of
the acquisition of Chongging Ruisheng and Chongging Jiuyue in
August 2015, Mr Hu joined the Group.

Prior to joining the Group, he served as an auditor in KPMG,
London from 2006 to 2007. Mr. Hu served as an analyst of ECM
and merger and acquisition department in ABN AMRO, Hong
Kong from June 2007 to March 2009.

Mr. Hu received his bachelor's degree in mathematics and
business management from the University of Warwick in July 2005.
He further received his master’'s degree in finance from University
of Cambridge in July 2006.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. AU Wai Ching (EZ#&), was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company in April 2022. Ms. Au is a senior
manager of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong)
Limited, which is a corporate service provider.

Ms. Au is an associate member of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in
the United Kingdom.

She obtained a bachelor’'s degree in business administration
and a master’'s degree in professional accounting and corporate
governance respectively from City University of Hong Kong.

CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors confirm that no information
is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.
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The Board is pleased to present this Report of the Directors
together with the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended March 31, 2023.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the BVl on May 23, 2001 as a
company limited by shares. On November 16, 2020, our Company
discontinued as a company incorporated under BVI Business
Companies Act 2004 (as amended) and was registered by way
of continuation as an exempted company limited by shares under
the Cayman Companies Act. The Company’s Shares were listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on March 22, 2022.

DIRECTORS

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. ZOU Qifang (B EF)
Ms. Qin Jessie XIN

Mr. ZHANG Jincai (Z5874)
Mr. ZOU Jianlong (#F%88)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. LIU Xiaomei Michelle
Mr. SUN Jian (F&{&)
Mr. ZHANG Bang (&%)

In accordance with article 109(a) and (b) of the Article of
Association, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation.
However, if the number of Directors is not a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to but not less than one-third shall be
the number of retiring Directors. Every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. The Directors to retire in
each year shall be those who have been in office longest since
their last re-election or appointment but, as between persons who
became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day, those
to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be
determined by lot.

Directors’ Report
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Accordingly, Mr. ZHANG Jincai, Ms. LIU Xiaomei Michelle and
Mr. SUN Jian will retire by rotation at the AGM pursuant to the
Articles of Association and, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election. Details in relation to the re-election are stated in the
circular to be sent to the Shareholders together with this annual
report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
the principal activities of our major subsidiaries are set out in Note
18 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 243 to 246
of this annual report.

We are a leading dental services group and have established
a nationwide footprint in China, operating both Arrail Dental, a
leading premium dental services brand, and Rytime Dental, a
middle-end dental services brand.

Our mission is to give each of our patients a healthy and confident
smile. Our vision is to become a world-leading dental group. Our
vision is to become a world-leading dental group.

We have been providing dental services since we opened our
first Arrail Dental clinic in 1999. We offer a diverse range of
professional, personalized dental services spanning (i) general
dentistry; (ii) orthodontics; and (iii) implantology. Through decades
of commitment and endeavors in the dental healthcare industry,
we have earned the trust of our patients.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Company’s
principal activities during the Reporting Period.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND RESULTS

A fair review of the business of the Group and an indication of
likely future development in the Company’s business during the
Reporting Period is provided in the section headed “Business
Review” under “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this
annual report. An analysis of the Group’'s performance using
financial key performance indicators during the Reporting Period
is provided in the section headed “Financial Review” under
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.
These sections form an integral part of this Directors’ Report.

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACING
THE GROUP

The following list is a summary of certain principal risks and
uncertainties faced by the Group, some of which are beyond its
control:

. We may not be able to achieve and maintain an optimal
balance between our business expansion and profitability
by effectively managing the number and mix of our
hospitals and clinics in different stages;

o The establishment of dental hospitals and clinics in the
PRC require various permits, licenses, certificates and
government approvals. There can be no assurance that we
can obtain or renew any of them in a timely manner or at
all;

o We lease properties in various place as premises for our
dental hospitals and clinics and office space. Any non-
renewal of leases, substantial increase in rent, or any
failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations may
affect our business and financial performance;

o We conduct our business in a heavily regulated industry
and incur on-going compliance costs as well as face
penalties for non-compliance;

° Our professional indemnity insurance coverage and other
insurance coverage may not be sufficient to cover the risks
related to our business and operations;

. We are dependent on our dentists. Our financial results
may be affected if we are not able to retain our existing
dentists or attract suitable professionals to join us;

° We may be subject to complaints, investigations or legal
proceedings relating to alleged malpractice or misconduct
in the services provided by our employees, which could
harm our reputation, brand image and results of operations;

o Our expansion strategies across the PRC are subject to
uncertainties and risks. We may not be able to implement
our business strategies on schedule or within our budget
or at all;
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o We may not be able to protect our patient information from
leakage or improper use, which could expose our Group
and our staff to claims or litigation;

o We maintain limited control over the quality of our dental
devices, medical consumables and pharmaceuticals and
may be subject to product liability claims. Any failures
or defects of the dental equipment in our hospitals and
clinics or any failure of our staff to properly operate such
equipment could subject us to liability claims;

° We generally enter into short-term agreements with our
major suppliers, which may render us vulnerable to price
fluctuations, quality issues and supply shortages, and
could materially and adversely affect our business; and

o We operate our business under the Contractual
Arrangements, and is therefore subject to the related risks
which are summarised in the section headed “Directors’
Report — Contractual Arrangements — Risks relating to the
Contractual Arrangements” in this annual report.

However, the above is not an exhaustive list. Investors are advised
to make their own judgment or consult their own investment
advisors before making any investment in the Shares.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

As one of the leading dental services providers in China, we
understand that environmental, social and governance is of great
importance for our long-time development and growth. During
the year ended March 31, 2023 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Group was not subject to any fines or other penalties
due to non-compliance with environmental regulations.

We are subject to, and we comply with the environmental
protection and occupational health and safety laws and
regulations in China. The Group is committed to minimising the
impact on the environment from its business activities. For details
of the Group’s environmental protection measures, please refer
to the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” (the “ESG
Report”) of the Company which will be published on the same
date with this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group
complied in all material aspects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group during the Reporting Period. For the year
ended March 31, 2023, there was no material breach of, or non-
compliance with, applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As of March 31, 2023, the Group had 3,409 full-time employees.

We believe that maintaining a stable and motivated employee
force is critical to the success of our business. We offer our
employees different remuneration packages based on their
positions. Generally, the remuneration structure of our employees
includes salary, benefits and bonus. Our compensation programs
are designed to remunerate our employees based on their
performance, measured against specified objective criteria. We
maintain standard employee benefit plans required by PRC laws
and regulations, including housing fund contribution, pension
insurance, medical insurance, workplace injury insurance,
unemployment insurance, and maternity insurance.

The Company also has adopted the RSU Scheme and the 2022
RSU Scheme to provide incentives for certain employees. Please
refer to the section headed “Share Incentive Scheme” in this
annual report for further details.

The total remuneration cost incurred by the Group for the year
ended March 31, 2023 was RMB962.2 million.

For the year ended March 31, 2023, the Group did not experience
any material labor disputes or strikes that may have a material
and adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results
of operations, or any difficulty in recruiting employees.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, our major suppliers primarily
consisted of dental equipment, consumable and dental supplies,
including anesthetics and other medicine, dental prosthesis
(such as crowns, bridges and dentures), materials used in dental
procedures (such as impression materials, filling materials and
cements), dental instruments (such as extraction forceps, injection
needles, root canal files and orthodontic brackets and aligners),
consumables (such as facial masks, disposable gloves, dental
bibs, plastic cups and gauze) and suppliers for human resources
service.

For the year ended March 31, 2023, purchases from the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 30.2% (2022:
32.0%) of the Group’s total purchase amount in the same year.
Purchases from the Group’s largest supplier for the year ended
March 31, 2023 accounted for approximately 12.9% (2022: 14.9%)
of the Group’s total purchase amount for the same year.

Hangzhou Shengchao, a connected person, was our second
largest supplier for the year ended March 31, 2023 and accounted
for 7.2% of the Group’s total purchase amount during the same
period. Save for Hangzhou Shengchao, none of the Directors,
their respective close associates, or any Shareholders, to the
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital, had any interest in any of the Group’s five
largest suppliers for the year ended March 31, 2023.

For the year ended March 31, 2023, the Group did not experience
any significant disputes with its suppliers.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

Our customers mainly consist of individual patients and corporate
clients. For the year ended March 31, 2023, the Group's five
largest customers accounted for 1.3% (2022: 1.3%) of the Group’s
total revenue, and the Group’s largest customer accounted for
0.4% (2022: 0.4%) of the Group’s total revenue.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates, or any
Shareholders, to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital, had any interest in any
of the Group’s five largest customers for the year ended March
31, 2023.
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During the year ended March 31, 2023, the Group did not
experience any significant disputes with its customers.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that various stakeholders including
suppliers, customers, employees, Shareholders and other
business associates are key to Group’s success. The Group
strives to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging,
collaborating, and cultivating strong relationship with them.

Relationship with Our Employees

We endeavor to cultivate talented and loyal employees by treating
our employees with dignity, respect and fairness. We invest in staff
training as we believe the level of technical knowledge and skill
of our dentists plays an important role in our continued success.
We organize various training programs on a regular basis for
our employees to constantly enhance their knowledge and
improve their professional skills. We offer our employees different
remuneration packages based on their positions. We enter into
employment contracts with our employees to cover matters such
as wages, benefits and grounds for termination. The remuneration
package of our employees usually includes salary, benefits and
bonus. We maintain standard employee benefit plans required by
PRC laws and regulations, including housing fund contribution,
pension insurance, medical insurance, workplace injury insurance,
unemployment insurance, and maternity insurance.

Relationship with Shareholders

We recognize the importance of protecting the interests of the
Shareholders and of having effective communication with them.
We believe communication with the Shareholders is a two-way
process and have thrived to ensure the quality and effectiveness
of information disclosure, maintain regular dialogue with the
Shareholders and listen carefully to the views and feedback
from the Shareholders. We also recognize the importance of
timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which will
enable the Shareholders and investors to make the informed
investment decisions. This has been done through general
meetings, corporate communications, annual reports and results
announcements.
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Relationship with Suppliers

The Group selects its suppliers by considering their product
quality, industry reputation and compliance with relevant
regulations and industry standards. The Group has maintained
strict control over the quality of services offered by its suppliers.
The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers to meet its immediate and long-
term goals. It strives to cultivate a mutually beneficial and trusting
relationship with its suppliers so that they are able to deliver
services of the highest standard in an efficient manner.

Relationship with Customers

We have developed a growing and loyal customer base. Our
customers are primarily individual patients, and to a lesser extent,
corporate clients such as corporations, industry-leading banks
and insurance companies who provide dental care benefits to
their employees and/or customers. We proactively seek patients’
feedback on our services in order to improve. To assess our
patient experience, we encourage patients to fill out a brief
customer satisfaction survey after each clinic visit. Our patients
can also direct their feedback to our dentists and other staff. In
addition, a customer service hotline is in place whereby patients
can make inquiries and complaints to the customer service team.
We conduct internal review on typical patient complaints and the
appropriate rectification measures on a weekly basis, aiming to
prevent occurrence of complaints of a similar nature.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The financial results of the Group for the year ended March 31,
2023 are set out in the consolidated income statement in the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the
existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company'’s securities.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 18 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and the Group for the year ended March 31, 2023 are
set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company for
the year ended March 31, 2023 and details of the Shares issued
for the year ended March 31, 2023 are set out in Note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Group did not issue any debenture for the year ended March
31, 2023.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the RSU Scheme and the 2022 RSU Scheme as set out in
this annual report, no equity-linked agreements were entered into
by the Group, or existed for the year ended March 31, 2023, and
there was no provision to enter into any agreement which will or
may result in the Company issuing Shares.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group donated RMB150,000 to the non-profit organization for
charitable and community purposes during the Reporting Period.

DIVIDENDS

To preserve sufficient funds to meet the financial needs of
the Group for its business operations and future business
development, having regard to the impact on the Group’s
business and financial conditions arising from the COVID-19
pandemic, and the prevailing economic environment, the Board
did not recommend the distribution of a final dividend for the year
ended March 31, 2023.
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The Company is a holding company registered under the laws of
the Cayman Islands. As a result, the payment and amount of any
future dividend will also depend on the availability of dividends
received from the subsidiaries. Distributions from the Company
and the subsidiaries may also become subject to any restrictive
covenants in bank credit facilities, convertible bond instruments
or other agreements that the Company and the subsidiaries may
enter into in the future.

The amount of dividend actually distributed to the Shareholders
will depend upon our earnings and financial condition, operating
requirements, capital requirements and any other conditions that
the Directors may deem relevant and will be subject to approval
of the Shareholders. The Board has the absolute discretion to
recommend any dividend. We currently intend to retain most, if not
all, of our available funds and any future earnings after the Global
Offering to fund the development and growth of our business.
As a result, we do not expect to pay any cash dividends in the
foreseeable future.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the
applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in or
about the execution of their duty in their offices.

Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force for the
year ended March 31, 2023. The Company has taken out and
maintained liability insurance to provide appropriate coverage for
the Directors.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company may pay dividends out of the share premium
account, retained earnings and any other reserves provided
that immediately following the payment of such dividends, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

As of March 31, 2023, the Company did not retain any profits
under IFRS as reserves available for distribution to our equity
Shareholders.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year ended March 31, 2023 are set out in
Note 39(a) to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as
at March 31, 2023 are set out in Note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

As of the date of this annual report, the Company has not entered

into any loan agreement which contains covenants requiring
specific performance of the Controlling Shareholders.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our executive Directors entered into a service contract
with our Company, pursuant to which each of them agrees to
act as an executive Director (as the case may be), subject to
re-election as and when required under the Articles of Association,
until terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the service contract.

Each of our independent non-executive Directors entered into
an appointment letter with our Company. The initial term for the
appointment letters shall be three years and is subject always to
re-election as and when required under the Articles of Association,
until terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the appointment letter.

The above appointments are always subject to the provisions
of retirement and rotation of directors under the Articles of
Association.

None of the Directors has an unexpired service contract which is
not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

—Connected
—Contractual Arrangements” below, to

Save as disclosed in the section headed
Transactions” and “
the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors nor
any entity connected with the Directors had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party subsisting during or at the end of the year ended March 31,

2023.

DIRECTORS AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors and
the Controlling Shareholders was interested in any business which
competes with or is likely to compete with the businesses of the
Group for the year ending March 31, 2023 and require disclosure
under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed for the year ended March 31, 2023.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY OR ANY OF ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As of March 31, 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors or chief executives of our Company and their associates
in any of the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of our
Company or its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code were as follows:
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Number Approximate
of Shares/ Percentage of
Name of Director Underlying Shareholding
or Chief Executive Nature of Interest Shares Held Interest®
MEENRE HRERBY
EEYRESTHRABRSE ERMEE HERDHE Bk
Mr. ZOU Qifang Beneficial owner 15,111,775(L) 2.60%
BHFZFTAE EmfEA
Interest in controlled corporations® 9,920,675(L) 1.71%
MR EE #ER®
Founder of discretionary trust® 48,671,025(L) 8.37%
WIS EFERIZA®
Interest of a party to an agreement® 107,678,800(L) 18.51%
WERI TR
Ms. Qin Jessie XIN Beneficial owner 1,125,000(L) 0.19%
FHL L BEmEBA
Interest in controlled corporations® 1,250,000(L) 0.21%
NI EEERO
Mr. ZHANG Jincai Beneficial owner 1,194,500(L) 0.21%
B4k E EmfEA
Mr. ZOU Jianlong Beneficial owner 3,813,650(L) 0.66%
Bk BEmREBA
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Notes: Biat -

1. Calculated based on 581,591,950 total issued Shares of the 1.
Company as of March 31, 2023.

2. Beier Holdings Limited holds 9,920,675 Shares directly, which 2.
is wholly owned by Mr. ZOU Qifang. Therefore, Mr. Zou is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Beier Holdings
Limited under the SFO.

3. Mingda International Limited holds 18,500,000 Shares 3.
directly, which is in turn wholly owned by Rise Day Holdings
Limited. On the other hand, Rise Day Holdings Limited holds
30,171,025 Shares directly, which is in turn wholly owned by
United Culture Assets Limited, a BVI company wholly owned
by an independent trustee entrusted by Mr. Zou. A family trust
was established over United Culture Assets Limited for the
benefits of Mr. Zou and his family members accordingly, of
which Mr. Zou acts as the protector and settlor. Therefore, Mr.
Zou is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by each of
them under the SFO.

4. The Board has set up Arrail Sunshine as a platform in the 4.

BVI to hold incentive shares for the participants under the
RSU Scheme. The voting rights of the Shares held by Arrail
Sunshine (including Shares held in favour of the participants
other than Mr. Zou) is held by Mr. Zou by way of proxy.
Therefore, Mr. Zou is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by Arrail Sunshine (including Shares held in favour of the
participants other than Mr. Zou) under the SFO.

5. Mismic Limited holds 1,250,000 Shares, which is a BVI 5.
company wholly owned by an independent trustee entrusted
by Ms. Xin for a family trust established for the benefits of Ms.
Xin and her family members. Therefore, Ms. Xin is deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by it under the SFO.

6. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares. 6.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As of March 31, 2023, so far as the Directors are aware, the
following persons (other than the Directors or chief executives of
the Company or their associates) had interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or will,
directly or indirectly, be interested in 5% or more of the nominal
value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at the general meetings of the Company or any
other members of the Group:
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FERE,HERE
Number of Approximate
Name of substantial shareholder Nature of interest Shares percentage®
FTERRER REmEME R4 E BAOEDED
Rise Day Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 30,171,025(L) 5.19%
BEHERA
Interest in controlled 18,500,000(L) 3.18%
corporations®
MR EEER®
United Culture Assets Limited Interest in controlled 48,671,025(L) 8.37%
corporations®
R EEER?
Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited Trustee® 48,671,025(L) 8.37%
HIEA®
Arrail Sunshine Holdings Limited Beneficial owner® 116,658,662(L) 20.06%
BEmEBANO
KASTLE LIMITED Trustee® 121,949,662(L) 20.97%
=TEARRARA ZEEA®
Elbrus Investments Pte. Ltd. Beneficial owner® 58,237,675(L) 10.01%

EHRmBEHAO
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Name of substantial shareholder

FERREE

Nature of interest

M

Shares/Underlying Shares Held
as of March 31, 2023
B E2023F3H31H
AR e . HERG

Number of
Shares

R EE

Approximate
percentage®
BABEZ O

Temasek Life Sciences Private Limited

Fullerton Management Pte Ltd

Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited

Total Success Investment Ltd.

19 Growth Capital Fund LP

Empire Choice International Limited

Roger K C Young

19 Growth Capital Fund GP Inc.

John Paul Buckley

Zheng Zhang

Broad Street Investments Holding (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.

BSPI Holdings, L.L.C.

Interest in controlled
corporations®
NI EEERO
Interest in controlled
corporations®
REEE#ER
Interest in controlled
corporations®
RRIEEEERO
Beneficial owner®
E=BEBANO
Interest in controlled
corporations®
REEEEER©
Interest in controlled
corporations®
R EE RO
Interest in controlled
corporations®
REEEEER©
Interest in controlled
corporations®
REIEEE RO
Interest in controlled
corporations®
REEEEER©
Interest in controlled
corporations®
REIEEE RO
Beneficial owner™
EnEaAD
Interest in controlled
corporations”

R EEERD

58,237,675(L)

58,237,675(L)

58,237,675(L)

49,476,900 (L)

49,476,900 (L)

49,476,900 (L)

49,476,900 (L)

49,476,900 (L)

49,476,900 (L)

49,476,900 (L)

36,719,500(L)

36,719,500(L)

10.01%

10.01%

10.01%

8.51%

8.51%

8.51%

8.51%

8.51%

8.51%

8.51%

6.31%

6.31%
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Shares/Underlying Shares Held
as of March 31, 2023
B E2023F3H31H

FsanRE, HERG
Number of Approximate
Name of substantial shareholder Nature of interest Shares percentage®
FTERRER EEME R#oEE BAOEIED
Broad Street Principal Investments, L.L.C. Interest in controlled 36,719,500(L) 6.31%
corporations”
REEEEERD
BSPI Intermediate Holdings, L.L.C. Interest in controlled 36,719,500(L) 6.31%
corporations”
R EE#ERD
Broad Street Principal Investments Superholdco LLC  Interest in controlled 44,063,400(L) 7.58%
corporations”
REEEEERD
GOLDMAN SACHS & CO. LLC Interest in controlled 44,063,400(L) 7.58%
corporations”)
R EE#ERD
The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. Interest in controlled 45,637,400(L) 7.85%
corporations®) 2,257,600(S) 0.39%
REFEE RSO
KPCB China Associates, Ltd. Interest in controlled 31,121,900(L) 5.35%

corporations®
RE B

Notes:

Calculated based on 581,591,950 total issued Shares of the
Company as of March 31, 2023.

Mingda International Limited holds 18,500,000 Shares directly,
which is in turn wholly owned by Rise Day Holdings Limited.
Under the SFO, Rise Day Holdings Limited is deemed to be
interest in the Shares held by Mingda International Limited. On
the other hand, Rise Day Holdings Limited is held by United
Culture Assets Limited, which is a BVI company wholly owned
by an independent trustee entrusted by Mr. ZOU Qifang. A
family trust was established over United Culture Assets Limited
for the benefits of Mr. Zou and his family members accordingly,
of which Mr. Zou acts as the protector and settlor, and Trident
Trust Company (HK) Limited is the trustee of the family trust.
Therefore, Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited and United
Culture Assets Limited are deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Rise Day Holdings Limited under the SFO.

wit -

(1.

BIBEHE2023FE3 A31 HARRQA T D BTN
#(581,591,950 %1 & -

Mingda International LimitedE#&E# A&
18,500,000% f% 15 * MMingda International
Limited @ Rise Day Holdings Limited& &
B o IRIEFESH LEEEA - Rise Day Holdings
Limited ¥ % &M Mingda International Limited
BAENRMDPEAE#EZ - LI Rise Day
Holdings Limited@United Culture Assets
Limited (—REBBEF EEEZRNBE LT
ANEEBRENEABERAHERR)HEE -
NBEERERKKRBE AL ANREET
#iBUnited Culture Assets Limited &%
Vo ERPEERREARMERTA M
Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited %%
HREFRHNZREA Bt BREZFFLBER
i » Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited &
United Culture Assets Limited#4% &7 Rise
Day Holdings Limited#5 B &8I DR G % o
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Arrail Sunshine is a platform in the BVI set up by the Board
to hold incentive shares of the Company, for the participants
under the RSU Scheme. The voting rights of Arrail Sunshine is
held by Mr. ZOU Qifang by way of proxy.

KASTLE LIMITED, a company incorporated in Hong Kong,
is the trustee (which is independent of and not a connected
person of the Company) appointed by the Company for the
administration of the RSU Scheme and 2022 RSU Scheme.
KASTLE LIMITED is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by Arrail Sunshine and Arrail Revival Holdings Limited,
the platforms holding underlying Shares for RSU Scheme and
2022 RSU Scheme, under the SFO.

Elbrus Investments Pte. Ltd. is a company incorporated in
Singapore, which is wholly owned by Temasek Life Sciences
Private Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by Fullerton
Management Pte Ltd, which is in turn wholly owned by
Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited. Under the SFO, each of
Temasek Life Sciences Private Limited, Fullerton Management
Pte Ltd and Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited is deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by Elbrus Investments Pte.
Ltd.

Total Success Investment Ltd. is an investment holding
company incorporated in the Cayman lIslands and is wholly
owned by 19 Growth Capital Fund LP, a limited partnership
registered in the State of Delaware. Empire Choice International
Limited is the limited partner of 19 Growth Capital Fund LP,
which is wholly owned by Roger K C Young. 19 Growth Capital
Fund GP Inc. is the general partner of 19 Growth Capital Fund
LP, and 19 Growth Capital Fund GP Inc. is owned as to 60%
by John Paul Buckley and 40% by Zheng Zhang. Under the
SFO, 19 Growth Capital Fund LP, Empire Choice International
Limited, Roger K C Young, 19 Growth Capital Fund GP Inc.,
John Paul Buckley and Zheng Zhang are deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Total Success Investment Ltd..

Arrail SunshineAESEeRNREH#R RS
BUMFEE - ARBEZBRHIRHOEMTE A
SEEFGEAARRMDAHEBRD o Arrail
Sunshine )% S i R BB H 55 % A AR IE 75 X FF
5o

RTEARAR  —RREEIMAZLHA
A AARAZEUNEERZRGIRMD B E
R2022 F R B HIR M BLLAAEIR A (B
MARF AW EARRIFEAL) - REBEEFK
HE A - ZLEERARHEE RS BIRArrail
Sunshine 2 Arrail Revival Holdings Limited
(9 BIFEHE X R &I Mk n B st 8 R 2022 F Z R
B AL A BB B &) A SR m
BEAER -

Elbrus Investments Pte. Ltd. B— XK ¥
MM LB AT - BTemasek Life
Sciences Private Limited2& %A © m
Temasek Life Sciences Private Limitedf
Fullerton Management Pte Ltd2&#4 -
Fullerton Management Pte Ltdm#% &
B(FRA)BRABZERS - BEZEHFK
HRE (&%) - Temasek Life Sciences Private
Limited ~ Fullerton Management Pte Ltd}&
#EHIER (FLA) BRAFHER AR Elbrus
Investments Pte. Ltd. 3B KRN B #am o

Total Success Investment Ltd. 5—RAH 2
HEEMA IR EZER AR - 19 Growth
Capital Fund LP (& —KE5H MM
ERAEDLH¥)EEHE - Empire Choice
International LimitedZ19 Growth Capital
Fund LPHBEREE A - XBERoger K C
YoungZ®&#%A - 19 Growth Capital Fund
GP Inc.7219 Growth Capital Fund LP&)—#%
A% A © M19 Growth Capital Fund GP Inc.
fiJohn Paul Buckley & Zheng Zhang# 5l#
B60% NA0% VR - RIEZEH RBEED -
19 Growth Capital Fund LP ~ Empire Choice
International Limited * Roger K C Young *
19 Growth Capital Fund GP Inc. * John
Paul Buckley&Zheng Zhang#1% & Total
Success Investment Ltd. #4& #If% {5 & # 5 1

S o

BX



Broad Street Investments Holding (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.,
a company incorporated under the laws of the Republic
of Singapore, is wholly owned by BSPI Holdings, L.L.C..
Stonebridge 2017 (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. holds 7,343,900 Shares
directly, which is a company incorporated under the laws of
the Republic of Singapore. Stonebridge 2017 (Singapore) Pte.
Ltd. is held by multiple employee funds of The Goldman Sachs
Group, Inc., among which, the general partner of the funds is
a wholly owned subsidiary of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc..
Under the SFO, each of BSPI Holdings, L.L.C. (as the sole
shareholder of Broad Street Investments Holding (Singapore)
Pte. Ltd.), Broad Street Principal Investments, L.L.C. and BSPI
Intermediate Holdings, L.L.C. (each as a 50% shareholder of
BSPI Holdings, L.L.C.), Broad Street Principal Investments,
L.L.C. (as the sole shareholder of BSPI Intermediate Holdings,
L.L.C.), Broad Street Principal Investments Superholdco LLC
(as the sole shareholder of Broad Street Principal Investments,
L.L.C.), GOLDMAN SACHS & CO. LLC and The Goldman
Sachs Group, Inc. (as the sole shareholder of Broad Street
Principal Investments Superholdco LLC) are deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Broad Street Investments
Holding (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.. In addition, each of Broad
Street Principal Investments, L.L.C., Broad Street Principal
Investments Superholdco LLC, GOLDMAN SACHS & CO. LLC
and The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. are also deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Stonebridge 2017 (Singapore)
Pte. Ltd..

Goldman Sachs International holds 1,574,000 Shares in long
position and 2,257,600 Shares in short position directly, which
is in turn wholly owned by Goldman Sachs Group UK Limited.
On the other hand, Goldman Sachs Group UK Limited is wholly
owned by Goldman Sachs (UK) L.L.C. which in turn is wholly
owned by The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.. Under the SFO,
Goldman Sachs Group UK Limited, Goldman Sachs (UK)
L.L.C. and The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. are deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Goldman Sachs International.

@).
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Broad Street Investments Holding
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. A—SARE#H i £ F0
BAGI MKz AF - BABSPI Holdings,
L.L.C.2%# %A °Stonebridge 2017
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. (A —RBEF M L
FEDEGIFEM A LA F) EEF# B 7,343,900
f& Rz 1n ° Stonebridge 2017 (Singapore)
Pte. Lid HEBREBERAANZERER
eRE AT ELESHEBARARSE
SEERARMNEEFARF - RIEEFESH KB
E %% - BSPI Holdings, L.L.C.(#£ABroad
Street Investments Holding (Singapore) Pte.
Ltd.fyME—f% %) - Broad Street Principal
Investments, L.L.C.&%BSPI Intermediate
Holdings, L.L.C. (& B{EABSPI Holdings,
L.L.C.#J50%0% %) * Broad Street Principal
Investments, L.L.C.(#E&BSPI Intermediate
Holdings, L.L.C.HYM—fZ&%®) - Broad Street
Principal Investments Superholdco LLC ({E
#Broad Street Principal Investments, L.L.C.
HE—AE®E) - GOLDMAN SACHS & CO.
LLCERmEEEBR AR (fEABroad Street
Principal Investments Superholdco LLCH)ME
— &) 4R AR Broad Street Investments
Holding (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.#&HKk%D
FEAERS kY - Broad Street Principal
Investments, L.L.C. » Broad Street Principal
Investments Superholdco LLC + GOLDMAN
SACHS & CO. LLCEkEEREBEFRARINY
R A Stonebridge 2017 (Singapore) Pte.
Lid. AN RO PG #ER -

Goldman Sachs International E¥E# A
1,574,000 A1) BV 4F B K 2,257,600 B AL 15
#KR - Mz /A FlHAGoldman Sachs Group
UK Limited2&#%E - 5— M * Goldman
Sachs Group UK LimitedfiGoldman Sachs
(UK) LL.C.2&#A - Mi%%iThe Goldman
Sachs Group, Inc.2&# A - RIEFHFMBPE
{&f + Goldman Sachs Group UK Limited
Goldman Sachs (UK) L.L.C.%The Goldman
Sachs Group, Inc.##1% &/ Goldman Sachs
International #8 B R A % o
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(9). KPCB China Fund, L.P. (“KPCB CF”) holds 29,045,950 Shares
directly and KPCB China Founders Fund, L.P. (“KPCB CFF")
holds 2,075,950 Shares directly, which both are exempted
limited partnerships established under the laws of Cayman
Islands and are venture capital funds. The general partner
of KPCB CF and KPCB CFF is KPCB China Associates, Ltd.,
which is a Cayman Islands exempted company. The voting
and investment power of shares held by KPCB CF and KPCB
CFF is exercised by the board of KPCB China Associates, Ltd,
which consists of Tina Lin-chi Ju, Theodore Schlein, Brook
Byers, L. John Doerr and Raymond Lane. Under the SFO,
KPCB China Associates, Ltd. is deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by KPCB CF and KPCB CFF.

(10).  The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares,

and the letter “S” denotes the person’s short position in the
Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at March 31, 2023, no person, other
than the Directors or chief executives of the Company whose
interests are set out in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company or Any of its Associated
Corporations” above, had any interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register required
to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME
RSU Scheme

The RSU Scheme was approved and adopted by the Board
on August 3, 2021, the principal terms of which are set out in
the section headed “A. Further Information about our Company
and our Subsidiaries — 6. RSU Scheme” in Appendix IV to
the Prospectus. The purpose of the RSU Scheme is to attract,
retain and motivate our Directors, employees and such other
participants, and to provide a means of compensating them
through the grant of awards (“Awards”) for their contribution to
the growth and profits of the Group, and to allow such Directors,
employees and other persons to participate in the growth and
profitability of the Group.

(9).  KPCB China Fund, L.P. (TKPCB CF)) B
29,045,950 %% X KPCB China Founders
Fund, L . P .([KPCB CFF])Hi#4A
2,075,950 % 1n - BEH AIREHEFHSE
BIK I MEREERAEBLE  BRERIRE
H4 - KPCB CFMKPCB CFFHIERAB AL
M2 BEH%E R AIKPCB China Associates,
Ltd. e KPCB CFXKPCB CFFRETHi DK%
Z R EEMAKPCB China Associates, Ltd.
MEESTE - Z=EEMHTina Lin-chi Ju-
Theodore Schlein » Brook Byers * L. John
Doerr X% Raymond Lane#ifk ° 1R %% % & &
E1%/] - KPCB China Associates, Ltd. %1% A&
AKPCB CFNMKPCB CFF#E 8 (D A &

Bk

o

FHILIRKRABEALTRERONEE  TFS
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(10).

B EXHTIETEE SN R2023F3A31H * BARQR]
ERYUERTBRABREN[EERESTRABR
KRR B s EAT A ARBSE B AR - AR RER
FRRER AR | —EFEA RSN EA LR
o ABER G P HEAACHENIBRIEESRPEEK
PlEE336 KT EME M T MERAR -

B4R R ET &
ZIREIR OB

BELRN2021F8 A3 B #fE KERA SR I 5 B AL
e HEEZERENBRERWEMO A BAERA
BIRBEMFRABINE—FER — 6. ZRHIRMDEN
FTEl —81 - ZRHIRM BB LRS- BB R
BEEE EEREHEMSBEE  WHRE TR
By ([#@m]) a3 EEAAEEEERFBEA
EHBOEE  UREZSEE - EERHEMALY
EREEFERREF -



The Participants of the Scheme

The participant of the RSU Scheme is any person belong to any
of (i) the employee (whether full time or part time) of the Company
or its subsidiaries; (ii) any Director, including independent non-
executive Director, of the Company, or any director of any of the
subsidiaries; and (iii) any other consultant to the Group who, in
the sole opinion of the Board, will contribute or have contributed
to the Group.

Maximum Number of Shares Available for Subscription

Pursuant to the RSU Scheme, the overall limit on the number
of underlying Shares to be granted under the RSU Scheme is
119,972,600 Shares, which represents approximately 20.63% of
the total issued share capital of the Company as of the date of
this annual report.

There is no maximum limit of RSUs which may be granted to each
participant subject to the compliance of the Listing Rules.

Term

The RSU Scheme shall be valid and effective for the period of
ten years commencing on August 3, 2021, with a remaining life
of approximately eight years and one month as of the date of
this annual report, after which period no further Awards will be
granted.

Vesting Criteria and Other Terms

The Board will set vesting criteria in its discretion, which,
depending on the extent to which the criteria are met, will
determine the number of RSUs that will be paid-out to the grantee.
The Board may set vesting criteria based upon the achievement
of Company-wide, business unit, or individual goals (including,
but not limited to, continued employment or service), or any other
basis determined by the Board in its discretion.

The vesting schedules are stipulated in the respective award
agreement between the Company and the grantees.

Form and Timing of Payment

Payment of realized RSUs will be made as soon as practicable
after the date(s) determined by the Board and set forth in
the award agreement. The Board, in its sole discretion, may
decide the method to settle realized RSUs in cash, Shares, or a
combination of both.
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Grant of RSUs

As of March 31, 2023, an aggregate of 573 grantees were
granted with RSUs with a total of 88,770,062 underlying Shares,
representing 15.26% of the total number of issued Shares, under
the RSU Scheme, details of which are set out below.

M LR BR 9 E s

HZE2023F3A318 © REZRHIRMDELFTE -
A HEB7TIBETANERZ RS (HEAML
88,770,062 B 1D - (EEEITIRGD BEH

15.26% * BREAFFIEHWT ©

Number of shares underlying RSUs

wRAE

SRHRBELSRARAS
Closing price
of Shares
immediately
before the
date on
which the Total fair
RSUs were Exercise value of
granted  Quistanding Granted Vested Lapsed Cancelled Exercised  Qutstanding price of RSUs at
during the as of during the during the during the during the during the as of per RSU the date
Name of participant or Reporting March 31, Reporting Reporting Reporting Reporting Reporting March 31,  Vesting granted of grant
Category of partcipant Date of grant Period A2 Period Period Period Period Period 2023 Period” (inHKD) ~ (in RMB)®
e BRESH  SRARR
RERES $RE  EfREH
RHBAER HonE R hfigh  BENE
RSN 3B31A 3E31A WikE  QAEE
SEEMLISELR L] RitHE HEGR  HEEREN  $SEREE SEARN REEARR REEAGR AR BEH (Bn)  (ARE)®
Directors or chief executive and their associates E23 FEHABRASNEEA
M. 20U Qifang Qctober 1, 2021 NA- 10,196,300 - 5,098,180 - 798 10188312 550 42143083
BnzE MAEI0ATA TR
Ms. Qin Jessie XIN Qctober 1, 2021 NA 1,125,000 - 562,500 - - 1125000 October 1, 2021- 93 3194762
FNL AEI0RIA TR March 22, 2024
Mr. ZHANG Jincai October 1, 202 NA 1500000 - 750000 - 675,000 85000 201510A1R 15 966791
BTt MIEI0ATA &R ENUEIRNA
Mr. 20U Jianlong October 1, 202 NA 3813650 - 1906625 - - 3813680 807 14715801
Bagrt AFI0FIA TR
Five highest paid individuals during the Reporting Period (excluding Directors) 48R E 285 E A1 (KEEH)
October 1, 2021 NA 7900777 - 3560368 - 541,626 7,359,151 Qctober 1, 2021- 541 w0
March 22, 2024
AR1E10AA TR WEI0A1AE
AUE3R2NA
Other employees £ES
October 1, 202 NA - 6718779 - 30604 2,963,463 3311424 60922911 Oclober 1, 2021- 654 194622358
March 22, 2024
AENATE TR AENAIA
BV R
Total: 3 91,7235 - e 2,953,463 41536038 84234024 628 298,576,762
Notes: Hiat -

(1) The vesting of the RSUs granted are not subject to any
performance targets.

(2) The fair value of RSUs at the date of grant was calculated
in accordance with the accounting standards and policies

adopted for preparing the financial statements.

(1) B R G 0 E LR B RIERA

AR -

2) PR HIAR 19 B AL R H H B Ay

AV

BEIRE

RE MR R E R RBORRTE -



2022 RSU Scheme

The 2022 RSU Scheme was approved and adopted by the Board
on September 3, 2022, the principal terms of which are set out
in the announcement of the Company dated September 5, 2022.
The purpose of the 2022 RSU Scheme is to attract, retain and
motivate our Directors and employees, and to provide a means of
compensating them through the Awards for their contribution to
the growth and profits of the Group, and to allow such Directors
and employees to participate in the growth and profitability of the
Group.

The Participants of the Scheme

The Board may, from time to time, at its absolute discretion select
any of (i) the employee (whether full time or part time) of the
Company or its subsidiaries; and (ii) any Director, or any director
of any of the subsidiaries as a selected participant and determine
the RSUs for each of them.

Maximum Number of Shares Available for Subscription

The Board shall not make any further awards which will result in
the nominal value of the underlying Shares under the 2022 RSU
Scheme exceeding 10% of the issued shares of the Company as
at September 3, 2022.

Pursuant to the 2022 RSU Scheme, the Underlying Shares
will be satisfied by the existing Shares to be acquired by the
Trustee on the market based on the trading price of the market.
The maximum number of the Underlying Shares which may be
transferred or paid-out in settlement of all RSUs to be granted to
any Selected Participants under the 2022 RSU Scheme shall not
exceed 1% of the issued shares of the Company from time to time
in any 12-month period.

Term

The 2022 RSU Scheme shall be valid and effective for the period
of ten years commencing on September 3, 2022, with a remaining
life of approximately nine years and two month as of the date of
this annual report, after which period no further Awards will be
granted.
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Vesting

The Board will set vesting criteria in its discretion, which,
depending on the extent to which the criteria are met, will
determine the number of RSUs that will be paid-out to the selected
participant(s). The Board may set vesting criteria based upon
the achievement of Company-wide, business unit, or individual
goals (including, but not limited to, continued employment or
service), or any other basis determined by the Board in its
discretion. The vesting schedules are stipulated in the respective
award agreement(s) between the Company and the selected
participant(s).

Grant of RSUs

As of the date of this annual report, no employees were approved
by the Board to be the grantees pursuant to the 2022 RSU
Scheme. No Shares were purchased for the purpose of 2022 RSU
scheme since January 1, 2023.

Kastle Limited, the trustee of the RSU Scheme and 2022 RSU
Scheme, who is currently holding unvested shares with voting
rights attached will abstain from voting on any resolutions at the
general meeting.

DIRECTORS’
DEBENTURES

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time for the year
ended March 31, 2023 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate; and none of the
Directors, or any of their spouse or children under the age of 18,
had any right to subscribe for equity or debt securities of the
Company or any other body corporate, or had exercised any such
right.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION

In compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the
Corporate Governance Code, the Company has established the
Remuneration Committee to formulate remuneration policies. The
remuneration is determined and recommended based on each
Director’'s and senior management personnel’s qualification,
position, performance and experience. As for the independent
non-executive Directors, their remuneration is determined by the
Board upon recommendation from the Remuneration Committee.
The Directors and the senior management personnel are eligible
participants of the RSU Scheme and the 2022 RSU Scheme.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, management and the
five highest paid individuals are set out in Note 36 and Note 8,
respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
and there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the
Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or
as compensation for loss of office.

None of the Directors were paid discretionary bonuses for the
year ended March 31, 2023.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Among the related party transactions disclosed in Note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements, the following transaction
constitutes connected transactions for the Company under Rule
14A.31 of the Listing Rules and is required to be disclosed in this
annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules.
The Company confirmed that, save as disclosed below and the
Contractual Arrangements as disclosed in the section headed
“Contractual Arrangements” below, none of the related party
transactions falls under the definition of “connected transaction”
or “continuing connected transaction” (as the case may be) in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules in so far as they are applicable. Please see below
the information required to be disclosed in compliance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Medical Product Procurement Framework Agreement
Principal Terms

Our Company entered into a Medical Product Procurement
Framework Agreement with Hangzhou Jarvis in December 2021,
pursuant to which we agreed to procure medical products such
as protective gown and teeth whitening gel from Hangzhou
Jarvis Group subject to the following annual caps. The term of
the Medical Product Procurement Framework Agreement is three
years commencing from the Listing Date. We have the right to
terminate the Medical Product Procurement Framework Agreement
by serving a thirty (30) Business Days’ prior written notice to
Hangzhou Jarvis.

BEERRBERGS
FEIFK

AR 2021F 12 B BN ER BE] BB E mF
BIERHZE - Bt - BMRAZEAMMNERBEER
BOHERMIEEQARBEEFTER  HXBRHMU
TFELR BEEMRBEEBEONTFHAB L
MHBRE=F - ZAMBREBARTMNERBED
= tTQROEEHXAMELEEMBAL I EEE DK
BEIELE I o

Year Annual Cap
FE FELR
For the year ended March 31, 2022 RMB22 million
HZE2022F3A31HIEFE AREE2HETT
For the year ending March 31, 2023 RMB33 million
BZE2023F3A31HILFE ARMEIIBEETT
For the year ending March 31, 2024 RMB39 million
HZE2024F3A31HIEFE AREI9HET

For the year ended March 31, 2023, the aggregate transaction
amount incurred in accordance with the Medical Product
Procurement Framework Agreement was RMB25.5 million.

The above proposed annual caps are set based on the following
factors: (i) the historical transaction amount paid by our Group
to Hangzhou Jarvis Group during the three financial years ended
March 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 and the six months ended
September 30, 2021; (ii) the expected need of our Company
for the relevant medical products at approximately 25% yearly
increment, which is in line with the estimated growth rate of the
business of the Group; and (iii) the expansion plan of our Group
in the future.

Hangzhou Jarvis is a connected person to the Company because
it is owned as to approximately 65% by Ms. ZOU Jin, the daughter
of Mr. ZOU Qifang, the executive Director, chief executive
officer and Controlling Shareholder. Therefore, the transactions
contemplated under the Medical Product Procurement Framework
Agreement constitutes continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

HZE2023F3A31HIEFE REEBBEERKEIE
BIBZELENRSEBEAARE568T °

T EBFELRIBETIEERRTE : ()AEE
REZE 20194 ~ 2020 £ 20215F3 A31 AL =14
FEE A MEZE202149 A308 1E7<1@ A i
FEABEERINNELRSEE (VAR EHERH
EEEMNBRIERBENRMEEILIR - HASE
BEEBHMEFIERE B0 R(i)AKBERROER
A&l -

BHRTNERBHBEFTEE (MITES - BRAT
BRIERBR) LR P EL T HELI65%  HALM
EARBBARRNEEAL - Bt - RIFETARR
FTOAE - BEEMRBERBRR MEETHR
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Reasons for and Benefits of the Transaction

Hangzhou Jarvis Group has good reputation in providing various
medical products with good quality and logistics capabilities.
The founding group of Hangzhou Jarvis Group has extensive
experience in supply chain management. The clinics under
our Group have been using the medical products provided by
Hangzhou Jarvis Group given the convenience resulted from the
good working relationship between the parties as well as their
logistics capabilities throughout the PRC. The self-developed
supply chain system of Hangzhou Jarvis Group, as upgraded
from time to time and even customized for the Group, has been
performing well and fits the commercial needs of the Group during
previous business cooperation. It is crucial to maintain a legal,
stable and quality supply of medical products for our Group’s
existing and future operation. Hangzhou Jarvis Group is a reliable
supplier and can efficiently fulfill our Group’s requirements with
stable and quality supply of medical products.

The Subscription of the Registered Capital of Jinyaori
Medical and the Licensing Agreement

On November 3, 2022, Shenzhen Ruijian, a consolidated affiliated
entity of the Company, entered into a cooperation agreement
(the “Cooperation Agreement’) with Hangzhou Jarvis and
Hangzhou Jinyaori Medical Technology Company Limited (#1
MNeRABERKEARAR) (“Jinyaori Medical”), pursuant to
which Shenzhen Ruijian agreed to subscribe for 20% of the
registered capital of Jinyaori Medical at the subscription amount
of RMB30 million. Upon completion of the subscription, Jinyaori
Medical will be owned as to 20% and 80% by Shenzhen Ruijian
and Hangzhou Jarvis respectively. On the same day, Beijing
Ruier, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
licensing agreement (the “Licensing Agreement’) with Jinyaori
Medical, pursuant to which Beijing Ruier shall license certain
intellectual property rights to Jinyaori Medical for a term of three
years. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
November 3, 2022 for details.

In consideration of the licensing of the intellectual property rights
under the Licensing Agreement, Jinyaori Medical shall pay Beijing
Ruier a royalty fee equal to 20% of the Annual Membership
Contract Revenue* for each 12-month period during the licensing
term, payable within one month from the end of each 12-month
period.

Annual Membership Contract Revenue means the net sales
generated from the sale of membership products based on
the licensed intellectual property rights, minus the marketing
expenses and other licensing-related expenses.
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The aggregate annual amount of royalty fees to be paid by
Jinyaori Medical to Beijing Ruier for the three years ending March
31, 2023, 2024 and 2025 shall not exceed RMBO0.86 million,
RMB4.00 million and RMB9.57 million respectively. In determining
the above proposed annual caps for the royalty fees to be paid by
Jinyaori Medical to Beijing Ruier, the Directors have considered,
among others, (i) the expected significant growth in the digital
membership business engaged by Jinyaori Medical in 2024 and
beyond based on its business strategies and market trends; (ii)
the confidence in the management team of Jinyaori Medical and
the synergies to be generated in light of the cooperation with the
Group; and (iii) the ratio of royalty fee calculated based on the
Annual Membership Contract Revenue.

For the year ended March 31, 2023, the aggregate transaction
amount incurred in accordance with the Licensing Agreement was
nil.

As of the date of this annual report, Hangzhou Jarvis is owned
as to 56.9% by Ms. Zou Jin, the daughter of Mr. Zou Qifang. As
Mr. Zou is the executive Director, chairman and chief executive
officer as well as the Controlling Shareholder, Hangzhou Jarvis
is a connected person of the Company under Rule 14A.07 of the
Listing Rules. Accordingly, the entering into (i) the Cooperation
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder
constitute connected transaction for the Company; and (ii) the
Licensing Agreement and transactions contemplated thereunder
constitute continuing connected transactions for the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As the highest applicable
percentage ratio exceeds 0.1% but less than 5%, each of (i) the
Subscription as contemplated under the Cooperation Agreement
and (ii) the transactions contemplated under the Licensing
Agreement is subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements but is exempt from the circular and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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The Company believes that the cooperation as contemplated
under the Cooperation Agreement and the Licensing Agreement
will create synergy to the Group, including but not limited to:
(1) enhancing the operational level of the Group in terms of
professional skills; (2) further expanding the recognition of the
Group in the corresponding fields; and (3) providing the Company
with a more stable business environment and operation structure.
With the business growth of Jinyaori Medical, the Company will
further optimize the management system of dental clinics, the
continuing education of dental clinics, and at the same time
increase the private operation service of clinic, which will bring
a favorable impact on the profitability of the Company, which is
in line with the Company’s and the interests of shareholders as a
whole.

Annual Review and Confirmation by the Auditor of the
Company

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised), Assurance
Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised),
Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his
unmodified letter containing his findings and conclusions in
respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the
Group on pages 123 to 132 of the Annual Report in accordance
with Main Board Listing Rule 14A.56. A copy of the auditor’s letter
has been provided by the Company to The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

Annual Review by the Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing
connected transactions and confirmed that the above continuing
connected transactions were entered into (i) in the ordinary and
usual course of business of our Group; (ii) on normal commercial
terms or better; and (iii) pursuant to the agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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For further details of the Medical Product Procurement Framework
Agreement, please refer to the section headed “Connected
Transactions” in the Prospectus.

Provision of Loan and Pledge of Shares

On September 28, 2022, the Company entered into a loan
agreement (the “Loan Agreement’) with Beier Holdings Limited
(“Beier”), pursuant to which the Company agreed to provide
a loan facility in the principal amount of US$11 million at an
interest rate of 4.5% per annum to Beier for a term of 9 months
to finance the repayment of the existing loan. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated September 29, 2022 for
details.

On June 27, 2023, the Company and Beier entered into an
amendment agreement to the Loan Agreement (the “Amendment
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company and Beier
conditionally agreed that, among others, (i) the term of the Loan
shall be extended for a period from 9 months to 18 months
commencing from the September 30, 2022, and (ii) the interest
rate of the Loan shall be revised from 4.5% to 5.5% per annum. In
addition, to cover the liabilities and obligations of Beier under the
Amendment Agreement, Beier pledged 9,920,675 ordinary shares
of the Company held by it in favour of the Company as security
for the extended Loan. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated June 27, 2023 for details.

Beier is a company incorporated in BVI with limited liability and
wholly-owned by Mr. ZOU Qifang. Mr. Zou is the controlling
shareholder of the Company and therefore a connected person
of the Company. Hence, the provision of the Loan constitutes a
connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. As all applicable percentage ratios (as defined in
Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) in respect of the provision of the
Loan are more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the provision of the
Loan is subject to the reporting and announcement requirements
but is exempt from the circular and the independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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The Loan will be used primarily by Beier to refinance the Beier’s
acquisition cost of 9,920,675 Shares in series D-3 pre-IPO
investment conducted in December 2017. Given that (i) Mr.
Zou's acquisition of interests in the Company shows support
and commitment to the Company as Mr. Zou is very confident
in the prospects and long term goal of the Company; (ii) the
Company will receive interest for the Loan at the rate of 4.5%
per annum in short term which is higher than the interest rate
of fixed deposits offered by banks in the PRC and the provision
of Loan can broaden the source of income of the Group; and
(iii) there is no substantial negative impact to the Company’s
operation and financial performance for granting the Loan,
the provision of Loan is considered to be favorable to the
Company. Accordingly, the Directors (including the independent
non-executive Directors) consider that the provision of the Loan,
although not in the ordinary course of business of the Company,
is on normal commercial terms or better and the terms of the Loan
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and its
Shareholders as a whole.

Save for disclosed above and the Contractual Arrangements as
disclosed in the section headed “Contractual Arrangements”
below, during the Reporting Period, we have not entered into any
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction which
should be disclosed pursuant to the Rules 14A.49 and 14A.71 of
the Listing Rules.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

The Group has entered into the Contractual Arrangements with
Beijing Ruier, Shenzhen Ruijian and the Registered Shareholder,
to enable us to, among other things, (1) obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from Shenzhen Ruijian in consideration for
the management and consultation services provided by Beijing
Ruier in this regard; (2) exercise effective control over VIE Entities;
and (3) hold an exclusive option to purchase all or any part of
equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian where permitted by PRC
laws. Accordingly, through the Contractual Arrangements, the VIE
Entities’ results of operations, assets and liabilities, and cash flows
will be consolidated into the Company’s financial statements.
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Notes:

(10)

(1)

(12)

(13)

(14)

Please refer to “~Entrustment Agreement and Powers of
Attorney” below for details.

Please refer to “~Exclusive Option Agreement” below for
details.

Please refer to “~Equity Pledge Agreement” below for details.

Please refer to “~Exclusive Operation Services Agreement”
below for details.

The Registered Shareholder is Ms. ZOU Lifang, who is a PRC
citizen and the sister of our founder Mr. ZOU Qifang. Ms. Zou
holds 100% interest of Shenzhen Ruijian.

The remaining 70% interest of Beijing Shengbin was held by
Beijing Ruisheng, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the WFOE.

The remaining 70% interest of Beijing Ruicheng was held by
Beijing Ruisheng.

The remaining 70% interest of Shanghai Yazheng was held by
Shanghai Ruicheng, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the WFOE.

The remaining 70% interest of Shenzhen Ruier was held by the
WFOE.

The remaining 70% interest of Shanghai Ruitai was held by
Shanghai Ruicheng.

The remaining 70% interest of Hangzhou Shengbin was held
by Shanghai Ruicheng.

The remaining 70% interest of Shanghai Shengbin was held by
Shanghai Ruicheng.

The remaining 70% and 20% interest of Qingdao Ruigi was
held by Beijing Ruisheng and Chengdu Ruibowen Hospital
Management Center LLP (K& HEIXEREEFP L (EBE
%)), a limited partnership set up by some of our employees,
including Mr. QU Bo and Mr. HU Yunfan, who are senior
management of the Company.

The remaining 70% interest of Chongqging Jinmei was held by
the WFOE.
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(17)

(18)

The remaining 70% interest of Chongqging Jiuyue was held by
Chongging Ruijing, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the WFOE.

The remaining 70% and 12% interest of Chongqging Ruitai
was held by Chongqing Ruijing and Chongging Ruibang
Xingtai Hospital Management Center LLP (EEHEIFER
BEERL (E@BEH)), a limited partnership set up by some
of our employees, including Mr. HU Xing, who is our senior
management.

The remaining 90% interest of Chengdu Wuhou Ruitai was held
by Chongging Ruijing.

The remaining 90% interest of Guangzhou Yuexiu Ruitai Dental
Hospital Co., Ltd. (BM#EHEmFEOEERBRAF) was held
by Zhuhai Henggin Ruiertai Hospital Investment Co., Ltd. (¥
BEERMRERREABRAR]), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the WFOE, and Hainan Yongrui Enterprise Management Center
(Limited Partnership) (BEZERTEEREF L (BRE®)), the
Independent Third Party, as to 70% and 20%, respectively.

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements

A brief description of each of the specific agreements that
comprise the Contractual Arrangements is set out as follows:

(1)

Exclusive Operation Services Agreement

Beijing Ruier, the Registered Shareholder, Shenzhen
Ruijian and subsidiaries directly held by Shenzhen Ruijian
entered into an exclusive operation services agreement
on August 20, 2020 (the “Exclusive Operation Services
Agreement”), pursuant to which, inter alia, Shenzhen
Ruijian agreed to engage Beijing Ruier as the exclusive
operation service consultant and service provider in
exchange for a service fee.

(17)

(18)
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Under the Exclusive Operation Services Agreements, the
services to be provided include but are not limited to (i)
formulation and implementation of plans in relation to
current and future assets and business operation matters
of Shenzhen Ruijian and the VIE Entities; (ii) provision
of opinions, advices and management to the human
resources and operations of Shenzhen Ruijian and the
VIE Entities, including but not limited to improvement
measures on employee management and continuing
staff training plan; (iii) relevant technical and commercial
information collection and market research, providing
industry information and management decision; (iv) client
referral and providing advice and decision on marketing
promotion; (v) appointment of technical staff for Shenzhen
Ruijian and the VIE Entities, providing overall technical
operation monitoring and market strategies research;
(vi) provision of opinions and advices on the corporate
structure and management system of Shenzhen Ruijian and
the VIE Entities; (vii) providing comprehensive solutions
on medical technologies required by Shenzhen Ruijian
and the VIE Entities including medical technologies
management consultancy services, medical resources
sharing, recruitment and training of professional staff;
(viii) selection and referral of eligible supplier, quality
control of medicine and medical devices; (ix) appointment
of technical staff to monitor quality of medical services
provided by the VIE Entities; (x) other technical
services, operation maintenance, equipment supply
and management consultancy services as requested by
Shenzhen Ruijian and the VIE Entities from time to time to
the extent permissible under the PRC laws. Beijing Ruier
has proprietary rights to all the intellectual properties
developed or created by itself from the performance of
these services. During the term of the Exclusive Operation
Service Agreement, Beijing Ruier may use the intellectual
property rights owned by Shenzhen Ruijian and the
VIE Entities free of charge and without any conditions.
Shenzhen Ruijian and the VIE Entities may also use the
intellectual property work created by Beijing Ruier in the
course of provision of services in accordance with the
Exclusive Operation Service Agreement.
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Under the Exclusive Operation Services Agreements,
the service fee shall be an amount equal to the annual
distributable profits of the VIE Entities obtained by
Shenzhen Ruijian, after deducting the losses from the
previous financial years (if any) and the statutory reserves
(if applicable), subject to the applicable PRC laws and
regulations. Apart from the service fees, the VIE Entities
shall reimburse all reasonable costs, payments and out-of-
pocket expenses incurred by Beijing Ruier in connection
with the performance of the Exclusive Operation Services
Agreement and provision of services thereunder.

In addition, without the prior written consent of Beijing
Ruier, during the term of the Exclusive Operation Services
Agreement, the Registered Shareholder, Shenzhen Ruijian
and the subsidiaries directly held by Shenzhen Ruijian shall
not enter into any written or oral agreement with any third
party for provision of the same or similar services as those
provided thereunder. Beijing Ruier has the right to appoint
any third party to provide any or all of the services, or to
fulfill any of its obligations under the Exclusive Operation
Services Agreement.

The Exclusive Operation Services Agreement shall be
effective upon signing, and shall remain valid for three
years. Subject to compliance with the Listing Rules,
the Exclusive Operation Services Agreement shall be
automatically renewed for a term of three years upon its
expiration, unless terminated in accordance with the terms
therein.
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(1)

The Exclusive Operation Services Agreement can only be
terminated in the following events: (i) if Beijing Ruier and/
or its designated person(s) are able to indirectly or directly
holdall the equity interests in the VIE Entities as permitted
by the PRC laws then in force, and upon duly transfer of
all the equity interests or assets of the the VIE Entities
directly or indirectly owned by Shenzhen Ruijian have been
transferred to Beijing Ruier or its designated person(s)
pursuant to applicable PRC laws and regulations, (ii) if
Beijing Ruier and/or its designated person(s) are able to
directly hold all the equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian
as the PRC laws then in force, and upon duly transfer of
all of the equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian owned by
the Registered Shareholder to Beijing Ruier and/or its
designated person(s) pursuant to applicable PRC laws
and regulations, (iii) Beijing Ruier unilaterally terminates
the agreement, or (iv) continuing performance of the
agreement will result in violation of or non-compliance with
the applicable PRC laws and regulations, the Listing Rules
or other requirements of the Stock Exchange.

Exclusive Option Agreement

On August 20, 2020, Beijing Ruier, the Registered
Shareholder and Shenzhen Ruijian entered into an
exclusive option agreement (the “Exclusive Option
Agreement”).

Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement, Beijing Ruier
was granted an irrevocable, unconditional and exclusive
right to purchase all or any part of the equity interests in
and/or assets of Shenzhen Ruijian held at present or in the
future for a consideration equivalent to the lowest price
permitted under the PRC laws at the time of purchase. The
Registered Shareholder and Shenzhen Ruijian agreed to
refund all amount received in the transfer of equity interests
or assets, as the case maybe, under the Exclusive Option
Agreement to Beijing Ruier or any designee.

(1)
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The Registered Shareholder, among other things, has
covenanted that, without the prior written consent of Beijing

Ruier:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(ix)

she will not transfer or otherwise dispose or create
any encumbrances on any of her equity interest in
Shenzhen Ruijian;

she will not increase, decrease or change the
structure of the registered capital of Shenzhen
Ruijian, and shall not approve Shenzhen Ruijian to
merge, consolidate with, acquire or invest in any
entity;

she will not dispose or cause the management of
Shenzhen Ruijian to dispose any material assets
with a fair value above RMB500,000;

she will not terminate or cause the management of
Shenzhen Ruijian to terminate any material contracts
with a value above RMB500,000, or enter into
any agreements that contradicts with the material
contracts that currently in force;

she will not appoint or change any director,
supervisor or any other management personnel of
Shenzhen Ruijian that should be appointed by the
Registered Shareholder;

she will not cause or permit the distribution of any
distributable profits and dividends;

she will not amend the articles of association of
Shenzhen Ruijian;

she will not cause or permit Shenzhen Ruijian
to provide any loan or guarantee in any kind, or
undertake any substantive duties other than in the
ordinary course of business;

she will not cause or permit Shenzhen Ruijian to
enter into any transaction or take any action that
may affect its assets, rights, duties and operation;
and

she will not directly or indirectly engage, possess or
acquire any business which competes or is likely to
compete with the business of Shenzhen Ruijian.
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(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)
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The Registered Shareholder further undertakes that, upon
Beijing Ruier issuing the notice to exercise the option in
accordance with the Exclusive Option Agreement, the
Registered Shareholder will take all necessary actions to
procure the transfer and relinquish the pre-emptive right (if
any). Each of the parties to the Exclusive Option Agreement
confirms and agrees that (i) in the event of a dissolution or
liquidation of Shenzhen Ruijian under the PRC laws, all the
residual assets attributable to the Registered Shareholder
in Shenzhen Ruijian shall be transferred to Beijing Ruier or
its designated person(s) at the minimum purchase price
permitted under PRC laws, and the Registered Shareholder
undertakes that she shall refund all amount received in the
transfer to Beijing Ruier or any designee. Each of Beijing
Ruier, the Registered Shareholder and Shenzhen Ruijian
confirmed and agreed that, in the event of bankruptcy,
reorganization, merger or shareholder change of Shenzhen
Ruijian which affects the Registered Shareholder’s
equity interest in Shenzhen Ruijian, the successor of the
Registered Shareholder shall be bound by the Exclusive
Option Agreement, and any disposal of interests (including
but not limited to equity interest, debt and asset) in
Shenzhen Ruijian contained in any debt arrangement,
reorganization agreement and any other legal documents
shall not contradict with the Exclusive Option Agreement
unless otherwise with the prior written consent of Beijing
Ruier.

The Exclusive Option Agreement shall be effective upon
execution and have an indefinite term unless terminated
in the following events: (i) if Beijing Ruier and/or its
designated person(s) are able to directly hold all the
equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian as permitted by the
PRC laws then in force, and upon duly transfer of all of the
equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian or all of the assets of
Shenzhen Ruijian owned by the Registered Shareholder
to Beijing Ruier and/or its designated person(s) pursuant
to applicable PRC laws and regulations, (ii) Beijing Ruier
unilaterally terminates the agreement, or (iii) continuing
performance of the obligations of the agreements will
result in violation of or non-compliance with the applicable
PRC laws and regulations, the Listing Rules or other
requirements of the Stock Exchange.
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(iii)

Entrustment Agreement and Powers of Attorney

On August 20, 2020, Beijing Ruier and the Registered
Shareholder entered into a shareholders’ rights entrustment
agreement (the “Entrustment Agreement”) with Shenzhen
Ruijian and executed a powers of attorney (the “Powers of
Attorney”) in favor of Mr. ZOU Qifang (the “Attorney”).

Pursuant to the Entrustment Agreement and the Powers
of Attorney, (i) the Registered Shareholder irrevocably
authorizes Beijing Ruier or its designated person(s) (namely
the Directors and liquidator or other successor who acts
in the capacity of a Director but excluding any non-
independent persons or persons with potential conflicts of
interests) and the Attorney to exercise all of her rights and
powers as a shareholder of Shenzhen Ruijian on behalf of
her, including without limitation:

o to execute shareholder resolutions as her proxy;

. to exercise all shareholder’s voting rights in
accordance with PRC laws and the constitutional
documents of Shenzhen Ruijian, including but not
limited to the appointment of legal representative,
director and supervisor of Shenzhen Ruijian,
amendment of the articles of association of
Shenzhen Ruijian, decision on the increase and
decrease of registered capital, merger, split and
transfer of equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian as
her proxy; and

o to receive any residual assets of Shenzhen Ruijian
as her proxy in the event of dissolution or liquidation
of Shenzhen Ruijian.

(iii)
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The Registered Shareholder undertakes that, the
authorization granted under the Entrustment Agreement will
not result in any potential conflicts of interests between her
and Beijing Ruier or its designee. If any potential conflicts
of interests arises, the Registered Shareholder shall protect
and not harm the interests of Beijing Ruier, its subsidiaries
or its indirect offshore shareholders. If there is any conflict
of interests, the Registered Shareholder shall take action
to eliminate such conflict of interests in a timely manner
and as approved by Beijing Ruier or its designee. In the
event that the Registered Shareholder refuses to take such
action, Beijing Ruier is entitled to exercise the option under
the Exclusive Option Agreement in accordance with the
relevant PRC laws and regulations.

The Entrustment Agreement and Powers of Attorney shall
be effective upon signing and have an indefinite term
unless terminated in the following events: (i) if Beijing Ruier
and/or its designated person(s) are able to directly hold
all the equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian as permitted by
the PRC laws then in force, and upon duly transfer of all of
the equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian or all of the assets
of Shenzhen Ruijian owned by the Registered Shareholder
to Beijing Ruier and/or its designated person(s) pursuant
to applicable PRC laws and regulations, (ii) Beijing Ruier
unilaterally terminates the agreements, or (iii) continuing
performance of the agreement will result in violation of
or non-compliance with the applicable PRC laws and
regulations, the Listing Rules or other requirements of the
Stock Exchange.
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(iv)

Equity Pledge Agreement

On August 20, 2020, Beijing Ruier, Shenzhen Ruijian and
the Registered Shareholder entered into an equity pledge
agreement (the “Equity Pledge Agreement’), pursuant to
which (i) the Registered Shareholder agrees to pledge all
of her equity interest in Shenzhen Ruijian to Beijing Ruier
as a security interest to guarantee the performance of the
contractual obligations and payment of outstanding debts
under the Contractual Arrangements.

If the Registered Shareholder receives any dividend from
Shenzhen Ruijian during the term of the Equity Pledge
Agreement, the Registered Shareholder agrees to give
all the dividends she received to Beijing Ruier as a gift.
In the event of any breach of obligations by Shenzhen
Ruijian or the Registered Shareholder, Beijing Ruier, upon
issuing a written notice to the Registered Shareholder, will
be entitled to all remedies available under PPC laws and
the Contractual Arrangements, including but not limited to
disposing of the equity interests pledged in its favor.

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement, the Registered
Shareholder undertakes to Beijing Ruier, among others, not
to transfer the equity interests pledged and not to create
or permit the creation of any other pledge or encumbrance
without Beijing Ruier’s prior written consent. Shenzhen
Ruijian further undertakes to Beijing Ruier not to assist
or permit any transfer of the equity interests pledged or
to assist or permit the creation of any other pledge or
encumbrance without Beijing Ruier’s prior written consent.

The Equity Pledge Agreement shall remain effective unless
terminate in the following events: (i) if Beijing Ruier and/
or its designated person(s) are able to directly hold all the
equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian as permitted by the
PRC laws then in force, and upon duly transfer of all of the
equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian or all of the assets of
Shenzhen Ruijian to Beijing Ruier and/or its designated
person(s) pursuant to applicable PRC laws and regulations,
(ii) Beijing Ruier unilaterally terminates the agreement, or
(iii) continuing performance of the agreement will result in
violation of or non-compliance with the applicable PRC laws
and regulations, the Listing Rules or other requirements of
the Stock Exchange.

(iv)
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Reasons for adopting the Contractual Arrangements

Our VIE Entities primarily engage in the operation of dental clinics
and dental hospitals in China. According to the Negative List,
medical institutions fall within the “restricted” investment category,
and therefore may not be held 100% by foreign investors, and
foreign investments are restricted to the form of sino-foreign joint
venture (the “Foreign Ownership Restriction”). In light of the
Foreign Ownership Restriction, we determined that it was not
viable for our Company to (i) directly or indirectly hold more than
90% equity interest in medical institutions in Sichuan province
such as Chengdu Wuhou Ruitai and its subsidiaries; or (ii) directly
or indirectly hold more than 70% equity interest in medical
institutions of other provinces including Chongging. As such,
upon completion of the reorganization, we through the Contractual
Arrangements indirectly hold 90% equity interest in Chengdu
Wuhou Ruitai and 70% equity interest in (i) Beijing Shengbin, (ii)
Beijing Ruicheng, (iii) Shanghai Yazheng, (iv) Shenzhen Ruier,
(v) Shanghai Ruitai, (vi) Hangzhou Shengbin, (vii) Shanghai
Shengbin, (viii) Qingdao Ruigi, (ix) Chongging Ruisheng (through
Chongging Jinmei), (x) Chongging Jiuyue, (xi) Chongging Ruitai,
(xii) Chongqing Ruihong Dental Clinic Co., Ltd. (EE 7 QB2
ABRAA], (xiii) Chongging Ruihua Dental Clinic Co., Ltd. (EEs
ZEOREMZ AR 2AA]) and (xiv) Guangzhou Yuexiu Ruitai Dental
Hospital Co., Ltd. (BE/MBFiHEORERERAR).

In order to comply with PRC laws and regulations, as well as to
maintain maximum equity control over and to obtain all of the
economic benefits derived from the operation of VIE Entities, the
Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, Beijing Ruier,
entered into a series of the Contractual Arrangements.

For further details of the foreign investment restrictions, please
refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements -
Background of the Contractual Arrangements” of the Prospectus.
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Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks that are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements, including:

(i)

(if)

if the PRC government finds that the agreements that
establish the structure for operating the Company’s
business in China do not comply with applicable PRC
laws and regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, the Group could be
subject to severe consequences, including the nullification
of the Contractual Arrangements and the relinquishment of
the Company’s interest in the VIE Entities;

the Registered Shareholder of Shenzhen Ruijian may have
conflicts of interest with the Company, which may materially
and adversely affect our business and financial condition;

the Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in
providing control as direct ownership;

if the Company exercise the option to acquire equity
ownership and assets of Shenzhen Ruijian, the ownership
or asset transfer may subject us to certain limitations and
substantial costs.

Actions taken by the Group to mitigate the risks relating to
the Contractual Arrangements

Our Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the
effective operation with the implementation and compliance of the
Contractual Arrangements:

(1)

major issues arising from the implementation and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements or any
regulatory enquiries from government authorities will
be submitted to the Board, if necessary, for review and
discussion on an occurrence basis;

the Board will review the overall performance of and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements at least
once a year;
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(3) the Company will disclose the overall performance
and compliance with the Contractual Arrangements in
our annual reports and interim reports to update our
Shareholders and potential investors; and

(4) the Company will engage external legal advisers or other
professional advisers, if necessary, to assist the Board to
review the implementation of the Contractual Arrangements
and the legal compliance of Beijing Ruier and the VIE
Entities to deal with specific issues or matters arising from
the Contractual Arrangements.

Listing Rules Implications and Waiver from the Stock
Exchange

The VIE Entities will be treated as the Company’s wholly-owned
subsidiaries, and their directors, chief executives or substantial
shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) and their respective
associates will be treated as the Company’s connected persons.
Shenzhen Ruijian will be treated as a connected person of the
Company. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under
the Contractual Arrangements constitute continuing connected
transactions of our Group and are subject to reporting,
announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

In relation to the Contractual Arrangements, we have applied to
the Stock Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange has granted, a
waiver from strict compliance with (i) the announcement, circular
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions
contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements pursuant
to Rule 14A.105 of the Listing Rules, (ii) the requirement of
setting an annual cap for the transactions under the Contractual
Arrangements under Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules, and (iii) the
requirement of limiting the term of the Contractual Arrangements
to three years or less under Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules,
for so long as our Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
subject however to the conditions provided under the waiver. For
further details, please refer to the section headed “Connected
Transactions” of the Prospectus.
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Material Change or Termination of the Contractual
Arrangements

During the year ended March 31, 2023, (i) there were no new
contractual arrangements entered into, renewed or reproduced
between the Group and the VIE Entities, (ii) there were no material
changes in the Contractual Arrangements or the circumstances
under which they were adopted, and (iii) none of the structured
contracts under the Contractual Arrangements mentioned
above has been unwound as none of the restrictions that led
to the adoption of structured contracts under the Contractual
Arrangements have been removed.

Annual Review

The Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors,
have reviewed the Contractual Arrangements and have confirmed
that the Contractual Arrangements were entered into (i) in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, (ii) on normal
commercial terms, and (iii) in accordance with the respective
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a
whole.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that:

(a) the transactions carried out during the year ended March
31, 2023 have been entered into in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Contractual Arrangements, and
that the profit generated by the VIE Entities has been
substantially retained by Beijing Ruier;

(b) no dividends or other distributions have been made by
the VIE Entities or any non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Group to the holders of its equity interests which are
not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the
Group; and

(c) other than the Contractual Arrangements, no new contracts
have been entered into, renewed and/or reproduced
between the Group and the VIE Entities during the year
ended March 31, 2023.
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The Company'’s auditor was engaged to report on the Contractual
Arrangement in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised), Assurance
Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised),
Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his
unmodified letter containing his findings and conclusions in
respect of the Contractual Arrangement. A copy of the auditor’s
letter has been provided by the Company to The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” and “Contractual Arrangements” above, no contract
of significance was entered into between the Company, or one of
its subsidiary companies, and any of its Controlling Shareholders
or subsidiaries for the year ended March 31, 2023.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Save for the 5,291,000 Shares purchased by Arrail Revival
Holdings Limited, a limited liability company set up by the
Company as a platform holding underlying Shares for the 2022
RSU Scheme, at cash consideration of HK$39.3 million on the
Stock Exchange for 2022 RSU Scheme, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any listed
securities of the Company during the Reporting Period.

PURCHASE OF WEALTH MANAGEMENT PRODUCT

As at March 31, 2023, the Group invested in the wealth
management products from GF Global Capital Limited amounting
to US$20,263,000 (equivalent to RMB139,240,000).

As at March 31, 2023, the Group invested in the wealth
management products from Huatai International Financial
Products Limited amounting to US$16,402,000 (equivalent to
RMB112,710,000).
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The source of funding for the above wealth management products
are the Group’s internal funds that are not required immediately
for operation or capital expenditure purposes rather than the
proceeds from the initial public offering. The purchases of above
wealth management products are considered to be part of the
Group's treasury management to improve the utilization of its
idle funds and to bring higher return on capital. In addition, the
Company has taken into account the capital needs for daily
operations and capital expenditure when purchasing the wealth
management product and determining the respective subscription
amount. The purchases of above wealth management products
will not affect the daily operations of the Company. To the best
of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief after having
made all reasonable enquiries, GF Global Capital Limited, Huatai
International Financial Products Limited and its ultimate beneficial
owners are third parties independent of the Company and its
connected persons.

MATERIAL LITIGATION

The Company was not involved in any material litigation or
arbitration for the year ended March 31, 2023. The Directors are
also not aware of any material litigation or claims that are pending
or threatened against the Group during the year ended March 31,
2023.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company’s Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on
March 22, 2022. The net proceeds from the Global Offering
amounted to approximately HK$589.9 million. The net proceeds
from the Global Offering will be utilized in the same manner and
proportion as set out in the Prospectus under the section headed
“Future Plans and Use of Proceeds”.
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For the Reporting Period, the Company had used the net proceeds  ¥R&EHR - NA B D # 2B & F RIS FIE AR IA
from the Global Offering for the following purposes: TA#® :
Utilization Unutilized  Expected
Amount of Unutilized during the  net proceeds timeframe
net proceeds Percentage  net proceeds year ended as of for
for the of total net  as of April 1, March 31, March 31, unutilized
relevant use proceeds 2022 2023 2023 net proceeds
HZ2022F BZ2023%F
48186 #Z2023% 3A31AN ABAF
BREBRAZ ARG ABAE 3A318 ABAE FBNE
WEFMEHE  HENEIL FERE LFEBA FEXE RAERERX
HK$ million % HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEAT B BEET BEET BEAT
Business expansion
EBER
Increase penetration and grow footprint in 3244 55.0% 324.4 49.2 275.2  over the next
existing and emerging Tier-1 cities in five years
China and existing Tier-2 cities in China
RER A RITE- ST RAERE R ARRER
HmiRe 2R X T EABEN
Expansion into new key 118.0 20.0% 118.0 25.0 93.0  over the next
Tier-2 cities in China five years
BRE P EA %0 —BHm ARBER
Subtotal 442.4 75.0% 442.4 74.2 368.2
it
Build and optimize IT infrastructure 88.5 15.0% 88.5 35.0 53.5 over the next
five years
BERRELESHMERERE AREER
Working capital 59.0 10.0% 59.0 7.9 51.1  over the next
five years
2EES ARLER
Total 589.9 100.0% 589.9 1171 472.8
#ct

The net proceeds have been and will be utilized in accordance FiIBRABEFHACKLGRIBEHEBRSEMEARE
with the purposes set out in the Prospectus. The unutilized net F - XKEAERBFEBEHEREZE 202743 A
proceeds are expected to be fully utilized by the year ending 31HIFFEERHEA o FlekFT15 088 78 45 B 85
March 31, 2027. The expected timeline for utilizing the remaining 4R ThE R AR B8 R R E KB REZ AT RIED
proceeds is based on the best estimation of the future progress of M EMET - KA T RO ERMKRRERME
business expansion and market conditions made by the Company.  FT&E&) -

It will be subject to change based on the current and future

development of market conditions.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
percentage of public float under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers has audited the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended March 31, 2023. A resolution
regarding the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the
Group’s auditor will be proposed at the AGM. There is no change
of auditor of the Company in the past three years.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On September 28, 2022, the Company and Beier Holdings Limited
(“Beier”) entered into a loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Company provided a loan facility to Beier
in an aggregate principal amount of US$11,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB77,164,000) (the “Loan”). The Loan was drawn down by Beier
in full on September 30, 2022. The Loan was unsecured, interest
bearing at 4.5% per annum, and repayable in nine months from
the date of utilisation.

On June 27, 2023, the Company and Beier entered into an
amendment agreement to the Loan Agreement (the “Amendment
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company and Beier
conditionally agreed that, among others, (i) the term of the Loan
shall be extended for a period from 9 months to 18 months
commencing from the September 30, 2022, and (ii) the interest
rate of the Loan shall be revised from 4.5% to 5.5% per annum. In
addition, to cover the liabilities and obligations of Beier under the
Amendment Agreement, Beier pledged 9,920,675 ordinary shares
of the Company held by it in favour of the Company as security for
the extended Loan. Save for the above, all the material terms and
conditions of the Loan Agreement remain unchanged and in force
and effect.

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in this annual report,
there have been no other material events subsequent to the year
ended March 31, 2023 and up to the date of this annual report,
which require adjustment or disclosure in accordance with IFRSs.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, we do not have any plan
for material investments and capital assets.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF
THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement of the Shareholders to attend
the AGM of the Company to be held on Tuesday, September 26,
2023, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Thursday, September 21, 2023 to Tuesday, September 26,
2023, both days inclusive. In order to be eligible to attend and
vote at the AGM, all transfer accompanied by the relevant share
certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
before 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, September 20, 2023.

By Order of the Board

Arrail Group Limited
Mr. ZOU Qifang
Chairman

Beijing, PRC, June 27, 2023
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The Board presents this corporate governance report in the
Group’s annual report for the year ended March 31, 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability.
The Company has adopted the principles and the code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules to ensure that the Company’s business activities
and decision-making processes are regulated in a proper and
prudent manner.

The Company had complied with all the applicable code
provisions under the Corporate Governance Code during the
Reporting Period, save and except for deviation from code
provisions C.2.1 and C.5.7 of the Corporate Governance Code.
Details of the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code are explained in the section “Chairman and
chief executive officer” of this corporate governance report.

As for the deviation from code provision C.5.7 of the Corporate
Governance Code, pursuant to such code provision,
substantial shareholder or a director has a conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the board which the board
has determined to be material, the matter should be dealt with
by a physical board meeting rather than a written resolution.
Independent non-executive directors who, and whose close

if a

associates, have no material interest in the transaction should
be present at that board meeting. During the Reporting Period,
the Board approved the connected transaction in respect of
the provision of loan to Mr. Zou, the controlling shareholder of
the Company, by passing a written resolution. The Board is of
the view that taking into account the requirements of pandemic
prevention and control and also in order to facilitate the efficiency
of decision-making and implementation, it is decided to approve
the transaction by way of written resolutions. Furthermore, Mr. Zou
abstained from voting on the relevant Board resolutions.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Guidelines for Securities
Transactions by Directors (the “Written Guidelines”) on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all of them have
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code and the
Written Guidelines during the Reporting Period. No incident of
non-compliance of the Written Guidelines by the employees who
are likely to be in possession of inside information of the Company
was noted by the Company.

THE BOARD
Board Composition

The Board currently comprises of seven members, consisting of
four executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. The composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zou Qifang (Chairman)
Ms. Qin Jessie Xin

Mr. Zhang Jincai

Mr. Zou Jianlong

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Liu Xiaomei Michelle
Mr. Sun Jian
Mr. Zhang Bang

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time
pursuant to the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive
Directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out under “Profiles
of Directors and Senior Management” section in this annual report.
Save as disclosed above, none of the members of the Board had
relationship (including financial, business, family or other material
relationships) with each other.
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Chairman and chief executive officer

Mr. Zou Qifang is the chairman of the Board and chief executive
officer of the Company. Although this deviates from the practice
under code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code,
where it provides that the two positions should be held by two
different individuals. As Mr. Zou is the founder of the Group and
has been managing the Group’s business and overall strategic
planning since its establishment, the Directors consider that
vesting the roles of chairman and chief executive officer in Mr. Zou
is beneficial to the business prospects and management of the
Group by ensuring consistent leadership within the Group. Taking
into account all the current corporate governance measures
that we had implemented, the Board considers that the balance
of power and authority for the present arrangement will not be
impaired and this structure will enable the Company to make and
implement decisions promptly and effectively. Accordingly, the
Company had not segregated the roles of its chairman and chief
executive officer. The Board will continue to review and consider
splitting the roles of chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer of the Company at an appropriate time if necessary, taking
into account the circumstances of the Group as a whole.

Independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of
business and financial expertise, experience and independent
judgement to the Board and they are invited to serve on the Board
committees of the Company. Through active participation at Board
meeting, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential
conflict of interests, all independent non-executive Directors
have made various contributions to the effective direction of
the Company and provided adequate checks and balances to
safeguard the interests of both the Group and the Shareholders.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors to be independent in light
of the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.
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Appointment and re-election of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term, subject to renewal
upon expiry of the existing term.

Each of the executive Director has entered into a service
contract with the Company on December 1, 2021. The initial
term of their service contract shall commence from the date of
his/her appointment as a Director and continue for a period of
three years after or until the third annual general meeting of the
Company since the Listing Date, whichever is earlier, and shall
be automatically renewed for successive periods of three years
(subject always to re-election as and when required under the
Articles of Association) until terminated in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the service contract or by either party
giving to the other not less than three months’ prior notice in
writing.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company on November 25, 2021.
The initial term for their appointment letters shall commence from
the date of his/her appointment as a Director and continue for a
period of three years after or until the third annual general meeting
of the Company since the Listing Date, whichever is earlier, and
shall be automatically renewed for successive periods of three
years (subject always to re-election as and when required under
the Articles of Association), until terminated in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the appointment letter or by either
party giving to the other not less than three months’ prior notice in
writing.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered into
a service contract with the Group that is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

The procedure and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of directors are laid down in the Articles of Association.
The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing Board
composition, making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for the Directors, and assessing the independence of
independent non-executive Directors.
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In accordance with article 109 of the Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the
time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election. The Director who has not been
subject to retirement by rotation in the three years preceding the
annual general meeting shall retire by rotation at such annual
general meeting. The Directors to retire shall be those who have
been longest in office since their last re-election or appointment
and so that as between persons who became or were last re-
elected Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless
they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.

In accordance with article 113 of the Articles of Association, any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the first
annual general meeting of the Company after his appointment and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

By virtue of articles 109 and 113 of the Articles of Association, Mr.
Zhang Jincai, Ms. Liu Xiaomei Michelle and Mr. Sun Jian will retire
by rotation from office and, being eligible, will offer himself/herself
for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The Board and the Nomination Committee recommended their re-
appointment at the AGM. The Company’s circular, sent together
with this annual report, contains detailed information of the above
recommended persons as required by the Listing Rules.

Duties performed by the Board and management

The Board is responsible for the overall development of the Group,
approving and monitoring the overall development strategy of
the Group and its operation and financial performance, ensuring
that the Directors perform their proper duties and act in the best
interests of the Group and hold discussions on various important
and proper businesses of the Company in a timely manner.
All Directors are entitled to raise and include any matters that
should be submitted to the Board for discussion in the agenda
of the board meeting. The management shall provide members
of the Board and specialized committees under the Board with
appropriate and sufficient information in a timely manner so as
to update them with the latest developments of the Group and to
better facilitate the discharge of their duties. The management
team is accountable to the Board, executing the strategies and
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plans formulated by the Board, and making decisions in relation to
the day-to-day operation of the Group. Directors have resources
to seek independent professional advice in performing their duties
at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to consult with the
Company’s senior management independently.

Appropriate directors’ liability insurance cover has been arranged
by the Company to indemnify the Board members for liabilities
arising out of corporate activities.

Mechanisms to Ensure Independent Views

The Company ensures independent views and input are available
to the Board via the below mechanisms:

1. The Board composition and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors should be reviewed
by the Nomination Committee on an annual basis, in
particular the portion of the independent non-executive
Directors and the independence of the independent non-
executive director who has served for more than nine
years.

2. A written confirmation was received by the Company
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in relation to his/her
independence to the Company. The Company considers all
its independent non-executive directors to be independent.

3. In view of good corporate governance practices and
to avoid conflict of interests, the Directors who are also
directors and/or senior management of the Company’s
controlling shareholders and/or certain subsidiaries of the
controlling shareholders, would abstain from voting in the
relevant Board resolutions in relation to the transactions
with the controlling shareholders and/or its associates.

4. The chairman of the Board shall meet with independent
non-executive Directors at least once annually.

5. All members of the Board can seek independent
professional advice when necessary to perform their
responsibilities in accordance with the company policy.

The Board reviews the mechanisms for ensuring independent
views and input are available to the Board on an annual basis,
whether in terms of proportion, recruitment and independence of
independent non-executive directors, and their contribution and
access to external independent professional advice.
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Training, Induction and Continuing Development of Directors

Induction materials and briefings regarding the duties and
responsibilities of being a Director, the relevant laws and
regulations applicable to the Directors, duty of disclosure of
interest in the Group will be provided to newly appointed Directors
shortly upon their appointment as Directors. Continuing briefings
and professional development to Directors will be arranged
whenever necessary. The Company will continue to arrange and
fund the training in accordance with code provision C.1.4 of the
Corporate Governance Code.

According to the records of the Company, during the Reporting
Period, all Directors have received the following training, the
emphasis of which were on the roles, functions and duties of
directors of companies listed on the Stock Exchange, in order
to comply with the relevant requirements under the Corporate
Governance Code in relation to continuous professional
development of directors:
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Attending
seminars/
Reading briefings
materials B HEIFIE
BAE M R HRE
Executive Directors BITEE

Mr. Zou Qifang (Chairman) BEFHE (FEF) v v
Ms. Qin Jessie Xin FErt V Vv
Mr. Zhang Jincai ERATE vV Vv
Mr. Zou Jianlong BrlgELE V Vv

Independent Non-executive Directors BUIBITESE
Ms. Liu Xiaomei Michelle S sy Vv Vv
Mr. Sun Jian Higkax vV v
Mr. Zhang Bang RES LA v v
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Directors’ Attendance at Meetings

During the Reporting Period, 5 Board meetings and 1 general
meeting were held. Details of the attendance records of Directors’
attendance at the Board meetings, Board committee meetings and
general meeting are set out below:
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No. of Meetings Attended/No. of Meetings Held

HESEAEBITEERY

Audit Nomination Remuneration General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
EEg HEitZEg REZES FMEEE BRAE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Zou Qifang (Chairman) — BEF %L (/) 5/5 - - - 1/1
Ms. Qin Jessie Xin FHL+ 5/5 - - - 1/1
Mr. Zhang Jincai ERA4E 5/5 - - - 1/1
Mr. Zou Jianlong BRIFETE 5/5 - - - 11
Independent Non-executive B FEH{TE.
Directors
Ms. Liu Xiaomei Michelle S ey otan 5/5 2/2 1/1 2/2 1/1
Mr. Sun Jian FRigks 5/5 2/2 1/1 2/2 1/1
Mr. Zhang Bang SRS A 5/5 2/2 1/1 2/2 1/1
During the Reporting Period, save as disclosed in the above H¥REHAN @ B EXRFAWEEIN  THFECEBIIF
table, the chairman has held a meeting with the independent non-  IfTEERITT — X @& °
executive Directors.
Board Committees -
The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day- ZEZE@DEARRHEERNLENEILE TR
to-day management and operation of the Company to the senior FTARQAFSREERE  UEBARREHBHNETH

management of the Company to oversee particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. The Company has established three
committees under the Board pursuant to the regulations and
corporate governance practice requirements under the Listing
Rules, including the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee. The Board has delegated to the
Board committee responsibility as set out in their respective term
of reference.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with paragraph B.3 of the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules.
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The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include, without
limitation, (a) to review the structure, size, composition and
diversity (including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service) of the Board at least annually
and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’'s corporate strategy; (b)
to determine the policy for the nomination of directors, identify
individuals suitably qualified to become members of the Board
and may select individuals nominated for directorship; (c) to
assess the independence of the independent non-executive
directors; and (d) to make recommendations to the Board on
the appointment or reappointment of directors and succession
planning for directors, in particular the chairman and the chief
executive, taking into the Company’s corporate strategy and the
mix of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the
future.

The Nomination Committee currently consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Liu Xiaomei Michelle, Mr.
Sun Jian and Mr. Zhang Bang. Mr. Sun Jian is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held one
meeting and had reviewed the structure, size and composition of
the Board, assessed the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors and made recommendation to the Board on
the re-election of the Directors at the Company’s annual general
meeting held in 2022.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve a
sustainable and balanced development of the Company and also
to enhance the quality of performance of the Company.

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of diversity
in Board members and see increasing diversity at the Board level
as an essential element in maintaining our competitive advantage.
A board with diversified members includes and capitalizes of
different skills, regional and industry experience, background,
race, gender and other qualities of directors. These differences
will be taken into account in determining the optimum composition
of the Board. As at the date of this annual report, the Board
comprised of seven Directors, including five male Directors and
two female Directors with different appropriate skills, knowledge
and experience to promote and achieve better performance of the
Company. Three of them are independent non-executive Directors,
thereby promoting critical review and control of the management
process.
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Implementation

The Nomination Committee will review annually the structure,
size and composition of the Board and, where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy.

In relation to reviewing and assessing the Board composition and
the nomination of directors (as applicable), board diversity has to
be considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge, industry and regional experience
and length of services.

The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

We aim to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives of the Board that are relevant to our business
growth. In particular, we recognise that gender diversity at the
Board level can be improved given two out of seven of our
Directors are female upon the Listing. We will continue to apply
the principle of appointments based on merits with reference to
the Board Diversity Policy as a whole, and we have also taken,
and will continue to take steps to promote gender diversity at
all levels of the Company, including but not limited to the Board
and the management levels. In particular, taking into account the
business needs of the Group and changing circumstances from
time to time that may affect the Group’s business plans, we will
actively identify female individuals suitably qualified to become
the Board members and we aim to achieve a target of 40%
female representation in the Board, during the period of which
we are listed on the Stock Exchange. To further ensure gender
diversity of our Board in a long run, the Group will also identify
and select several female individuals with a diverse range of
skills, experience and knowledge in different fields from time to
time, and maintain a list of such female individuals who possess
qualities to become the Board members, which will be reviewed
by the Nomination Committee quarterly in order to develop a
pipeline of potential successors to the Board to promote gender
diversity of the Board.

As of March 31, 2023, among the 3,409 employees of the Group
(including senior management), 595 are males (17.45%) and
2,814 are females (82.55%). The Board is satisfied with the
gender diversity of the employees.
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Nomination Policy

A nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) for Directors was
formally adopted and this incorporated the nomination criteria
and principles for Directors. The Nomination Policy applies to the
Directors and where applicable, senior management prepared for
Board positions under the succession planning of the Company.

The Nomination Policy aims to (i) set out the criteria and process
in the nomination and appointment of the Directors; (ii) ensure
that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the Company; and (iii) ensure the
Board continuity and appropriate leadership at Board level.

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered:

. Character and integrity;

. Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

° Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity
on the Board;

o Requirement for the Board to have independent Directors
in accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidate would be considered independent with reference
to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

. Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

° Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company; and

o Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for
nomination of Directors and succession planning.
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Nomination procedure
Appointment of new directors

(1) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels,
including but not limited to internal promotion, re-
designation, referral by other member of the management
and external recruitment agents.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director
and the biographical information (or relevant details) of the
candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the criteria
as set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

(iii) If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them
by order of preference based on the needs of the Company
and reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

(iv) The Nomination Committee should then recommend
to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship, as applicable.

(v) For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for
election as a director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as
set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed election of director at the general meeting.
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Re-election of directors at general meeting

(1) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review
the overall contribution and service to the Company of
the retiring director and the level of participation and
performance on the Board.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
also review and determine whether the retiring director
continues to meet the criteria as set out above.

(iii) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then
make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of director at the general meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect
a candidate as director at the general meeting, the relevant
information of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the
notice of the relevant general meeting in accordance with the
Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and regulations.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and
paragraph D.3 of the Corporate Governance Code.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, without
limitation, (a) to be primarily responsible for making
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, reappointment
and removal of the external auditor, and to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor,
and any issues related to its resignation or dismissal; (b) to review
and monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
applicable standards; (c) to monitor integrity of the Company’s
financial statements and annual report and accounts, half-year
report and to review significant financial reporting judgements
contained in them; and (d) to discuss the risk management
and internal control systems with management to ensure that
management has performed its duty to have effective systems.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Audit Committee is also responsible for performing the
corporate governance duties set out in code provision A.2.1 of the
Corporate Governance Code, which include:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management of the Company;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Directors and
employees of the Company; and

(e) to review the compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code and disclosures in the corporate governance report.

The Audit Committee currently consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Liu Xiaomei Michelle, Mr. Sun Jian
and Mr. Zhang Bang. Mr. Zhang Bang, who holds the appropriate
professional qualifications as required under Rule 3.10 (2) of the
Listing Rules, is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held two
meetings and had reviewed the annual audit plan, annual results
and annual report of the Group for the year ended March 31,
2023, the interim results and interim report of the Group for
the six months ended September 30, 2022,
of the Company’s financial controls,
management systems. The Audit Committee has reviewed the
audited consolidated financial statements and results of the Group
for the Reporting Period, and discussed and recommended to the
Board on the re-appointment of external auditor.

the effectiveness
internal control and risk
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the
Listing Rules and paragraph E.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee, under the
principle that no Director or any of their associates should be
involved in deciding his own remuneration, include, without
limitation, (a) to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of all
directors and senior management and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy; (b) to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives; (c) to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment, and (d) to review
and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Liu Xiaomei
Michelle, Mr. Sun Jian and Mr. Zhang Bang. Mr. Sun Jian is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held
two meetings and had reviewed the remuneration policy for all
Directors and senior management and the remuneration of the
newly appointed Directors and adoption of the 2022 RSU Scheme.

COMPANY SECRETARY

On April 22, 2022, Mr. Wong Keith Shing Cheung has resigned
as the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) and Ms. Au Wai Ching has been appointed as
the Company Secretary. Mr. Wong confirmed that he had no
disagreement with the Board and there were no other matters
in respect of their resignations that need to be brought to the
attention of the Shareholders and the Stock Exchange.

Ms. Au is a senior manager of SWCS Corporate Services Group
(Hong Kong) Limited, who fulfils the qualification requirements laid
down in the Listing Rules.
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For the year ended March 31, 2023, Ms. Au has taken not less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance
with the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. The main
contact person of Ms. Au in the Company is Ms. Qin Jessie Xin,
an executive Director.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the senior management of the Group by band
for the Reporting Period is set out below:

Band of remuneration (RMB)
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2,000,000 to 2,500,000 2,000,000% 2,500,000 2
6,500,000 to 7,000,000 6,500,000% 7,000,000 1
12,500,000 to 13,000,000 12,500,000 % 13,000,000 1

The band of remuneration of the above senior management does
not include the remuneration of Mr. Zou Qifang, Ms. Qin Jessie
Xin, Mr. Zhang Jincai and Mr. Zou Jianlong, and the particulars
of their remuneration are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the Company’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 is set out in the
Independent Auditor's Report on pages 123 to 132 of this annual
report.

The fees paid/payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers, the Company’s
auditor, in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the
year ended March 31, 2023 are analysed below:
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Fees paid/payable

RMB’ 000

Types of services provided by the external auditors Bt EREA

SNEETHAIR BN R EE AR¥FR

Audit service — audit service fee for the year ended EEHR® — #HE2023F3A31H1- 4,500
March 31, 2023 FENBARBERD

Non-audit service — Sustainability/environmental, social and  FFEFTIRFG — A HEHE RS 270
governance advisory services Mg RE AR

2022/23 Annual Report FE#R & N@y



Arrail Group Limited ¥FSEEBRA R

Corporate Governance Report
L EERRE

PricewaterhouseCoopers will retire and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the AGM.

The re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers has been
recommended by the Audit Committee and endorsed by the
Board, subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the AGM.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING IN RESPECT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibilities for
preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Company
for the year ended March 31, 2023, which give a true and fair view
of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of the Group’s
results and cash flows.

The management has provided the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company’s consolidated financial
statements, which are put to the Board for approval. The Company
provides all members of the Board with monthly updates on the
Company’s performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors have not been aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the independent auditors of the Company
regarding their reporting responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in the
independent auditor’s report on pages 123 to 132 in this annual
report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control and risk management systems in order to
safeguard the Group’s assets and Shareholders’ interests, and
review and monitor the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control and risk management systems on a yearly basis so as to
ensure that the internal control and risk management systems in
place are adequate. The purpose is to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatements, errors, losses
or fraud, and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in
achieving the Group’s business objectives.
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The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take
in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives and establishing
and maintaining appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. The Audit Committee assists the
Board in leading the management and overseeing their design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems. The Group has set up an internal audit
function to carry out independent reviews of the adequacy
and effectiveness of its risk management and internal control
systems and reports their findings to the Board, at least an annual
basis, due to the size of the Group and for cost effectiveness
consideration.

Risk Management

The Company has adopted a consolidated set of risk management
policies which set out a risk management framework to identify,
assess, evaluate, and monitor key risks associated with its
strategic objectives on an ongoing basis. The Board oversees
and manages the overall risks associated with our operations.
Risks identified by management will be analyzed on the basis
of likelihood and impact, and will be properly followed up and
mitigated and rectified by the Group and reported to the Directors.

The following key principles outline the Group’s approach to risk
management the Company plans to implement:

. The senior management oversees and manages the overall
risks associated with the Group’s business operations,
including (i) reviewing and approving the Company'’s risk
management policy to ensure that it is consistent with its
corporate objectives; (ii) monitoring the most significant
risks associated with the Group’s business operations and
its management’s handling of such risks; and (iii) ensuring
the appropriate application of the risk management
framework across the Group;

o The chief executive officer of the Company is responsible
for (i) formulating and updating the risk management
policy; (ii) reviewing and approving major risk management
issues of the Group; (iii) promulgating risk management
measures; (iv) providing guidance on the Group’s risk
management approach to the relevant departments in the
Group; (v) reviewing the relevant departments’ reporting
on key risks and providing feedback; (vi) supervising the
implementation of the risk management measures by the
relevant departments; (vii) ensuring that the appropriate
structure, processes and competencies are in place across
the Group; and (viii) reporting to the Audit Committee on
the Group’s material risks;
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The relevant departments in the Group, including but not
limited to the finance department, the legal department,
and the human resources department, are responsible for
implementing the risk management policy and carrying out
day-to-day risk management practice. In order to formalize
risk management across the Group and set a common
level of transparency and risk management performance,
the relevant departments will (i) gather information
about the risks relating to their operation or function; (ii)
conduct risk assessments, which include the identification,
measurement, prioritization and categorization of all
key risks that could potentially affect their objectives;
(iii) define and implement appropriate risk responses
where necessary; (iv) prepare a risk management report
annually for the Company’s chief executive officer’s review;
(v) continuously monitor the key risks relating to their
operation or function; and (vi) develop and maintain an
appropriate mechanism to facilitate the application of the
risk management framework.

Internal Control

Below is a summary of the internal control policies, measures, and
procedures the Group has implemented or plan to implement:

The Group has adopted various measures and procedures
regarding each aspect of its business operation, such as
related party transaction, risk management, protection
of intellectual property, environmental protection and
occupational health and safety.

The Group provides various training programs to keep
the employees updated on relevant laws, regulations,
and policies. The Group’s new employees are required
to attend compliance training programs soon after on-
boarding, and must pass tests which examine their
understanding of the compliance issues addressed by
the training programs. The Group's employees are also
required to regularly attend on-site and online training
sessions to keep them informed of recent updates in the
relevant laws and regulations.

The Directors (who are responsible for monitoring the
corporate governance of the Group), with help from
the Company’s legal advisers, periodically review the
Company’s compliance status with all relevant laws and
regulations.

AEBEMBBHLPI (BIERETRRP B X
BEMRANER) B B EERRERBR
EHTARERAREETR - REREEARE
B ERERYRE-EBBNERER
[\ B B IR B RUKT - AR RRPIAS (1) R H K
FEHE2EXBEENRERNES ¢ () ETRR
A BRUTREZERSERNMAETIR
B EITER - FHE - EEHET LR ¢ (i)
VERBERLBEEENRREL : (iv)EF
RERREEREHARFANEFERITER
Bl (vSEERARELELREAENT
ZRER - R (vi)BIE XGRS E RS R
R ERERNEA

A

TXHAAREERDBETHEETOH AR EZER
R ERLER

AEHED R HEEHREENS T ™ (a0
TR RBEE - MBEERE  RRRF
ELBEEFERTE) RNSEREMER

AEBREASEFIRE - HREBAMTIERE
ERCOEREBERNSEINER o NEBE R
BEANRABREHRAANSES REIR
B WERBED  EREFHEIRER
HAREENT# - AEENRB AT
HIH B AR E5E0) > A T BRARRDER K
ERHT IR ER o

(BEEEAKELERE AN EESHEARA
FREENEDTEEMENARTYEME
MEARZERRETER



Corporate Governance Report

o The Company has established the Audit Committee
which (i) makes recommendations to the Directors on the
appointment and removal of external auditors; and (ii)
reviews the financial statements and renders advice in
respect to financial reporting as well as oversees internal
control procedures of the Group.

. The Company has engaged First Shanghai Capital
Limited as its compliance adviser to provide advice to the
Directors and management team until the end of the first
fiscal year after the Listing Date regarding matters relating
to the Listing Rules. The compliance adviser is expected
to ensure the Company’s use of funding complies with the
sections entitled “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in
the Prospectus, as well as to provide support and advice
regarding requirements of relevant regulatory authorities in
a timely manner.

o The Group maintains strict anti-bribery & anti-corruption
policies and believes it will therefore be less affected by
the increasingly stringent measures taken by the PRC
government to correct corruptive practices in the medical
industry.

The Board, together with the Audit Committee, had reviewed
the internal control and risk management systems for the
Reporting Period and is satisfied that the internal control and risk
management systems are effective and adequate.

The Company recognises the importance of protecting the
confidentiality of potential inside information. Procedures are in
place to control the dissemination of inside information, including
the monitoring of potential inside information to ensure that
relevant facts and circumstances that may have material effect
on the share price of the Company are promptly identified and
assessed, and escalating the matter for the attention of the Board,
if necessary, to determine whether a disclosure is needed.

The Audit Committee would continue to assist the Board to
oversee the work of such consultancy firm and review the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, the Board
may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general
meeting. One or more members holding, as at the date of deposit
of the requisition, in aggregate not less than one-tenth of the
voting rights (on a one vote per share basis) in the share capital
of the Company may also make a requisition to convene an
extraordinary general meeting and add resolutions to the agenda
of a meeting. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at
shareholders’ meeting

If a Shareholder wishes to put forward proposals at a
shareholders’ meeting, the shareholder,
shareholding requirements set out in the above paragraph
headed “Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting”, may follow the same procedures by sending
a written requisition to the Board. The Shareholder should state
his/her proposals in the written requisition and submit the written
requisition as early as practicable to enable the Company to make
necessary arrangement.
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Procedures for directing shareholder’s enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for
putting forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. Contact
details are as follows:

Address:

DREARE
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BRRAIMARREXE@MA R UAEFSREE
MEARER - BREROT

6F, Building 11, No. 18, Ziyue Road

Chaolai Science Park, Chaoyang District
Beijing, the PRC (For the attention of the Board of Arrail Group Limited)
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Email address:
ESTECES b

ir@arrailgroup.com
ir@arrailgroup.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Groups’ business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognises the importance
of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information,
which will enable shareholders and investors to make the best
investment decisions.

The Company has an ongoing dialogue with Shareholders
and other investors through various communication channels
set out in the shareholders communication policy and takes
any areas of concern into consideration when formulating its
business strategies. The general meetings of the Company
provide a platform for communication between the Board and
the shareholders. The chairman of the Board as well as chairmen
of the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Audit Committee or in their absence, other members of the
respective committees, and, where applicable, the chairman of the
independent board committee are available to answer questions
at general meeting. To promote effective communication, the
Company maintains a website at www.arrailgroup.com where
up-to-date information and updates on the Company’s business
operations and development, financial information and other
information are available to public access.
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During the Reporting Period, the Board has reviewed the
shareholders communication policy and confirmed its
effectiveness.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Reporting Period, there was no change in the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company.

The latest memorandum and articles of association of the
Company are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of Arrail Group Limited
(incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and
continued in the Cayman lIslands)

Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Arrail Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out
on pages 133 to 295, comprise:

° the consolidated balance sheet as at March 31, 2023;
o the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;
° the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss for the

year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and
o the notes to the consolidated financial statements,

which include significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at March 31, 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

B ERTR RS
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B E AR

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) issued by the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (“IESBA
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that,
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

in our professional

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

o Estimation of revenue from orthodontics and implantology
services

o Impairment assessment of goodwill

ERER

HPIERBCEBR R ERD ETEF - RAEZS
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Key Audit Matter
HEETER

Independent Auditor’s Report

B ERTR RS

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RN ESNMEERARETER

Estimation of revenue from orthodontics and
implantology services

Refer to notes 2.23, 4(b) and 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

B2 A M BImRMTE2.23 « H7E4(b) RHIF6 -

Revenue from orthodontics and implantology services
for the year ended March 31, 2023 amounted to
approximately RMB328 million and RMB318 million
respectively, which represented approximately 22% and
22% of the total revenue of the Group respectively.

HZE2023F3A31HIEFE @ KRB ERRETFREAOBAD
R AAREISAETMARKEIISHEET  DAhEEE
R AR #)22% K2 22% o

Revenue from orthodontics and implantology services is
recognised over time, using an input method to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of the services.
The progress is measured based on the Group's
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the services, by
reference to the staff costs and/or costs of inventories,
consumables and customised products incurred, when
appropriate, expended up to the end of the year as a
percentage of the total expected costs to complete the
respective services.

KA ERREFRBOBAR -RERBARER  ERRAE
AAEREERRTRBNER - ZEEERESBRETREM
EHHBNHRAGE  URBEREZFERMEERA
EBNEIRAR HFE B RATHERKAS (MER)
1B SRR AR O AR TR ANV EL A1 -

R A IE B & AE T R WA B

Our procedures in relation to estimation of revenue from
orthodontics and implantology services were mainly as
follows:

BMBERERE ERMETRBBRANGEFREFEZNT

- Understood and evaluated the Group’s key
internal controls in relation to the estimation of the
total expected costs necessary to complete the
orthodontics and implantology services;

- TR FEESEERAGF TR ER METRE S E
HY 4878 B A S O B 8 1 BB FE I

- Assessed the appropriateness of the methodology
used by management to estimate the total
expected costs necessary to complete the
orthodontics and implantology services;

- ATEE TR B A A AT ST A [E RS B T IR TS L BV AR TR
HARR AR Y JTEREE 1
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B ERTR RS

Key Audit Matter
HEETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RN ESNMEERARETER

We focused on this area as the determination of the
amount of revenue recognised from orthodontics and
implantology services is based on management’s
estimation of the total expected costs to complete the
services, which is subject to a high degree of estimation
uncertainty. The inherent risk in relation to the estimation
of revenue from orthodontics and implantology services
is considered relatively high due to the subjectivity of
significant assumptions used to estimate total expected
costs.

BMEIZBTHEENRRER - EEXK A ElRET RN
ERERWA SR TIERE IE S TR AR TR A A B s
HoEpRkeEATREEN - ARARETREBKAN
EXBEROIEINE - AR KA LR RESRBEHBAR
BB ERERSIEEERS

- Assessed the reasonableness of the assumptions
used by management when estimating the total
expected costs to complete the orthodontics and
implantology services by comparing estimated
future costs with the Group’s historical internal
data, including the staff costs and/or costs
of inventories, consumables and customised
products, in which the historical internal data are
tested to the supporting documents on a sample
basis;

- BBYH A ARRR AN EE S E W E R AR (B
BIRAR,/SFE BURITHEREAR) - kE
B AMBURETMENAZZAXM - FFHERE
FEfh T ST A IE B R A8 5F AR 765 4 22 ) 48 TR B B AN B T 68
RERRHAEN

- Compared, on a sample basis, the outcome of
prior year estimations of the total expected costs
to complete the orthodontics and implantology
services made by management to the actual
cost incurred to complete the services, in
order to assess the historical effectiveness of
management’s estimation process; and

- MRS EREE E—F R KR RET RN
RIRIAR A FTE R b 5t B SE PR IR IS EE £ R B IR AKX AS
UFHEE R BT RFNELRRR - &

- Considered whether the judgments made in
selecting significant assumptions would give rise
to indicators of possible management bias.

- EEEBRBABREAIENHE S DI ZEEE A 5
FHERIHTR o

Based on the procedures performed, we considered
that the significant assumptions used in estimating
revenue from orthodontics and implantology services are
supported by available evidence.

EREHTORER - RAIRBARMEK A ER RET R K
AFERNBEARRFE TREBIRAISH ©



Key Audit Matter
HEETER

Independent Auditor’s Report

B ERTR RS

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RN ESNMEERARETER

Impairment assessment of goodwill

Refer to notes 2.8.1, 2.9, 4(f) and 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BLMAMYBHRANE2.8.1 « MiFE2.9 « WrE4(f) RMFE
17 o

As at March 31, 2023, the Group’s carrying amount of
goodwill amounted to RMB183 million.

MR2023F3A31H  EEERENEEEAARKI183EE
ﬁ:o

The Group is required to perform an impairment
assessment of goodwill on an annual basis, or whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
goodwill might be impaired.

BEEASE (LY EHERAERECETHE LR
LIRS ) S (TR B A AT o

BB ER G

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment
of goodwill were mainly as follows:

BMEEREREFGENREFEZNT

- Understood and evaluated the Group’s key internall
controls in relation to the impairment assessment
of goodwill;

- TR R B 5 B G A R E AT B B R A B
&

- Assessed the appropriateness of the methodology
used by management to perform its impairment
assessment of goodwill;

- AHh B IR TR B RERH A AT E R AR EE I

- Evaluated the reasonableness of the financial
budgets prepared by management to be included
in the impairment assessment of goodwill, and
compared the outcome of prior period financial
budgets to actual results in order to assess
the historical effectiveness of management’s
budgeting process;

- AAEEEEMRAENSAADERENGHMREE
WaRM  WHILAT — MM BTEE R EREE -
AHEEIRERERRFOE LR
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Key Audit Matter
HEETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RN ESNMEERARETER

For the purpose of the impairment assessment of
goodwill, the Group’s goodwill was allocated to two
groups of cash generating units (“CGU Group”). The
Group estimated the recoverable amounts of respective
CGU Group, which were determined based on the fair
value less cost of disposal using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets prepared by management.
Based on the impairment assessment, management
concluded that there was no impairment on goodwill as
at March 31, 2023.

AETEHERETS  EEENFENIEEWEARSEL
BAAR ([BeELEMAR])  c EEEGTSREELE
AR AT IRE S (R A BERDENDS - EREEER
SN HBEFERESTETAUET) - BRERAETGE @ &1
[BEIE R 202343 A31 AT EHIREERE -

We focused on this area as the impairment assessment
of goodwill is subject to a high degree of estimation
uncertainty. The inherent risk in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill is considered significant due
to the subjectivity of significant assumptions used
(including compound annual growth rates of revenue,
terminal growth rates and discount rates).

BPMEIRBFEENRAR  BEREFHIRSER
AATHEN HRIEREARR (BREKRANFESER
T RERERRRTEER) TN - AEBERENGHE
BRBRERBSBERX -

Involved our internal valuation expert in assessing
and challenging the reasonableness of the
significant assumptions used by management,
including compound annual growth rates of
revenue, terminal growth rates and discount rates,
by comparing with those adopted by comparable
companies in the industry and other external
market data;

SIARMMARHEEER  BBHLEATLERAF
FRERA R BN TISEIE - A REREEEAE
REABR (BREANFEAERE  HREBEEXR
FRE) SR

Assessed whether management’s sensitivity
analysis based on the reasonably possible
changes in key assumptions individually might
impact on the outcome of the impairment
assessment of goodwill;

AEEEEERTIEZRRULAERENEH D HIE
HOBBRESTRE X EMBREN HNE

&

Tested the accuracy of the calculations included in
the impairment assessment models;

AR AN RE G EE N E TR EREE
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
HEETER RN ESNMEERARETER

- Considered whether the judgements made in
selecting the significant assumptions used would
give rise to indicators of possible management
bias; and

E

- ERBEMEAEARREMENHB ST I RER
EBrRIEFERANTR : &

- Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related
to the impairment assessment of goodwill in
the context of the applicable financial reporting
framework.

- AHAEEERMBHREERNBERT - BREHBRER
R EETERS

Based on the procedures performed, we considered
that the significant assumptions used in the impairment
assessment of goodwill are supported by available
evidence.

ERBEHTNERF  RARSBERENEAERNEAR
RIFETRBEBBOIS

Other Information HtER

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other &R REZFEHHMEEEE - HM{EEBEFHR
information. The other information comprises all of the information AHAFAEREE @ BETBREAFHHEHRE LR FHE
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial  ztEfER4&

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not FHfIESHPVBEHRERNER T TIREHMWEE - K
cover the other information and we do not express any form of I FEZEEME BEERTMERNOEE LR ©
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial #&&KMEAEHTBRENEE  RANEEEE
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, FBEM/ZE @ FUHEREF  Z2EEMEEESHHES
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially — ffEf &M &k K FIES Eﬁ-ﬂ&t{ﬂﬁﬁ?ﬁm’ﬂ%/ﬂr&
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our & AEEKE L FFEE AERR S
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.
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If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

ERBMEATHNIHE  IREMBREMELER
EEABERRL  BMAFTEREZEE - EES
| BFYLBEARE -

EERENZEERSHUBRRAREN
BfE
BERREEAARRB(ERMBRERER) REE
(RAGIDHBRERERBEEMTBENEHUB
HBR - UHERRRESHUBRROBETFE
A 7 R B 3E RR T 28 B BE K #5 AR R AL AT 7 O T AR
BHIBE -

ERECHVBERRE EFAAFTHERERE
RENREN  YEERBATRERRELLEEH
MEE ARERFECLE/ETER  RIEF
BEEREREBERIELLE  KFIERLMERN
BRAR-

ok

t=

il
i3
ASSS

&= REEEEESENUBHRERRE -

\

FITMHRES S HMBRRAENEM

HMNBER  EHEHUBEHRRERBESESIFER
MEFFRFERM RN ERERRARG SRR
o OUYHABRRMERNETMES - LMAE
A ET (ERER) RERMNER  RIULZINAK
BERNEEMEN - A TERARENATRIE
MEMALE ERAREFAET - BRBESK
FERE - BT RERERIBCERE R ETTH
Fit EX -BABRBRATER B3R - 5HR
BRORAI A RRFF kiR sR 51 - RS EFRMEME
BREAERAIEZEAHUBRREAERES
DTS IRER PV H BV AR E - R B 0 88 AR BR
AIBAREEK o



Independent Auditor’s Report

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

B ERTR RS
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° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ng Ping Fai.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, June 27, 2023

. FEAFHBHRROBESRIA - BB
WA BREEE URAHMBERRES
BRMRBEARXSMEIR -

. HEEENERREBKEBOIMBESER
o EENEIRE  NEHA M ®R
RERER - ZMAREKREEFNTA
EEMHIT BRA/BABELAEEZHE
-

BREMEEREN BRMAEBRFZESBEBTTENE
STEE - BRRH  EXRFERE  BERMAE
FEAT AP AR BRI B B (A EKERFE -

BMPERNBAZEGREH  HARMENEEH
BB ENERERERER  YEBFIEEEN
AR ERMBLIENAAREME
EE  UREBRANIBERT - BABREBIE
EEBENTTE R EEE -

ftREFZEGEBNFRD - HIEEPLER
HAHAHUBRERNETRAEE - AMBEKE
REFEHE - JMEBAMRSPRAELER
BRIDERERTAFLARBEELEE - N EER
FRHNBEALT  MRABEHERMBSHBEREE
FREKNAEERRBBEENRIRMNE - HDR
ENEERETRBZER °

HEARBIERAMBENRSFRBEBATRITE -

BERKESTTAEHM
HMEEFTRD

B - 202356 H27H



2022/23 Annual Report F E# & @

Consolidated Income Statement

BOHERR

For the year ended March 31, 2023

HZE2023F3A31BILFE

Year ended March 31,
HBZEZ3A31BILLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
(i3 ARET T ARBEFTT
Revenue LN 6 1,473,741 1,623,553
Cost of sales SHE A 7 (1,226,657)  (1,286,996)
Gross profit EX 247,084 336,557
Selling and distribution expenses SHE RASER S 7 (93,273) (79,625)
Administrative expenses TR 7 (344,758) (276,093)
Research and development expenses R 7 (18,542) (32,918)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of SRMEETF CRERE) 3.1.2 (2,863) 4,585
impairment loss on financial assets — net REEEEL
Other gains — net H iRz 9 22,062 18,922
Operating loss REEE (190,290) (28,572)
Finance income R ON 10 18,965 8,276
Finance costs B 75 AR 10 (44,289) (55,641)
Finance costs — net ISR AR (25,324) (47,365)
Share of net loss of associates and A AARK (2,295) (411)
joint ventures accounted for using the SMEEEE AT REE AR
equity method FE e
Fair value change of convertible redeemable ] &% ] B 6] 8 5L A% &Y 29 - (541,089)
preferred shares NHhBEEH
Fair value change of bond BEFM AR EEBE 29.1 - (61,647)
Fair value change of warrants EENAREBEZD 29.2 - (13,686)
Fair value change of derivative liabilities MEBENAREEE 29.3 - (6,005)
Fair value difference between termination IRIEREEEERITAERE Y 29.3 - (11,136)
of the warrants and recognition of MR ARBEER
derivative liabilities
Loss before income tax MRETSHATE B (217,909) (709,911)
Income tax (expenses)/credit FrisHt (), & 12 (5,439) 13,511
Loss for the year FRER (223,348) (696,400)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: LIRS B (B1R), 8 ¢
Owners of the Company VIN/NETEZ 2= DN (219,909) (701,032)
Non-controlling interests FEPERR R A (3,439) 4,632
(223,348) (696,400)
Loss per share for loss attributable to AAREEAELERD
owners of the Company (expressed in BRER (UERARYE T
RMB per share) HIR)
Basic and diluted loss per share BREAREEEE 13 (0.38) (8.70)

The above consolidated income statement should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

bR A B R R I B BE PP T — BIRE -
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss

SOEEBER

For the year ended March 31, 2023
HZE2023F3A31HIEFE

Year ended March 31,
BZESHASIBLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000

Hiat ARBTR AR®BTR

Loss for the year FREE (223,348) (696,400)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hih2mEUE A (BR)
ltems that will not be reclassified to TeEfnEEB=rIER
profit or loss
Fair value change of convertible redeemable  BAE &R SR o] &k 29 - (18,439)
preferred shares due to own credit risk AIEE B A BEE
Fair value change of bond due to BEEERREHNES 29.1 - 1,083
own credit risk AAEEE
Currency translation differences E X =58 86,484 84,672
Other comprehensive income for the year, FREMEEKE (NRHE) 86,484 67,316
net of tax
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRAZHEEE (136,864) (629,084)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income UT&EEGEZ2E (EHIE)
attributable to: S FH
Owners of the Company PIN/NEIEZ 2SN (133,425) (633,716)
Non-controlling interests FEEAR M AR (3,439) 4,632

(136,864) (629,084)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive loss should it & o 2T R TR R PR SRR MY Y o — G B o

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

As at March 31, 2023
R2023%F3H31H

As at March 31,

MA3A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000

Hiat AR¥TR AR®BTR

ASSETS &=

Non-current assets FERENEE

Property, plant and equipment ME - BE KRR 14 324,202 297,798

Right-of-use assets EREEE 15(a) 692,067 703,466

Intangible assets BV EE 16 56,343 24,612

Goodwill i 17 182,754 98,467

Deferred tax assets B IBEE 28 63,929 56,677

Prepayments TBRTRIE 19 34,635 21,722

Investments accounted for using the FREREARNKRE 11 30,677 14,155
equity method

Financial assets at fair value through BAREEAEEN 23 65,714 34,675
profit or loss TREE

Other receivables E b YR IE 22 77,767 109,476

Total non-current assets HWERBEE 1,528,088 1,361,048

Current assets RBEE

Inventories FE 20 51,386 47,080

Prepayments SEERE 0] 19 107,600 126,704

Trade and other receivables B 5 I H A e W kA 22 282,138 96,885

Financial assets at fair value through BARBEFABRR 23 263,013 197,055
profit or loss CREE

Restricted cash 2R HRE 24(b) 154,894 95,290

Time deposits with original maturity over REEEBA=EA KN 24(c) 52,657 14,000
three months TEHER

Cash and cash equivalents RERRESFEY 24(a) 621,860 1,052,285

Total current assets BRBEE 1,533,548 1,629,299

Total assets HWEE 3,061,636 2,990,347

EQUITY s

Share capital N 25 74,769 74,769

Reserves G 26 5,107,566 4,841,683

Accumulated losses ZEtEE (3,571,649)  (3,351,740)

Equity attributable to owners AATEEAEBGERS 1,610,686 1,564,712
of the Company

Non-controlling interests IR 85,204 45,785

Total equity R 1,695,890 1,610,497
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

As at March 31, 2023
R2023%F3H31H

As at March 31,

MW3A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
it AR¥T AREET T
LIABILITIES =N
Non-current liabilities FRBERE
Borrowings R 27 47,252 =
Lease liabilities HEAE 15(a) 566,223 611,187
Contract liabilities aRAE 6(b) 16,323 21,597
Deferred tax liabilities FEETHBEEE 28 11,062 2,125
Total non-current liabilities HWERBEE 640,860 634,909
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables E 5 K E M ER IR 30 209,464 273,105
Contract liabilities EcRAE 6(b) 154,024 184,287
Current tax liabilities BENEARIE B (E 19,195 8,065
Borrowings & 27 172,767 137,363
Lease liabilities HEBE 15(a) 169,436 142,121
Total current liabilities BREBEE 724,886 744,941
Total liabilities FG=R 1,365,746 1,379,850
Total equity and liabilities HESZNREE 3,061,636 2,990,347

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 133 to 295 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of
the Company on June 27, 2023 and were signed on its behalf by:

LA HEERERE DML E — G5E -

F133F 295 EMA IR EXE MR 20234F 6 A 27
HEARAAREETSHAEREERZIHAATESENK

REE -

Executive Director: Zou Qifang

HITES  HH2F

Executive Director: Qin Jessie Xin

HITEE : ¥5
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
B EREEX

For the year ended March 31, 2023
HZE2023F3A31HILFE

Attributable to owner of the Company

ARAERAELS
Non-
Share Accumulated controlling Total
capital Reserves losses Total interests equity
e it ZitEE g FERER L i

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARMTR  AR¥TR  AR%TR
Note (Note 25) (Note 26)
Wit (Hit25) (Hit26)

Balance at April 1, 2022 H202E4R1AHES 4760 484168 (3351740) 1564712 45785 1610497
Comprehensive (loss)/income 20 (BR)/ ki

Loss for the year FREE - - (219,909) (219,909) (3,439) (223,348)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Rth2EkE /(B8

Currency translation differences ERER - 86,484 - 86,484 - 86,484
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year ~ £A#2ELE /(F8) - 86,484 (219,909) (133,425) (3,439) (136,864)
Transactions with equity holders HERREANRE

Vesting of RSUs GEXRHRNEN - 19,540 - 19,540 - 19,540
Share-based compensation s - 194,118 - 194,118 - 194,118
Shares purchased for share award scheme SR REAREDR - (34,542) - (34,542) - (34,542)
Deemed dividend to shareholder (Note 39c)i)  BERKRED R (H235(c)) - (420) - (420) - (420)
Acquisition of subsioiaries (Note 37) W RA (Hit31) - - - - 43,483 43,483
Contribution from non-controlling shareholders REFBRRRTE - - - - 977 977
Non-controlling interests disposed BHiEFERER - 703 - 703 (703) -
Dividends to non-controlling shareholders RAEERRRR S - - - - (899) (899)

Balance at March 31, 2023 R20235 3 31 At 74,769 5,107,566 (3,571,649) 1,610,686 85,204 1,695,890
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
B EREEX

For the year ended March 31, 2023
HZE2023F3A31HIEFE

Attributable to owner of the Company

ARAER A
Total
Non- (deficit in
Share Accumulated controlling equity)/
capital Reserves losses Total interests equity
s E1 2itEiR B bR BR)/ER

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Note (Note 25) (Note 26)
it (Wi25) (hit26)

Balance at April 1, 2021 R0 F4R1AMER 9,447 239,184 (2,748,508) (2,499,872) 43,29 (2,456,577)

Comprehensive (loss)/income 2 (58)/ ki

Loss for the year EnEE - = (701,082) (701,082) 4632 (696,400)

Other comprehensive income/(I0ss) Ht2Eki /(58

Fair value change on convertible redeemable BREERRERNTER - (18,439) o (18,439) o (18,439)
preferred shares due to own credit risk AERELRALEEE

Fair value change on bond due to AECERREHNES - 1,083 = 1,083 = 1,083
own credit risk NMEES

Currency translation differences EiZER - 84,672 - 84,672 - 84,672

Total comprehensive incomel(loss) for the year ~ FA#2E4E / (F8) - 67,316 (701,082) (633,716) 4,63 (629,084)

Transactions with equity holders HERRAANRS

Issuance of ordinary shares in relation to BTERRRRELER 5,924 521,359 - 527,283 - 527,283
initial public offering

Issuance of shares for restrictive share unit scheme %17 RB SR Bzt 3k1 15,435 (15,435) = = = -

Share-based compensation R - 95,021 - 95,021 - 95,021

Conversion of convertible redeemable preferred ~ AIEAAERELRESR 43,963 3,960,591 101,423 4,105,977 = 4,105,977
shares to ordinary shares BEER

Repayment of Bond EEEH - 3,628 (3,628) - -

Non-controlling interests acquired Bl n s = (30,030) = (30,030) (6,470) (36,500)

Non-controlling interests disposed BHEHERER - 49 = 49 4,501 4,550

Dividends to non-controlling shareholders RFERERES - - - - (173) (173)

Balance at March 31, 2022 R2022E3A31 ANES 74,769 4,841,683 (3,351,740) 1,564,712 45,785 1,610,497

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be — _E il & # &5 % B) 7% /& B3 5E B BT 5 — (1 B3 o
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BORERER

For the year ended March 31, 2023
HZE2023F3A31HILFE

Year ended March 31,
BZE3AIBLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
B et AR¥T T ARBEFTT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHRMBRESRE
Cash generated from operations KEFSIRE 32(a) 134,542 241,313
Income tax paid B AEHR (2,886) (17,035)
Net cash generated from operating activities E&EFEFFSFRE 131,656 224,278
Cash flows from investing activities RETEMBEERE
Payment for acquisition of a business, g EF 0 NE 31 (54,193) =
net of cash acquired (HMBRAABES)
Payments for investments in associates REEE RN T REERNEIH (4,800) (900)
and joint ventures B
Payments for property, plant and equipment M - B KRR (108,155) (115,648)
Payments for financial assets at fair value RARBEFABRN (342,886) (297,198)
through profit or loss SREERMK
Payments for intangible assets EREEMNR (4,654) (5,027)
Loans to related parties MR IR ER (77,164) =
Loans to employees mEBREER (3,327) =
Repayment of loans to employees BEEEER 153 2,500
Repayment of loans to a shareholder RREBEER - 86,025
Placement of pledged deposits FHE EHFHR - (29,650)
Proceeds from sale of financial assets HERARBETAEBZN 256,815 151,516
at fair value through profit and loss SREEMS IR
Proceeds from sale of property, LEME - WE REE 14,936 3,052
plant and equipment Frf8 508
Payment of time deposits with original JREEA B &8 =& A &9 (38,657) (14,000)
maturity over three months TE B RS
Interest received BUF B 19,489 15,395
Net cash used in investing activities RETBHMAFRRS (342,443) (203,935)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EHEETRER

For the year ended March 31, 2023
HZE2023F3A31HIEFE

Year ended March 31,
BZE3AIBLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
k=3 AR%T T ARBT T
Cash flows from financing activities RETBMESREESRE
Proceeds from borrowings fEFRFTIS IR 234,376 131,234
Contribution from non-controlling shareholders  JFEfERERE R HE 977 =
Repayment of borrowings EEER (154,244) (213,190)
Increase in restricted cash PR I 3R & 1 0 (51,746) =
Repayment of bond EEESH - (217,042)
Payment for acquisition of additional interest Y&+ AIEEIMEZE T (36,500) =
in a subsidiary
Shares purchased for share award scheme BAR 1D SREN S BB B R (D (34,542) =
Payment for listing fees XN ETMER (24,493) =
Termination of derivative liabilities BIETTHEBE - (99,148)
Net proceeds from initial public offering of HRARBEL BT - 527,283
common shares FTiS 508
Proceeds from issuance of convertible BATRI S A R] B BB LR - 475,585
redeemable preferred shares PS5 sk I8
Principal elements of lease payments HERROAR SIS (207,035) (161,743)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders Al 3E#5 IS A% 3R 7 1~ A% 8. (899) (173)
Proceeds from disposal of interest in subsidiary Hj%¥"ﬂﬁ§¥ (€:32a0) 2 - 4,550
without change of control & B3)) FTS5KIE
Transaction costs on issuance of convertible 77 B ] 8235 7] 48 (248 ST A% - (9,170)
redeemable preferred shares E’\JQ%EJZZIK
Interest paid BERFLE (6,244) (57,327)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEER (FrA) (280,350) 380,859
financing activities FBERE
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash iﬂﬁ&ﬁﬁ%{“%% (491,137) 401,202
equivalents W),
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning i%ﬂﬂ’]iﬁbi&fﬁu %EY 1,052,285 676,304
of the year
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash r%f@;”ﬂﬁi& 60,712 (25,221)
and cash equivalents ZEMHNTE
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FRNEERRESEEY 24(a) 621,860 1,052,285
of the year
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in it & 4HIR &2 K EERREM M = —(FRI:E o

conjunction with the accompanying notes.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1 GENERAL INFORMATION AND REORGANISATION

1.1

General information

Arrail Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”)
on May 23, 2001 as a company limited by shares.
On November 16, 2020, the Company discontinued
as a company incorporated under the BVI Business
Companies Act 2004 (as amended) and was
registered by way of continuation as an exempted
company limited by shares under the Companies
Act (Cap.22, Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands. Accordingly, the
registered office of the Company was changed from
P.O. Box 957, Offshore Incorporations Centre, Road
Town, Tortola, BVI, to 4th Floor, Harbour Place,
108 South Church Street, P.O. Box 10240, Grand
Cayman KY1-1002, the Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company
and together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
is principally engaged in the provision of dental
services (including general dentistry, orthodontics
and implantology) through operations of dental
clinics and hospitals in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”).

The Company completed its IPO and listed its
shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“HKSE”) on March 22, 2022
(the “Listing”).

B O BRI

—RERKREA

1.1

—REHR

WREBEARAR([ARF )R
20015 A23 AN KBHB RS
(REHEBRES ) MKz AR
MBMRAT - R2020F11 168 -
RRAREEIEBIRIBE2004FRBHER
RESEMEQRE (KEET) MK
UHAR] WREF SRS ENE22
FERRNE(1961F EIEM - K4
BERAEE]) AIF B RN AER R
RDBERADF - HEH - RNAREE
ft#tE R BP.O. Box 957, Offshore
Incorporations Centre, Road
Town, Tortola, BVIE & &4th Floor,
Harbour Place, 103 South Church
Street, P.O. Box 10240, Grand
Cayman KY1-1002, the Cayman
Islands °

RRBE-RREZEBAR - ERHE
FRR (MW AEE]) TERHE
ARAMB([HE])EBELOR
PR BERRM O EBERE (B4
BRAN - ERMREER) -

AARR2022F3 A22BEK EIXA
FARETHERNDNBEBHERZ A
BERAR ([HBEBRAT]) ERE™T
([Eml) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SOt wR M

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting
policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been consistently
applied throughout all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

2.1

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs"), interpretations issued by International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) applicable to
companies reporting under IFRSs.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for
certain financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value.

The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 4.

2.1.1 Change in accounting policy and disclosures

All effective standards, amendments to
standards and interpretations, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual reporting
period beginning on April 1, 2022, are
consistently applied to the Group throughout
the year ended March 31, 2023.

FTREHBREE

ARG RAEA M BERRARANIE
SETBR - BRRAERI  ZEBRORE
EMBEZNFEERER -

2.1

mREE

AEBEHPBREABIBEER L
AEEe ((EReHEAESE])
P AR 18 P X 122 B R B 75 3 25 22 Rl R
B R E A BIFR A A RS 2R ([ B
MEHELER]) RRBEMAR -

BETFRAREEFENEREER
BESN - BHMBIRERBE LA

BT Bl B R &S RIS 581
BRMRAFELE TRRE A - B
BENRERAAREE T ERN B
REFELHE - S REEHESRR
BERNBE - P REEHRFRE
B B A B R AR R Mt ) S R 4 BR O it
BT

2.1.1 BilHERFEELZ

R202254 51 BRBHNEE
s BAE SR B R FT B B XK
AR - ERASETMRE - AR
B E£20234F3A31H E&EE
FEERBEARANER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B O BRI

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEREE ()
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 REEE(E)
2.1.2 New and amended standards adopted by the 2.1.2 FREEFRARIFE]RAIELTE
Group Al
The following amended standards have been NEBB F2022F4 51 8H
adopted by the Group for the first time for the R B B B R ER A A T A
financial period beginning on April 1, 2022. 1EFT4ER] ©

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on

or after
RELT B 2%
BRI E T ERE AN
Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before intended use
— Amendments to IAS 16 January 1, 2022
M BB R (ERE RRRIR PSSR 20221 A1H
— BB SR E 165 MIE AT
Reference to the Conceptual Framework — Amendments to IFRS 3 January 1, 2022
BSERR S| A — BRI RS R E 35k EFT 202241 A1H
Onerous Contracts
— Cost of Fulfilling a Contract — Amendments to IAS 37 January 1, 2022
BRIES R 202241 A1H
— BITERBAAR — B ERIE 375 AERT
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018 — 2020 cycle January 1, 2022
HEIPR B 15 3R 5 £ R 2018 6 — 2020 F 18 A A F [E it 20221 A1H
The Group has applied new and amended REBERKARARMIREEE
standards effective for the current financial AT ET RASIEETAER o £EAN
year. The adoption of these new and revised ZEME] RASIERTERIE A Bf
standards does not have any significant MEHRERLEEMEALE o

impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.3 New and amended standards and
interpretation not yet adopted by the Group

Certain new accounting standards,
amendments and interpretations have been
issued but are not yet effective for the annual
reporting period beginning on April 1, 2022
and have not been early adopted by the
Group during the year ended March 31,
2023. These standards are not expected to
have a material impact on the Group in the
current or future reporting periods and on
foreseeable future transactions.

TREHBRBE (F)

21 mBEE(HE)

2.1.3

A5 B 1] R BRI R F AT R AR 1E
EERI R 2 FE

BTHEHER - BEIAR
RECBEME R R2022F
AR 1BRABMFE RS HM
£ MASEREE2023
FIAMHIEFEIER TR
A o BHZEEANIRITHRE
Rt BRI AR E W A E K
M2 MENERBRHRS
INEERTE -

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on

or after
RUT B 2%
BRI FEHBENR
IAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of liabilities as current or non- January 1, 2024
current
REtERIES (BFTR) BESBEAREIIFRD 20241 A1H

IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Statement 2 (Amendments)
BR et ERE 1R RERY S BERRE
52 B BRI % 25k

January 1, 2023

2023%1A1H

(EFTA)

IAS 8 (Amendments) Definition of Accounting Estimate January 1, 2023
B &5 RIS (BRI A) BeEthsteESR 2023%F1A1H
IAS 12 (Amendments) Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities January 1, 2023

arising from a single transaction
Bt ERIE125% (185] HE-RFEANEERBBERBENREERIE 20231 H1H

)
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEREE ()
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 REEE(E)

2.1.3 New and amended standards and 2.1.3 LEEEARBEIFETRAENE
interpretation not yet adopted by the Group BRI EE ()
(continued)

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on
or after
RUT B 2%
RN FEHBENR
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts January 1, 2023
B B s S A RS 1755 RaaRE 2023%1A1H
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an To be determined
(Amendments) Investor and its Associate and Joint Venture

B EHREENE 10K KREFEEBRLERNANGERRZENEERER FHEE
B et RIS 285% (15T HE

)
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised) Applied when an
(Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements — entity applies IAS
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan 1 (Amendments)
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause - Classification
of Liabilities as
Current or Non-
current
BEBREELST (BIEF]) EEREELT (RIER]) MBHREN2S] — B BEBEAEES:
AHBERERERERNERAERETHE AERIZE 158 (85T
R)— BEIEAER
B3} FEIM BN T LA FE

H
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.3 New and amended standards and

interpretation not yet adopted by the Group
(continued)

The amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes
require companies to recognise deferred tax
on transactions that, on initial recognition,
give rise to equal amounts of taxable and
deductible temporary differences. They will
typically apply to transactions such as leases
of lessees and decommissioning obligations
and will require the recognition of additional
deferred tax assets and liabilities.

The amendment should be applied to
transactions that occur on or after the
beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented. In addition, entities should
recognise deferred tax assets (to the extent
that it is probable that they can be utilised)
and deferred tax liabilities at the beginning
of the earliest comparative period for all
deductible and taxable temporary differences
associated with:

° right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, and

° decommissioning, restoration
and similar liabilities, and the
corresponding amounts recognised as
part of the cost of the related assets.

The cumulative effect of recognising these
adjustments is recognised in retained
earnings, or another component of equity, as
appropriate.

TREHBRBE (F)

2.1

fRBLEXE ()
2.1.3 FKEE KRB HIFE] LA E

H]V—t—/\//&ﬂé\f—r{-t (ft)

Bt ERIFE125EMFH
RIERT B R A RN FER
5 AR F{E AV B AR I AT HR
RE R £ 2R 5 EREL
A o HBEEARAEAR
HEREREESERS X8
ERERBIMEETHIREE R
AR -

HAEETAE R P 251 & F 7
LB IR MR 2 R DB A
M5 o o - BRARERT
] Eh B ER A 57 4 I 9 AT A A
TR 518 BA #Y AT F0 IR K% B AR A
ERUEEZHERELEHIBEE
(ERTRERI E MM EERN) &
EERBEEE

. EREEENEESR
& R

. =R RERBUE

EANTERREEE

ER KA — B0 8

fEEHE o
ﬁ?%%éﬁm?q%%#%
BEN SR EME D (40
M) FHER ©
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B O BRI

(continued)

The Group expects that the impact to
the consolidated balance sheets will not
be material and deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities without taking into
consideration the offsetting of balances
within the tax jurisdiction will increase
by approximately RMB59,435,000 and
RMB62,989,000 respectively as at March
31, 2023 as a result of adopting the
amendments. The amendment is mandatory
for financial years commencing on or after
January 1, 2023. At this stage, the Group
does not intend to adopt the amendment
before its effective date.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 TESTERBE (&)
POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 REEE(E)
213 New and amended standards and 2.1.3 AKEE ARG RASAE
interpretation not yet adopted by the Group FTERIREAFEE (42)

REBIEH - AREMNZEE
A HEHEERGEROTE
WREAKRK20234F3 431
A AR R IE & B RIRETR IR
BE (T RA—BBaEE
BR[E AR RRIREE ) 9 RIiE
M# AR #59 435 0007 &
AR #62,989,0007T ° #%f&
TR 202351 A1Hs 2% H
SRR BT IR E s ) AR AR o R
PEER - AEBTENZIEET &
B BARTERANGZAEET ©

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity 22 EHRERETHERA
accounting
2.2.1 Subsidiaries 221 Fud]

Subsidiaries are all entities (including
structured entities) over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity
where the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power to direct
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are
fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used
to account for business combinations by the
Group (see Note 2.3 below).

FRRIEAS B A 51
MTEER (BEREBHEER
B EXAKERZ2EZER
ESAES Rk JekEo)cl o
ZEAZOBAOEN - ARE
ENBBHSISZREREHN
BNZEZEORE - AEH
BIFRHIZE RS - T R EES
BREEAKEZ AEZEMR
ABR - ARSI L2 B
IEBFRAR -

AEBMEAKBEHEBER
AHFARR (R TXHizE2.3) °
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (continued)

221

222

2238

Subsidiaries (continued)

Inter-company transactions, balances
and unrealised gains on transactions
between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the

Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately
in the consolidated income statements,
statements of comprehensive loss,
statements of changes in deficit in equity and
balance sheets respectively.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the
Group has significant influence but not
control or joint control. This is generally the
case where the Group holds between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Investments
in associates are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting (see Note 2.2.4
below), after initially being recognised at
cost.

Joint ventures

Joint arrangements are classified as either
joint operations or joint ventures depending
on the contractual rights and obligations
of each investor. The Group has assessed
the nature of its joint arrangements and
determined them to be joint ventures.
Investments in joint ventures are accounted
for using the equity method of accounting
(see Note 2.2.4 below), after initially being
recognised at cost.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FTESHBERE (8)

POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (continued)

2.2.4 Equity Method 224 Bm*

Under the equity method of accounting,
the investments are initially recognised at
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
profits or losses of the investee in profit or
loss, and the Group’s share of movements in
other comprehensive income of the investee
in other comprehensive income. Dividends
received or receivable from associates and
joint ventures are recognized as a reduction
in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an
equity-accounted investment equals or
exceeds its interest in the entity, including
any other unsecured long-term receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its associates and joint ventures
are eliminated to the extent of the group’s
interest in these entities. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of
equity- accounted investees have been
changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments is tested for impairment in
accordance with the policy described in Note
2.9.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (continued)

2.2.5 Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests that do not result in a
loss of control as transactions with equity
holders of the Group. A change in ownership
interest results in an adjustment between
the carrying amounts of the controlling
and non-controlling interests to reflect
their relative interests in the subsidiary.
Any difference between the amount of the
adjustment to non-controlling interests
and any consideration paid or received is
recognised in a separate reserve within
equity attributable to owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate
or equity account for an investment
because of a loss of control, joint control
or significant influence, any retained
interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair
value with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. This fair value
becomes the initial carrying amount for
the purposes of subsequently accounting
for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition,
any amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in respect
of that entity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as permitted by applicable
IFRSs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (continued)

2.2.5 Changes in ownership interests (continued)

226

If the ownership interest in a joint
venture or an associate is reduced but
joint control or significant influence is
retained, only a proportionate share of the
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss where appropriate.

Subsidiaries controlled through previous
contractual arrangements

On August 20, 2020, Beijing Ruier Shengbin
Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (“Beijing
Ruier”), Shenzhen Ruijian Consulting
Management Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Ruijian”),
Ms Zou Lifang, each of the 12 operating
entities (the “VIE Entities”) entered into a
series of contractual arrangements (the
“Contractual Arrangements”) pursuant to
which the Group is able to:

(i) receive substantially all of the
economic interest returns generated
by Shenzhen Ruijian in consideration
for the business support and
consultancy services provided by
Beijing Ruier;

(i) obtain an irrevocable, unconditional
and exclusive right to purchase all
or any part of the equity interests in
and/or assets of Shenzhen Ruijian
held at present or in the future for a
consideration equivalent to the lowest
price permitted under the PRC laws
at the time of purchase. The nominee
shareholder and Shenzhen Ruijian
agreed to refund all amount received
in the transfer of equity interests or
assets, as the case maybe, to Beijing
Ruier;
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (continued)

2.2.6 Subsidiaries controlled through previous

contractual arrangements (continued)

(iii) exercise the equity holders’ voting
rights of Shenzhen Ruijian; and,

(iv)  obtain a pledge over all of nominee
shareholder’s equity interest in
Shenzhen Ruijian to Beijing Ruier as a
security to guarantee the performance
of the contractual obligations and
payment of outstanding debts under
the Contractual Arrangements.

As a result of the Contractual Arrangements,
the Group is considered to control Shenzhen
Ruijian as it has rights to exercise power over
Shenzhen Ruijian, receive variable returns
from its involvement with Shenzhen Ruijian,
and have the ability to affect those returns
through its power over Shenzhen Ruijian.
Consequently, the Company regarded
Shenzhen Ruijian as controlled entity and
consolidated the financial position and
results of operations of Shenzhen Ruijian in
the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for all business combinations, regardless
of whether equity instruments or other assets are
acquired. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

o fair values of the assets transferred

o liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business

° equity interests issued by the Group

o fair value of any asset or liability resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement,
and

o fair value of any pre-existing equity interest

in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in
the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s
net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the:

o consideration transferred,

° amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and

° acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquired entity
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3

2.4

Business combinations (continued)

Over the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts
are less than the fair value of the net identifiable
assets of the business acquired, the difference is
recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration
is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date of
exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’'s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which
a similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions. Contingent consideration is classified
either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts
classified as a financial liability are subsequently
remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s
net assets including goodwill.

TESTERBE (&)
23  EBEH (H)

2.4

HBEMKER BN FEENRAEE
MEBBBABRSEE - MZESBER
PR RB A BRI FEENRAE
B MERERRBEERASZER

[===]
= o

R ENEMERLTHEE - A
AREN S EHITIREZE A AR
B - FTATRXSERNIEEERA
K BRIE AT & L B {GR N S M5RAF RT e
BIYBE ADRSEUEHOME - 3
AHEIBRERNETHEE - D
REBEBENSRERENAEE
AREE MAREBEZBNESE

7
e

BB BRE

R F R AR B R AR AN BRI E A
fR - KABHRRENEKFBRA -
FRBEFEBARDBIRE MR R
BEEAR -

BWBKERFRAANKENRE
- E R B EBR T ARESEIRK
SHRNAEENKE - N EEBL
MBREFNREREMEBBRKRE
RAZFEE (BREAE) EEHUMT
BRPOREER  AHERKRELE
TTRERIR



2022/23 Annual Report FER % @

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5

2.6

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance
of the operating segment and making strategic
decisions. The chief operating decision-maker has
been identified as the board of directors.

Foreign currency translation
2.6.1 Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The functional
currency of the Company is USD as USD
is the primary denominated currency of
the Company’s financing. The Company’s
primary subsidiaries were incorporated
in mainland China and these subsidiaries
considered RMB as their functional currency.
As the major operations of the Group are
within mainland China, the Group determined
to present its consolidated financial
statements in RMB (unless otherwise stated).

2.6.2 Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are
translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates at the dates of
the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies at year end exchange
rates are generally recognised in profit or
loss. They are deferred in equity if they relate
to qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying
net investment hedges or are attributable
to part of the net investment in a foreign
operation.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued)

2.6.2 Transactions and balances (continued)

2.6.8

Foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the consolidated income
statements within “other (losses)/gains — net”.

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency
of a hyperinflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

° assets and liabilities for each balance
sheet presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet

o income and expenses for each
income statement and statement of
comprehensive loss are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this
is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses
are translated at the dates of the
transactions), and

° all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income/(loss).

On consolidation, exchange differences
arising from the translation of any net
investment in foreign entities,
borrowings and other financial instruments
designated as hedges of such investments,
are recognised in other comprehensive
income/(loss).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6

2.7

Foreign currency translation (continued)
2.6.3 Group companies (continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on the acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognized. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during
the year ended March 31, 2023 in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost, net of their residual values, over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

- Medical equipment 3-10 years

- Office equipment and 5 years
furniture

- Motor vehicles 5 years

- Leasehold improvements the shorter of the
useful life or the
lease term

Property, plant and equipment arising from a
business acquisition is depreciated over the
remaining useful life.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7

2.8

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

An asset’'s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised within “Other gains — net” in the
consolidated income statements.

Intangible assets
2.8.1 Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of
subsidiaries and represents the excess
of the aggregate purchase consideration
transferred, the acquisition-date fair value of
any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the net identifiable
assets acquired. Goodwill is not amortised
but it is tested for impairment annually,
or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that it might
be impaired, and is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses (if any).
Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity
include the carrying amount of goodwill
relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating
units (“CGUSs”") for the purpose of impairment
testing. The allocation is made to those
CGUs or CGUs that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which
the goodwill arose. The units or groups
of units are identified at the lowest level
at which goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes, being the operating
segments.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEREE ()
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (continued) 28 ®|EEE(E)

2.8.2 Other intangible assets 282 AMmEEEE

Acquired computer software is capitalised
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire
and bring the specific software into usage.
Costs associated with maintaining computer
software programs are recognised as
expense as incurred.

Separately acquired service contracts are
measured on initial recognition at cost.
Service contracts are subsequently carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses (if any).

Brands and licenses, non-competitive
agreements and customer relationships
acquired in a business combination are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. They have a finite useful life and are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses (if any).

Estimated useful life is determined to be
the shorter of the period of contractual
rights or the estimated period during which
such intangible assets can bring economic
benefits to the Group.

The Group amortises intangible assets with a
finite useful life using the straight-line method
over the following periods:

Software 5 years
Service contracts 2-4 years
Brands and licenses 5-10 years

Non-competitive agreements 1-4 years
and customer relationships

The Group estimates the useful life of the
brand and license to be between 5 and 10
years based on the contract term of the
brand and the expected useful life of the
license.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (continued)

2.8.3 Research and development

Research expenditures are recognised as
an expense as incurred. Costs incurred
on the development phase of an internal
project are capitalized as intangible assets
when all of the recognition criteria are met,
including (a) it is technically feasible to
complete the intangible asset so that it will
be available for use or sale; (b) management
intends to complete the intangible asset
and use or sell it; (c) there is an ability to
use or sell the intangible asset; (d) it can
be demonstrated how the intangible asset
will generate probable future economic
benefits; (e) adequate technical, finance
and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the intangible
asset are available; and (f) the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during
its development can be reliably measured.
Other development costs that do not meet
those criteria are expensed as incurred.
There were no development costs meeting
those criteria and capitalised as intangible
assets as at March 31, 2023 and 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an
indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation
and are tested annually for impairment, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that they might be impaired. Other non-
financial assets, including property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible
assets (including brand and licenses), are tested
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets (CGUs). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets

2.10.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in
the following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently
at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL"), and

° those to be measured at amortised
cost.

The classification depends on the entity’'s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade-date,
the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.

2.10.2 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures
a financial asset at its fair value plus, in
the case of a financial asset not at FVPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at FVPL are expensed in consolidated
income statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

2.10.2 Measurement (continued)

Debt Instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depends on the Group's
business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
There are two measurement categories
into which the Group classifies its debt
instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and
interest are measured at amortised
cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate
method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly
in consolidated income statements
and presented net within other
(losses)/gains — net together with
foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated
income statements.

° FVPL: Assets that do not meet
the criteria for amortised cost are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a
debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognised in
consolidated income statements and
presented net within other (losses)/
gains — net in the period in which it
arises.
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